
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

20 March 2019

Dear Councillor

A meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee will be held in Committee Room 1 - 
Marmion House on Thursday, 28th March, 2019 at 6.00 pm. Members of the 
Committee are requested to attend.

Yours faithfully

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

A G E N D A

NON CONFIDENTIAL

1 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 8)

2 Apologies for Absence 

3 Declarations of Interest 

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-
pecuniary) in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting.

When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in 
respect of which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of 
such interest.  Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or 
non-pecuniary interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.  

4 Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update (Pages 9 - 26)

(Report of the External Auditors)

5 Informing the Audit Risk Assessment (Pages 27 - 52)

(Report of the External Auditors)

6 Review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Statement 
2019/20 and the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy Mid-Year Review Report 2018/19 (Pages 53 - 126)

(Report of the Executive Director, Finance)

7 Final Accounts 2018/19 - Action Plan (Pages 127 - 136)

(Report of the Executive Director Finance)

8 Internal Audit Charter & Plan 2019/20 (Pages 137 - 154)

(Report of the Head of Audit & Governance)

9 Audit & Governance Committee Self Assessment (Pages 155 - 158)

(Report of the Head of Audit & Governance)

10 Audit and Governance Committee Timetable (Pages 159 - 162)

(Discussion Item)

11 Exclusion of the Press and Public 



To consider excluding the Press and Public from the meeting by passing the 
following resolution:-

“That in accordance with the provisions of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 
and Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following business on 
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraphs 1 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest 
in withholding the information outweighs the public  interest in disclosing the 
information to the public”

At the time this agenda is published no representations have been received that 
this part of the meeting should be open to the public.

12 Risk Based Verification (Pages 163 - 188)

(Report of the Assistant Director – Finance)

_____________________________________

Access arrangements

If you have any particular access requirements when attending the meeting, please contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709267 or e-mail democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk. We can 
then endeavour to ensure that any particular requirements you may have are catered for.

Filming of Meetings

The public part of this meeting may be filmed and broadcast.  Please refer to the Council’s 
Protocol on Filming, Videoing, Photography and Audio Recording at Council meetings which can 
be found here for further information.

The Protocol requires that no members of the public are to be deliberately filmed.  Where 
possible, an area in the meeting room will be set aside for videoing, this is normally from the front 
of the public gallery.  This aims to allow filming to be carried out whilst minimising the risk of the 
public being accidentally filmed.   

If a member of the public is particularly concerned about accidental filming, please consider the 
location of any cameras when selecting a seat.

FAQs

For further information about the Council’s Committee arrangements please see the FAQ page 
here

mailto:democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/councillors_docs/TBC-Filming-Protocol.docx
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/council-meetings-faqs


To Councillors: M Summers, R Kingstone, R Claymore, C Cooke, J Faulkner, M Gant 
and M Greatorex



1 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

HELD ON 14th FEBRUARY 2019

PRESENT: Councillor M Summers (Chair), Councillors C Cooke, J Faulkner, 
M Gant and M Greatorex

Officers Stefan Garner (Executive Director Finance), Lynne 
Pugh (Assistant Director Finance) and Angela Struthers 
(Head of Audit & Governance)

Visitors Phil Jones (External Auditors) and Laurelin Griffiths 
(External Auditors)

45 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting held on 25th October 2018 were approved and signed 
as a correct record.

(Moved by Councillor M Gant and seconded by Councillor M Greatorex)

46 MINUTES OF MEETINGS OF SUB-COMMITTEE 

The minutes of the meeting held on 22nd October 2018 and 21st November 2018 
were approved and signed as a correct record.

(Moved by Councillor M Summers and seconded by Councillor J Faulkner)

Rule 12.5 of the Committee Procedure Rules, Right to require individual vote to 
be recorded.

Councillor C Cooke Voted against the motion.

47 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor R Kingstone and Councillor 
R Claymore

48 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



Audit and Governance 
Committee

14 February 2019

2

There were no declarations of Interest.

49 AUDIT REPORT ON CERTIFICATION WORK 

The Certification work for Tamworth Borough Council for the year ended 31st 
March 2018 was presented to members 

RESOLVED: Members endorsed the report 

(Moved by Councillor J Faulkner and seconded by 
Councillor C Cooke)

50 AUDIT PLAN 

RESOLVED: That the Committee

Endorsed the external Audit Plan for year ending 31st March 
2019

(Moved by Councillor M Summers and seconded by 
Councillor M Gant)

51 RISK MANAGEMENT QUARTERLY REPORT 

The Assistant Director Finance reported on the Risk Management process and 
progress to date for the current financial year.

RESOLVED That the Committee;
Endorsed the Corporate Risk Register

(Moved by Councillor C Cooke and seconded by Councillor J Faulkner)

52 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE REPORT 2018/19 QUARTER 3 

The Head of Audit and Governance reported on the outcome of Internal Audit’s 
review of the Internal Control, Risk Management and Governance framework in 
the 3rd quarter of 2018/19 – provided members with assurance of the ongoing 
effective operation of an Internal Audit function and enable any particularly 
significant issues to be brought to the Committee’s attention

RESOLVED The Committee;
Considered the attached report and raised any issue it 
deems appropriate.  

(Moved by Councillor M Summers and seconded by Councillor M Gant)

Page 6



Audit and Governance 
Committee

14 February 2019

3

53 REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 

The Council’s Code of Practice for carrying out surveillance under the Regulation 
of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) specifies that quarterly reports will be 
taken to Audit & Governance Committee to demonstrate to elected members that 
the Council is complying with its own Code of Practice when using RIPA

RESOLVED That Audit and Governance Committee:

Endorsed the RIPA monitoring report for the quarter to 
31st December 2018.

(Moved by Councillor C Cooke and seconded by Councillor J Faulkner)

54 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE TIMETABLE 

The Committee reviewed the timetable.

Chair 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit Progress Report and Sector Update

Tamworth Borough Council

Year ending 31 March 2019

March 2019

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Contents

Section Page

Introduction 03

Progress 04

Audit Deliverables 05

Sector Update 07

2

P
age 10



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

This paper provides the Committee with a report on progress in delivering our 

responsibilities as your external auditors. 

The paper also includes:

• a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a local authority; and

• includes a number of challenge questions in respect of these emerging issues w hich the Committee may w ish to 

consider (these are a tool to use, if  helpful, rather than formal questions requiring responses for audit purposes)

Members of the Committee can f ind further useful material on our w ebsite, w here w e have a section dedicated to our 

w ork in the public sector. Here you can dow nload copies of our publications w ww.grantthornton.co.uk ..

If you w ould like further information on any items in this briefing, or w ould like to register w ith Grant Thornton to 

receive regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or 

Engagement Manager./

Introduction

3

Phil Jones

Engagement Lead

T 0121 232 5232

E phil.w .jones@uk.gt.com

Laurelin Griffiths

Engagement Manager

T 0121 232 5363

E laurelin.h.griff iths@uk.gt.com

PSAA Contract Monitoring

Tamw orth Borough Council opted into the Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Appointing Person scheme w hich starts w ith the 2018/19 audit. PSAA appointed Grant Thornton as 

auditors. PSAA is responsible under the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 for monitoring compliance w ith the contract and is committed to ensuring good quality audit 

services are provided by its suppliers. Details of PSAA’s audit quality monitoring arrangements are available from its w ebsite, w ww.psaa.co.uk.

Our contract w ith PSAA contains a method statement w hich sets out the f irm’s commitment to deliver quality audit services, our audit approach and w hat clients can expect from us. We 

have set out commitment to deliver a high quality audit service in the document at Appendix A. We hope this is helpful. It w ill also be a benchmark for you to provide feedback on our 

performance to PSAA via its survey in Autumn 2019.

P
age 11

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/
mailto:phil.w.jones@uk.gt.com
mailto:laurelin.h.griffiths@uk.gt.com
http://www.psaa.co.uk/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Progress at March 2019

4

Other areas

Certification of claims and returns

We certify the Council’s annual Housing Benefit Subsidy 

claim in accordance w ith procedures agreed w ith the 

Department for Work and Pensions. The certif ication 

w ork for the 2018/19 has not yet started. We w ill agree 

our overall project plan for completing this w ork w ith 

off icers. 

Meetings

We meet regularly w ith Finance Officers and continue to 

be in discussions w ith f inance staff regarding emerging 

developments and to ensure the audit process is smooth 

and effective. 

Events

We provide a range of w orkshops, along w ith netw ork 

events for members and publications to support the 

Council. Your off icers attended our Financial Reporting 

Workshop in February, w hich helps to ensure that 

members of your Finance Team are up to date w ith the 

latest f inancial reporting requirements for local authority 

accounts.

Further details of the publications that may be of interest 

to the Council are set out in our Sector Update section 

of this report.

Financial Statements Audit

We have started planning for the 2018/19 financial 

statements audit and have issued a detailed audit 

plan, setting out our proposed approach to the audit 

of the Council's 2018/19 f inancial statements.

We commenced our interim audit in January 2019. 

Our interim fieldw ork includes:

• Updated review  of the Council’s control 

environment

• Updated understanding of f inancial systems

• Review  of Internal Audit reports on core f inancial 

systems

• Early w ork on emerging accounting issues

• Early substantive testing

There are no issues that w e need to bring to the 

Committee’s attention from the w ork w e have 

completed to date.

The statutory deadline for the issue of the 2018/19 

opinion is 31 July 2019. We are discussing our plan 

and timetable w ith off icers.

The final accounts audit is due to begin on the 28 

May w ith f indings reported to you in our Audit 

Findings Report. We w ill present our report at the 

July Audit Committee meeting and issue our audit 

opinion by the 31 July deadline.

Value for Money

The scope of our w ork is set out in the guidance issued 

by the National Audit Off ice. The Code requires auditors 

to satisfy themselves that; "the Council has made proper 

arrangements for securing economy, eff iciency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources".

The guidance confirmed the overall criterion as: "in all 

signif icant respects, the audited body had proper 

arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 

decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned 

and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 

people".

The three sub criteria for assessment to be able to give a 

conclusion overall are:

• Informed decision making

• Sustainable resource deployment

• Working w ith partners and other third parties

Details of our initial risk assessment w ere included in our 

Audit Plan. We identif ied one signif icant risk - f inancial 

sustainability - and are in the process of carrying out our 

VfM w ork.

We w ill report our w ork in the Audit Findings Report and 

give our Value For Money Conclusion by the deadline in 

July 2019.

P
age 12



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Audit Deliverables

5

2018/19 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Fee Letter 

Confirming audit fee for 2018/19.

April 2018 Complete

Accounts Audit Plan

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit Committee setting out our proposed 

approach in order to give an opinion on the Council’s 2018-19 financial statements.

January 2019 Complete

Interim Audit Findings

We will report to you the findings from our interim audit and our initial value for money risk assessment within 

our Progress Report.

March 2019 Included in this report

Audit Findings Report

The Audit Findings Report will be reported to the July Audit Committee.

July 2019 Not yet due

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for money conclusion.

July 2019 Not yet due

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

August 2019 Not yet due

Council responsibilities

In our Audit Plan presented to the Audit Committee in January 2019 w e have communicated our expectations around the Council’s responsibilities for timely production of the draft 

accounts supported by appropriate w orking papers. Should delays be experienced in the provision of these requirements or should additional w ork be required on our part due to complex 

technical issues, new  arrangements and delays in response to queries additional costs w ill be incurred.

Any additional fees are subject to approval by PSAA.

P
age 13



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Results of Interim Audit Work

6

Work performed Conclusions and recommendations

Internal audit We have completed a high level review  of internal audit's overall 

arrangements. Our w ork has not identif ied any issues w hich w e w ish to bring 

to your attention. 

We have also review ed internal audit's w ork on the Council's key f inancial 

systems to date. We have not identif ied any signif icant w eaknesses 

impacting on our responsibilities. 

Overall, w e have concluded that the internal audit service provides an 

independent and satisfactory service to the Council and that internal audit 

w ork contributes to an effective internal control environment.

Our review  of internal audit w ork has not identif ied any w eaknesses w hich 

impact on our audit approach.

Entity level controls We have obtained an understanding of the overall control environment 

relevant to the preparation of the f inancial statements.

Our w ork has identif ied no material w eaknesses w hich are likely to 

adversely impact on the Council's f inancial statements

Review of information 
technology controls

We performed a high level review  of the general IT control environment, as 

part of the overall review  of the internal controls system. 

IT (information technology) controls w ere observed to have been 

implemented in accordance w ith our documented understanding.

Our w ork has identif ied no material w eaknesses w hich are likely to 

adversely impact on the Council's f inancial statements

Walkthrough testing We have completed w alkthrough tests of the Council’s controls operating in 

areas w here w e consider that there is a signif icant risk of material 

misstatement to the f inancial statements.

Our w ork has not identif ied any issues w hich w e w ish to bring to your 

attention. Internal controls have been implemented by the Council in 

accordance w ith our documented understanding.

Our w ork has not identif ied any w eaknesses w hich impact on our audit 

approach.

Journal entry controls We have review ed the Trust‘s journal entry policies and procedures as part of 

determining our journal entry testing strategy and have not identif ied any 

material w eaknesses w hich are likely to adversely impact on the Trust's 

control environment or f inancial statements.

Our w ork has not identif ied any w eaknesses w hich impact on our audit 

approach. 

During our year end visit w e w ill undertake detailed testing on journal 

transactions recorded for the year.

Early substantive testing We have performed substantive testing on transactions for the f irst nine 
months of the year across the Trust’s revenues and expenditures.

No issues have been identif ied in our early substantive testing. We w ill 

top-up this testing during our f inal accounts visit to ensure that suff icient 

w ork is performed over the full-year balances.

P
age 14



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Councils are tackling a continuing drive to 

achieve greater efficiency in the delivery of 

public services, whilst facing the challenges to 

address rising demand, ongoing budget 

pressures and social inequality.

Our sector update provides you w ith an up to date summary of emerging 

national issues and developments to support you. We cover areas w hich 

may have an impact on your organisation, the w ider NHS and the public 

sector as a w hole. Links are provided to the detailed report/brief ing to 

allow  you to delve further and f ind out more. 

Our public sector team at Grant Thornton also undertake research on 

service and technical issues. We w ill bring you the latest research 

publications in this update. We also include areas of potential interest to 

start conversations w ithin the organisation and w ith audit committee 

members, as w ell as any accounting and regulatory updates. 

Sector Update

7

More information can be found on our dedicated public sector and local 

government sections on the Grant Thornton w ebsite by clicking on the logos 

below :

• Grant Thornton Publications

• Insights from local  government sector 
specialists

• Reports of interest

• Accounting and regulatory updates

Public Sector
Local 

government

P
age 15

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/industries/public-sector/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/industries/public-sector/local-government/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Public Sector Audit Appointments – Report on 
the results of auditors’ work 2017/18

This is the fourth report published by Public Sector Audit 

Appointments (PSAA) and summarises the results of auditors’ 

work at 495 principal local government and police bodies for 

2017/18. This will be the final report under the statutory 

functions from the Audit Commission Act 1998 that were 

delegated to PSAA on a transitional basis.

The report covers the timeliness and quality of financial 

reporting, auditors’ local value for money work, and the extent 

to which auditors used their statutory reporting powers.

For 2017/18, the statutory accounts publication deadline came forw ard by tw o months to 31 

July 2018. This w as challenging for bodies and auditors and it is encouraging that 431 (87 

per cent) audited bodies received an audit opinion by the new  deadline.

The most common reasons for delays in issuing the opinion on the 2017/18 accounts w ere:

• technical accounting/audit issues;

• various errors identif ied during the audit;

• insuff icient availability of staff at the audited body to support the audit;

• problems w ith the quality of supporting w orking papers; and

• draft accounts submitted late for audit.

All the opinions issued to date in relation to bodies’ f inancial statements are unqualif ied, as 

w as the case for the 2016/17 accounts. Auditors have made statutory recommendations to 

three bodies, compared to tw o such cases in respect of  2016/17, and issued an advisory 

notice to one body. 

The number of qualif ied conclusions on value for money arrangements looks set to remain 

relatively constant. It currently stands at 7 per cent (32 councils, 1 f ire and rescue authority, 

1 police body and 2 other local government bodies) compared to 8 per cent for 2016/17, w ith 

a further 30 conclusions for 2017/18 still to be issued.

The most common reasons for auditors issuing qualif ied VFM conclusions for 2017/18 w ere: 

• the impact of issues identif ied in the reports of statutory inspectorates, for example 

Ofsted; 

• corporate governance issues; 

• f inancial sustainability concerns; and 

• procurement/contract management issues. 

All the opinions issued to date in relation to bodies' f inancial statements are unqualif ied, as 

w as the case for the 2016/17 accounts. 

The report is available on the PSAA w ebsite:  

https://w ww.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/reports-on-the-results-of-auditors-w ork/

8

PSAA Report

Challenge question: 

Has your Authority identif ied improvements to be made 

to the 2018/19 financial statements audit and Value for 

Money Conclusion?                                                  

P
age 16

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/reports-on-the-results-of-auditors-work/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

National Audit Office – Local auditor reporting in 
England 2018

The report describes the roles and responsibilities of local 

auditors and relevant national bodies in relation to the local 

audit framework and summarises the main findings reported 

by local auditors in 2017-18. It also considers how the 

quantity and nature of the issues reported have changed 

since the Comptroller & Auditor General (C&AG) took up his 

new responsibilities in 2015, and highlights differences 

between the local government and NHS sectors.

Given increasing f inancial and demand pressures on local bodies, they need strong 

arrangements to manage finances and secure value for money. External auditors have a key 

role in determining w hether these arrangements are strong enough. The fact that only three 

of the bodies (5%) the NAO contacted in connection w ith this study w ere able to confirm that 

they had fully implemented their plans to address the w eaknesses reported suggests that 

w hile auditors are increasingly raising red f lags, some of these are met w ith inadequate or 

complacent responses.

Qualif ied conclusions on arrangements to secure value for money locally are both 

unacceptably high and increasing. Auditors qualif ied their conclusions on arrangements to 

secure value for money at an increasing number of local public bodies: up from 170 (18%) in 

2015-16 to 208 (22%) in 2017-18. As at 17 December 2018, auditors have yet to issue 20 

conclusions on arrangements to secure value for money, so this number may increase 

further for 2017-18.

The proportion of local public bodies w hose plans for keeping spending w ithin budget are not 

f it-for-purpose, or w ho have signif icant w eaknesses in their governance, is too high. This is a 

risk to public money and undermines confidence in how  w ell local services are managed. 

Local bodies need to demonstrate to the w ider public that they are managing their 

organisations effectively, and take local auditor reports seriously. Those charged w ith 

governance need to hold their executives to account for taking prompt and effective action. 

Local public bodies need to do more to strengthen their arrangements and improve their 

performance.

Local auditors need to exercise the full range of their additional reporting pow ers, w here this 

is the most effective w ay of highlighting concerns, especially w here they consider that local 

bodies are not taking suff icient action. Departments need to continue monitoring the level 

and nature of non-standard reporting, and formalise their processes w here informal 

arrangements are in place. The current situation is serious, w ith trend lines pointing 

dow nw ards.

The report is available on the NAO w ebsite:  

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-auditor-reporting-in-england-2018/

9

NAO Report

Challenge question: 

Has your Authority responded appropriately to any concerns or issues raised 

in the External Auditor’s report for 2017/18?

P
age 17

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-auditor-reporting-in-england-2018/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

National Audit Office – Local authority 
governance

The report examines whether local governance arrangements 

provide local taxpayers and Parliament with assurance that 

local authority spending achieves value for money and that 

authorities are financially sustainable. 

Local government has faced considerable funding and demand challenges since 2010-11. 

This raises questions as to w hether the local government governance system remains 

effective. As demonstrated by Northamptonshire County Council, poor governance can 

make the difference betw een coping and not coping w ith f inancial and service pressures. 

The Department (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government) places great 

w eight on local arrangements in relation to value for money and f inancial sustainability, w ith 

limited engagement expected from government. For this to be effective, the Department 

needs to know  that the governance arrangements that support local decision-making 

function as intended. In order to mitigate the grow ing risks to value for money in the sector 

the Department needs to improve its system-w ide oversight, be more transparent in its 

engagement w ith the sector, and adopt a stronger leadership role across the governance 

netw ork

Not only are the risks from poor governance greater in the current context as the stakes are 

higher, but the process of governance itself is more challenging and complex. Governance 

arrangements have to be effective in a riskier, more time-pressured and less w ell-resourced 

context. For instance, authorities need to: 

• maintain tight budgetary control and scrutiny to ensure overall f inancial sustainability at a 

time w hen potentially contentious savings decisions have to be taken and resources for 

corporate support are more limited; and 

• ensure that they have robust risk management arrangements in place w hen making 

commercial investments to generate new  income, and that oversight and accountability is 

clear w hen entering into shared service or outsourced arrangements in order to deliver 

savings. 

Risk profiles have increased in many local authorities as they have reduced spending and 

sought to generate new  income in response to funding and demand pressures. Local 

authorities have seen a real-terms reduction in spending pow er (government grant and 

council tax) of 28.6% betw een 2010-11 and 2017-18. Demand in key service areas has also 

increased, including a 15.1% increase in the number of looked after children from 2010-11 to 

2017-18. These pressures create risks to authorities’ core objectives of remaining f inancially 

sustainable and meeting statutory service obligations. Furthermore, to mitigate these 

fundamental risks, many authorities have pursued strategies such as large-scale 

transformations or commercial investments that in themselves carry a risk of failure or under-

performance. 

The report is available on the NAO w ebsite:  

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-authority-governance-2/

10

NAO Report

Challenge question: 

Has your Authority got appropriate governance and risk management arrangements in place to 

address the risks and challenges  identif ied in the NAO report?

P
age 18

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-authority-governance-2/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

National Audit Office – Planning for new homes

The National Audit Office (NAO) has recently published a 

report on Planning for new homes. This report is part of a 

series on housing in England, including Housing in England: 

overview (2017) and Homelessness (2017). The latest report 

focuses on the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government’s (MHCLG’s) objective for housing in England to 

deliver a million homes by the end of 2020; half a million by 

the end of 2022; and to deliver 300,000 net additional homes 

a year on average. 

The report recognises that increasing the supply of new  homes is a complex task and one of 

the measures MHCLG has introduced to help achieve the objective is reforming the planning 

system. The report notes that the planning system is fundamental to providing new  homes 

and it assesses how  effectively MHCLG supports the planning regime to provide the right 

homes in the right places through:

• supporting local authorities to produce plans for how  the supply of new  homes w ill meet 

need in their area;

• supporting local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate in having effective and 

suff iciently resourced planning processes and teams to deal w ith planning applications and 

appeals; and

• w orking effectively w ith local authorities, other government departments and developers to 

ensure infrastructure to support new  homes is planned and funded.

The report f inds that at present, the system is not providing value for money and that the 

supply of new  homes has failed to meet demand. It notes that a number of factors have 

contributed to the planning system not w orking and some of these include: 

• the process of setting the need for new  homes;

• the reductions in local authority capability;

• the under-performing Planning Inspectorate; and

• failures in the system to ensure adequate contributions for infrastructure.

The report recognises that MHCLG’s new  National Planning Policy Framew ork is an 

important step, but it is too early to tell w hether the changes it introduces w ill be effective. 

The report also makes a number of recommendations for MHCLG to implement alongside 

the framew ork to help the planning systems w ork more effectively.

The report concludes that the Department and government more w idely need to take this 

much more seriously and bring about improvement if  they are to meet their ambition of 

300,000 new  homes per year by the mid-2020s.

The report is available on the NAO w ebsite:  

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/planning-for-new-homes/#

11

NAO Report

Challenge question: 

Has your Authority got a robust plan in place to deliver the additional houses needed over the 

next f ive years?

P
age 19

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/planning-for-new-homes/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

CIPFA – Financial Resilience Index plans revised

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA) has refined its plans for a financial resilience index 

for councils and is poised to rate bodies on a “suite of 

indicators” following a consultation with the sector. 

CIPFA has designed the index to provide reassurance to councils w ho are f inancially stable 

and prompt challenge w here it may be needed. To understand the sector’s view s, CIPFA 

invited all interested parties to respond to questions it put forw ard in the consultation by the 

24 August.

CIPFA has also responded to concerns about the initial choice of indicators, updating the 

selection and w ill offer authorities an advanced view ing of results.

Plans for a f inancial resilience index w ere put forw ard by CIPFA in the summer. It is being 

designed to offer the sector some external guidance on their f inancial position.

CIPFA hailed the “unprecedented level of interest” in the consultation.

Responses w ere received from 189 parties, including individual local authorities, umbrella 

groups and auditors. Some respondents called for a more “forw ard-looking” assessment and 

raised fears over the possibility of “naming and shaming” councils.

CIPFA chief executive Rob Whiteman said w ith local government facing “unprecedented 

f inancial challenges” and w eaknesses in public audit systems, the institute w as stepping in to 

provide a leadership role in the public interest.

“Follow ing the feedback w e have received, w e have modif ied and strengthened the tool so it 

w ill be even more helpful for local authorities w ith deteriorating f inancial positions,” he said.

“The tool w ill sit alongside CIPFA’s planned Financial Management Code, w hich aims to 

support good practice in the planning and execution of sustainable f inances.”

CIPFA is now  planning to introduce a “reserves depletion time” category as one of the 

indicators. This show s the length of time a council’s reserves w ill last if  they deplete their 

reserves at the same rate as over the past three years.

The consultation response document said this new  category show ed that “generally most 

councils have either not depleted their reserves or their depletion has been low ”.

“The tool w ill not now  provide, as originally envisaged, a composite w eighted index but w ithin 

the suite of indicators it w ill include a red, amber, green (RAG) alert of specif ic proximity to 

insuff icient reserve given recent trajectories,” it said.

It also highlighted the broad support from the sector for the creation of the index. “There w as 

little dissent over the fact that CIPFA is doing the right thing in draw ing attention to a matter 

of high national concern,” it said.

“Most respondents agreed to the need for transparency – but a sizable number had 

concerns over the possibly negative impacts of adverse indicators and many councils 

w anted to see their results prior to publication.”

As such, CIPFA plans to provide resilience measurements f irst to the local authorities and 

their auditors via the section 151 off icer rather than publishing openly.

12

CIPFA Consultation

Challenge question: 

Has your Head of Finance briefed members on the 

Council’s response to the Financial Resilience Index 

consultation?                                                  

P
age 20



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

ICEAW Report: expectations gap

The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales 

(ICEAW) has published a paper on the ‘expectation gap’ in the 

external audit of public bodies.

Context:

The expectation gap is the difference betw een w hat an auditor actually does, and w hat stakeholders 

and commentators think the auditors obligations might be and w hat they might do. Greater debate 

being w hether greater education and communication betw een auditors and stakeholders should 

occur rather than substantial changes in role and remit of audit.

What’s the problem?

• Short-term solvency vs. Longer-term value:

• LG & NHS: Facing f inancial pressures, oversight & governance pressures 

• Limited usefulness of auditors reports: ‘The VFM conclusion is helpful, but it is more about 

the system/arrangements in place rather than the actual effectiveness of value for money’ 

• Other powers and duties: implementing public interest reports in addition to VFM

• Restricted role of questions and objections: Misunderstanding over any objections/and or 

question should be resolved by the local public auditor. Lack of understanding that auditors have 

discretion in the use of their pow ers.

• Audit qualification not always acted on by those charged w ith governance: ‘if  independent 

public audit is to have the impact that it needs, it has to be taken seriously by those charged w ith 

governance’

• Audit committees not consistently effective: Local government struggles to recruit external 

members for their audit committees, they do not alw ays have the required competencies and 

independence.

• Decreased audit fees: f irms choose not to participate because considered that the margins 

w ere too tight to enable them to carry out a suff icient amount of w ork w ithin the fee scales.

• Impact of audit independence rules: new  independence rules don’t allow  for external auditors 

to take on additional w ork that could compromise their external audit role

• Other stakeholders expectations not aligned w ith audit standards

• Increased auditor liability: an auditor considering reporting outside of the main audit 

engagement w ould need to bill their client separately and expect the client to pay.

Future financial viability of local public bodies 

Local public bodies are being asked to deliver more w ith less and be more innovative and 

commercial. CFOs are, of course, nervous at taking risks in the current environment and therefore 

w ould like more involvement by their auditors. They w ant auditors to challenge their forw ard-

looking plans and assumptions and comment on the f inancial resilience of the organisation..

13

Solution a) If CFO’s w ant additional advisory w ork, rather than just the audit, they can 

separately hire consultants (either accountancy f irms not providing the statutory audit or 

other business advisory organisations w ith the required competencies) to w ork alongside 

them in their f inancial resilience w ork and challenging budget assumptions.

Solution b) Wider profession (IFAC,IAASB, accountancy bodies) should consider w hether 

audit, in its current form, is sustainable and fit for purpose. Stakeholders w ant greater 

assurance, through greater depth of testing, analysis and more detailed reporting of 

f inancial matters. It is perhaps, time to look at the w ider scope of audit. For example, 

could there be more value in auditors providing assurance reports on key risk indicators 

w hich have a greater future-looking focus, albeit focused on historic data?

The ICAEW puts forward two solutions:

The expectations gap

Challenge question: 

How  effectively is the audit meeting client expectations?

More information can be found in the link below (click on the cover page)

P
age 21



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Brexit Room - Increasing readiness and 
resilience within your locality

Local authorities have always navigated uncertainty and 

faced challenges on behalf of communities and this role 

has never been more important than now. Whilst the 

outcome of Brexit remains uncertain at a national level, it 

is essential for councils to set a path to ensure the 

continued delivery of vital services and the best possible 

outcomes for their local communities and economies. 

Whatever happens over the coming weeks and months, 

it is important that councils identify key Brexit scenarios 

and use these to frame robust local contingency plans. 

From our conversations w ith the sector w e know  that local authorities are at different 

stages in their preparation for this big change. 

Here’s a brief summary of the issues that w e are seeing: 

Organisations

• Engaging non-EEA nationals w ithin the w orkforce to ensure they understand their 

residency rights and are not receiving incorrect information from other sources

• Loss of access to key EU databases on policing and trading standards and 

changes to data sharing arrangements

• Uncertainty around continuation of EU funding beyond 2020 and the 

implementation of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund.

Services and suppliers

• Engaging w ith key suppliers to assess their risk profiles and resilience

• Dealing w ith the immediate strain on key services such as social care and trading 

standards

• Potential disruption to live procurement activities and uncertainty around the 

national procurement rulebook post OJEU.

14

Place

• Considering scenarios for economic shock, the associated social impact in the short, 

medium and long-term and the potential impact on local authority f inancial resilience

• Potential impacts on major local employers, key infrastructure investment 

programmes and transport improvements

• Civil contingencies and providing reassurance and support to residents and 

businesses.

Our approach

The Brexit Room is a f lexible and interactive half -day w orkshop designed to sharpen 

your thinking on the impact Brexit could have on:

Your organisation – including considerations on w orkforce, funding, and changes to 

legislation 

Your services and suppliers – ensuring that critical services are protected and 

building resilience w ithin supply chains 

Your place – using our proprietary Place Analytics tools w e w ill help you to understand 

potential impacts on your local communities and economy and develop a place-based 

response, w orking w ith partners w here appropriate. 

We can w ork w ith you to identify key risks and opportunities in each of these areas 

w hilst building consensus on the priority actions to be taken forw ard. You w ill receive a 

concise and focused w rite-up of the discussion and action plan to help shape the next 

stages of your w ork on Brexit. 

For more information, follow  the link below :

https://w ww.grantthornton.co.uk/insights/brexit-local-leadership-on-the-front-line/

Brexit

Challenge question: 

How  w ell advanced are your Authority’s plans for Brexit?

P
age 22

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/insights/brexit-local-leadership-on-the-front-line/


© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | March 2019

Grant Thornton

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector

National Audit Off ice

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-auditor-reporting-in-england-2018/

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-authority-governance-2/

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/planning-for-new-homes/#

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/pressures-on-childrens-social-care/

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728722/BRR_Pilots_19-20_Prospectus.pdf

Institute for Fiscal Studies

https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/comms/R148.pdf

Public Sector Audit Appointments

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/reports-on-the-results-of-auditors-work/

CIPFA

https://www.cipfa.org/cipfa-thinks/health/articles/social-care-risk-tool

15

Links

P
age 23

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-auditor-reporting-in-england-2018/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-authority-governance-2/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/planning-for-new-homes/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/pressures-on-childrens-social-care/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/reports-on-the-results-of-auditors-work/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/


Local Government 
audits 2018/19 and 
beyond

Grant Thornton's 
External 
Audit commitment
Audit 2018/19 

GRT103867

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their c lients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context 

requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal 

entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to c lients. GTIL and its member firms are notagents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one 

another’s acts or omissions. 

This publication has been prepared only as a guide. No responsibility can be accepted by us for loss occasioned to any person acting or refraining fromacting as a result of any material in this publication. 

grantthornton.co.uk

Our team

Laurelin Griffiths
Engagement Manager

T     0121 232 5363
E     laurelin.h.griffiths@uk.gt.com

Phil Jones
Engagement Lead

T     0121 232 5232
E     phil.w.jones@uk.gt.com

“I have always been extremely pleased with the work done by colleagues from Grant Thornton, there is continuity of staff delivering the team who presented the 

bid. This continuity remains through the cycle of work that takes place during the year; allowing the team to continue to und erstand the corporate objectives 
whilst allowing us to ensure we comply with the required standards. The team are very friendly and approachable with an accom modating style”.

Director of Finance, local audited body

Appendix A

16

P
age 24



Our connections
 We are well connected to MHCLG, the 

NAO and key local government networks

 We work with CIPFA, Think Tanks and 
legal firms to develop workshops and good 
practice

 We have a strong presence across all parts 
of local government including blue light 
services

 We provide thought leadership, seminars 
and training to support our clients and to 
provide solutions

Our people
 We have over 25 engagement leads 

accredited by ICAEW, and over 
250 public sector specialists

 We provide technical and personal 
development training

 We employ over 80 Public Sector trainee 
accountants

The Local Government economy 

Local authorities face unprecedented challenges including:

- Financial Sustainability – addressing funding gaps and balancing needs against resources

- Service Sustainability – Adult Social Care funding gaps and pressure on Education, Housing, 

Transport

- Transformation – new models of delivery, greater emphasis on partnerships, more focus on 

economic development

- Technology – cyber security and risk management

At a wider level, the political environment remains complex:

- The government continues its negotiation with the EU over Brexit, and future arrangements 
remain uncertain.

- We will consider your arrangements for managing and reporting your financial resources as part of 
our work in reaching our Value for Money conclusion.

- We will keep you informed of changes to the financial  reporting requirements for 2018/19 through 
on-going discussions and invitations to our technical update workshops.

New 
opportunities 
and challenges 
for your 
community

Our quality
 Our audit approach complies with the 

NAO's Code of Audit Practice, and 
International Standards on Auditing

 We are fully compliant with ethical 
standards

 Your audit team has passed all quality 
inspections including QAD and AQRT

Grant Thornton in Local 
Government

 We work closely with our clients to ensure that we understand their financial challenges, 
performance and future strategy.

 We deliver robust, pragmatic and timely financial statements and Value for Money audits

 We have an open, two way dialogue with clients that support improvements in arrangements and 

the audit process

 Feedback meetings tell us that our clients are pleased with the service we deliver. We are not 

complacent and will continue to improve further

 Our locally based, experienced teams have a commitment to both our clients and the wider public 

sector

 We are a Firm that specialises in Local Government, Health and Social Care, and Cross Sector 
working, with over 25 Key Audit Partners, the most public sector specialist Engagement Leads of 

any firm

 We have strong relationships with CIPFA, SOLCAE, the Society of Treasurers, the Association of 

Directors of Adult Social Care and others. 

 We propose a realistic fee, based on known local circumstances and requirements.

Our relationship 
with our clients–
why are we best 
placed?

 Early advice on technical accounting  issues, providing certainty of accounting treatments, future 
financial planning implications and resulting in draft statements that are 'right first time’

 Knowledge and expertise in all matters local government, including local objections and challenge, 
where we have an unrivalled depth of expertise. 

 Early engagement on issues, especially on ADMs, housing delivery changes, Children services 
and Adult Social Care restructuring, partnership working with the NHS, inter authority agreements, 

governance and financial reporting

 Implementation of our recommendations have resulted in demonstrable improvements in your 

underlying arrangements, for example accounting for unique assets, financial management, 

reporting and governance, and tax implications for the Cornwall Council companies 

 Robust but pragmatic challenge – seeking early liaison on issues, and having the difficult 

conversations early to ensure a 'no surprises' approach – always doing the right thing

 Providing regional training and networking opportunities for your teams on technical accounting 

issues and developments and changes to Annual Reporting requirements

 An efficient audit approach, providing  tangible benefits, such as releasing finance staff earlier and 

prompt resolution of issues.

Delivering real 
value through:

Our client base 
and delivery
 We are the largest supplier of external audit 

services to local government

 We audit over 150 local government clients

 We signed 95% of  our local government 
opinions in 2017/18 by 31 July

 In our latest independent client service 
review, we consistently score 9/10 or 
above. Clients value our strong interaction, 
our local knowledge and wealth of 
expertise.

Our technical 
support
 We have specialist leads for Public Sector 

Audit quality and technical

 We provide national technical guidance on 
emerging auditing, financial reporting and 
ethical areas

 Specialist audit software is used to deliver 
maximum efficiencies

“I have found Grant Thornton to be very 

impressive…..they  bring a real understanding of the 

area. Their insights and support are excellent. They 

are responsive, pragmatic and, through their 

relationship and the quality of their work, support us 

in moving forward through increasingly challenging 

times. I wouldn't hesitate to work with them."

Director of Finance, County Council 

Our commitment to our local government 

clients

• Senior level investment

• Local presence enhancing our 

responsiveness, agility and flexibility.

• High quality audit delivery

• Collaborative working across the public 

sector

• Wider connections across the public sector 

economy, including with health and other 

local government bodies

• Investment in Health and Wellbeing, Social 

Value and the Vibrant Economy 

• Sharing of best practice and our thought 

leadership.

• Invitations to training events locally and 

regionally – bespoke training for emerging 

issues

• Further investment in data analytics and 

informatics to keep our knowledge of the 

areas up to date and to assist in designing a 

fully tailored audit approach

17

P
age 25



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 
as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 
member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 
obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 
and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 
for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 26



Informing the audit risk assessment 
Tamworth Borough Council 2018/19

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 5



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP2

Contents

Purpose 3

Fraud 4

Fraud risk assessment 5

Laws and regulations 11

Impact of laws and regulations 12

Going concern 14

Going concern considerations 15

Related parties 17

Accounting estimates 19

Appendix 1 – Accounting estimates 21

P
age 28



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP3

Purpose
The purpose of this report is to contribute towards the effective two-way communication between auditors and the Council's Audit Committee, 

as 'those charged with governance'. The report covers some important areas of the auditor risk assessment where we are required to make 

inquiries of the Audit Committee under auditing standards.

Background

Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISA(UK&I)) auditors have specific responsibilities to communicate with the Audit 

Committee. ISA(UK&I) emphasise the importance of two-way communication between the auditor and the Audit Committee and also specify 

matters that should be communicated. 

This two-way communication assists both the auditor and the Audit Committee in understanding matters relating to the audit and developing a 

constructive working relationship. It also enables the auditor to obtain information relevant to the audit from the Audit Committee and supports 

the Audit Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities in relation to the financial reporting process. 

Communication

As part of our risk assessment procedures we are required to obtain an understanding of management processes and the Audit Committee's 

oversight of the following areas:

• fraud

• laws and regulations

• going concern

• related parties

• accounting estimates.

This report includes a series of questions on each of these areas and the response we have received from the Council's management. The 

Audit Committee should consider whether these responses are consistent with the its understanding and whether there are any further 

comments it wishes to make.

P
age 29



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP4

Fraud
Matters in relation to fraud

ISA(UK&I)240 covers auditors responsibilities relating to fraud in an audit of financial statements.

The primary responsibility to prevent and detect fraud rests with both the Audit Committee and management. Management, with the oversight 

of the Audit Committee, needs to ensure a strong emphasis on fraud prevention and deterrence and encourage a culture of honest and ethical 

behaviour. As part of its oversight, the Audit Committee should consider the potential for override of controls and inappropriate influence over 

the financial reporting process.

As auditor, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement due to 

fraud or error. We are required to maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit, considering the potential for management override of 

controls.

As part of our audit risk assessment procedures we are required to consider risks of fraud. This includes considering the arrangements 

management has put in place with regard to fraud risks including:

• assessment that the financial statements could be materially misstated due to fraud

• process for identifying and responding to risks of fraud, including any identified specific risks

• communication with the Audit Committee regarding its processes for identifying and responding to risks of fraud

• communication to employees regarding business practices and ethical behaviour.

We need to understand how the Audit Committee oversees the above processes. We are also required to make inquiries of both management 

and the Audit Committee as to their knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud. These areas have been set out in the fraud risk 

assessment questions below together with responses from the Council's management. 

P
age 30



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP5

Fraud risk assessment

Question Management response

Has the Council assessed the risk of material misstatement in the financial 

statements due to fraud?

What are the results of this process?

Management receive the following reports which have informed the Council 

that the risk of misstatement due to fraud or error is low:
• Internal Audit’s risk assessment arising from the reviews to inform the Annual 

Governance Statement.

• Quarterly reports are received from the Head of Audit and Governance (H of AG) 

on systems reviewed (including the key / core financial systems) within the 

quarter.  High risk areas are identified. Follow-up of implementation of control 

risks are undertaken in a timely manner.  H of AG gives an opinion on the system 

of internal control given quarterly.

• An Annual Governance Statement. Assurance gathering process involves 

assessing against the objectives, manager’s providing assurance statements and 

identifying key control issues affecting their operational processes;

• External Audit Reports, including the assessment of controls as stated in the 

Annual Audit & Inspection Letter inform the conclusion on adequacy of the 

internal control process.

• Financial Accounts reports / reviews identifying key areas of activity and where 

appropriate risk implications and variance analysis. This includes the review of 

draft accounts / analytical review ( S151 & Deputy S151) and appropriate 

working papers where necessary.

• The final account planning & compliance process gives assurance on the key 

accounting and review processes undertaken in the planned delivery of the final 

accounts. Copy of implementation plan agreed & monitored by members. The 

Final Account Delivery Plan (key actions, deliveries, implications & deadlines)  

identifies key deliverables and issues arising from the preparation process which 

are reported to CMT & Members.

• Copy of Final Account documents (including previous year comparators). 

Material issues / explanations are reported to Audit & Governance Committee.

• Advice / information on changes in Accounting Policy that impact on the financial 

statements (including issues affecting comparator variances).

• Compliance reviews are undertaken to the accounting code of practice (IFRS).

• External Audit report to the Audit & Governance Committee on their reliance 

placed on the work of Internal Audit. This therefore increases reliance on the 

standard and quality of audit reports and their review of control systems.

P
age 31



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP6

Fraud risk assessment (continued)

Question Management response

How are the Audit and Governance Committee satisfied that the overall 

control environment is robust.  In particular what processes does the 

Council have in place to identify and respond to risks of fraud in the 

organisation?

The Audit and Governance Committee receives various reports that satisfy 

them that the control environment is robust.

• Internal Audit’s risk assessment arising from the reviews to inform the 

Annual Governance Statement.

• Quarterly reports are received from the Head of Audit and Governance (H 

of AG) on systems reviewed (including the key / core financial systems) 

within the quarter.  High risk areas are identified. Follow-up of 

implementation of control risks are undertaken in a timely manner.  H of 

AG opinion on the system of internal control given quarterly.

• An Annual Governance Statement. The assurance gathering process 

involves assessing against the objectives, manager’s providing assurance 

statements identifying key control issues affecting their operational 

processes.

• External Audit Reports, including the assessment of controls as stated in 

the Annual Audit & Inspection Letter inform the conclusion on adequacy of 

the internal control process.

Counter Fraud & Corruption & Whistleblowing policies are in place (reviewed 

and approved by the Audit & Governance Committee 25th October 2018).

Have any specific fraud risks, or areas with a high risk of fraud, been 

identified and what has been done to mitigate these risks?

Internal Audit maintain a fraud risk register which is updated quarterly.  We 

are aware of areas where risk of fraud has increased (e.g. changes to 

creditor bank details). Staff working in this area are aware of the increased 

risk and an e-learning package is being developed including counter fraud 

and whistleblowing (data protection training has been rolled out).  The 

counter fraud and whistleblowing training will be developed during 2018.  

There are not many areas where cash is handled; this happens only at the 

castle or the Tourist Information Centre and  no concerns have been 

highlighted by work undertaken there.

P
age 32



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP7

Fraud risk assessment (continued)

Question Management response

Are there any areas where there is a potential for override of controls or 

inappropriate influence over the financial reporting process (for example 

because of undue pressure to achieve financial targets)?

Management is not aware of any areas where there is a potential for 

override of controls or inappropriate influence over the financial reporting 

process. The following sources would be used to inform the organisation of 

any such instances

• S151 Officer is informed of suspected or alleged areas of fraud from the 

following sources :

• Whistle Blowing / informants,

• Benefits Fraud Investigations

• Management – identification of irregularities

• Internal Audit – reports / reviews

• Any areas of actual fraud will be / are reported to the Audit & Governance 

Committee as part of the normal quarterly monitoring/reporting process 

as well as senior management and police (where appropriate);

• Requirement of Managers / officers / Members to report to S151 any 

suspicions / allegations of fraud for appropriate investigation.

Are there any areas where there is a potential for override of controls or 

inappropriate influence over the financial reporting process (for example 

because of undue pressure to achieve financial targets)?

Management is not aware of any areas where there is a potential for override 

of controls or inappropriate influence over the financial reporting process. The 

following sources would be used to inform the organisation of any such 

instances

• S151 Officer is informed of suspected or alleged areas of fraud from the 

following sources :

• Whistle Blowing / informants,

• Benefits Fraud Investigations

• Management – identification of irregularities

• Internal Audit – reports / reviews

• Any areas of actual fraud will be / are reported to the Audit & Governance 

Committee as part of the normal quarterly monitoring/reporting process as 

well as senior management and police (where appropriate);

• Requirement of Managers / officers / Members to report to S151 any 

suspicions / allegations of fraud for appropriate investigation.

P
age 33



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP8

Fraud risk assessment (continued)

Question Management response

How does the Audit Committee exercise oversight over management's 

processes for identifying and responding to risks of fraud and breaches of 

internal control?

What arrangements are in place to report fraud issues and risks to the Audit 

Committee?

Audit & Governance Members (including relevant Council Officers) receive 

the following information / communication in order to raise / inform fraud 

risks and breaches of internal control 

• Quarterly Fraud update provided to the Committee including NFI.

• Audit & Governance Committees Terms Of Reference state that they will 

monitor the effectiveness of anti fraud & corruption arrangements.  This is 

achieved / discharged through the Audit & Governance Committee 

approving the Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy Policy Statement 

and Guidance Notes and the Whistleblowing Policy.

• Head of Audit and Governance opinion on the control environment given 

on a quarterly basis.

• Pro-active annual  Internal Audit plan based on “Risk Based Audit” to 

review key activity areas of operation 

How does the Council communicate and encourage ethical behaviour of its 

staff and contractors?

• Employees are made aware of the communication process (via 

NetConsent) of all key Council policies, including Financial Guidance, the 

Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy, Statement & Strategy and 

Whistleblowing Policy. This is a mandatory process and was last 

completed in May 2016; compliance is reported and monitored and 

where appropriate additional training is given.

• An employee induction training process is completed which includes 

specific training for standards/code of conduct. 

• Financial Guidance is reviewed and approved by Members and is 

available to all staff / members on intra-net (and hard copy if required);

• On-going awareness and dissemination of good practice etc. circulated  

via PinBoard, officer fraud updates, best practice and Internal Audit & 

External Audit Reports (including risk assessment / recommendations & 

management responses and external publications i.e. Audit Commission 

Circulars); 

• Development of e-learning modules for Counter Fraud & Corruption and 

Whistleblowing

P
age 34



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP9

Fraud risk assessment (continued)

Question Management response

How do you encourage staff to report their concerns about fraud? Have any 

significant issues been reported?

This is encouraged via Whistle-blowing Procedures and/or Counter fraud 

and/or Corruption policy Statements & Strategy (both are available on the 

intranet).  

• The Counter Fraud & Corruption Policy Statement & Strategy was 

notified to staff using NetConsent policy management system which 

requires response from staff which will be logged and followed up on the 

system. Staff are required to read and accept the policy and are required 

to report any concerns.  

We will roll out an e-learning solution, which covers counter fraud and 

whistleblowing, once finalised. The e-learning solution will have a series of 

questions to confirm staff and members understanding and will be linked to 

the NetConsent Policy Management system to enable us to track 

acceptance and understanding.  This will inform us of additional training 

requirements needed.

Are you aware of any related party relationships or transactions that could 

give rise to risks of fraud?

We are not aware of any related party relationships or transactions that 

could give rise to risks of fraud. The following processes are in place to 

ensure related party relationships are identified:

• Annual declarations of interest are required from Senior Managers and all 

Members of the Council to inform the related party note in the accounts.

• All members have to disclose any interest when making decisions.

• Monitoring officer keeps a register of members interests.

• Transparency requirements / publications & public interest disclosures.

P
age 35



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP10

Fraud risk assessment (continued)

Question Management response

Are you aware of any instances of actual, suspected, or alleged fraud either 

within the Council as a whole or within specific departments since 

1 April 2018?

No; management would be made aware of any actual or alleged instances 

of fraud via the following:-

• S151 Officer is informed of (and takes appropriate action in relation to) 

suspected or alleged areas of fraud from the following sources:

• Whistleblowing / informants,

• Benefits Fraud Investigations including single person discounts, 

housing benefit, business rates, housing and the Local Council 

Tax Reduction Scheme

• Management identification of irregularities

• Internal Audit reports / reviews 

• Any areas of actual fraud will be / are reported to the Audit & Governance 

Committee as part of the normal annual report as well senior 

management and police (where appropriate);

• Requirement of Managers / Officers / Members to report to S151 any 

suspicions / allegations of fraud for appropriate investigation.

Are you aware of any whistleblower reports or reports under the Bribery 

Act since 1 April 2018?

If so how does the Audit and Governance Committee respond to these?

No.

P
age 36



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP11

Laws and regulations

Matters in relation to laws and regulations

ISA(UK&I)250 requires us to consider the impact of laws and regulations in an audit of the financial statements.

Management, with the oversight of the Audit Committee, is responsible for ensuring that the Council's operations are conducted in accordance 

with laws and regulations including those that determine amounts in the financial statements.

As auditor, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement due to 

fraud or error, taking into account the appropriate legal and regulatory framework. As part of our risk assessment procedures we are required 

to make inquiries of management and the Audit Committee as to whether the entity is in compliance with laws and regulations. Where we 

become aware of information of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance we need to gain an understanding of the noncompliance and 

the possible effect on the financial statements.

Risk assessment questions have been set out below together with responses from management.

P
age 37



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP12

Impact of laws and regulations

Question Management response

What arrangements does the Council have in place to prevent and detect 

non-compliance with laws and regulations?

How does management gain assurance that all relevant laws and 

regulations have been complied with?

• Quarterly reports are received from the H of AG on systems reviewed.  

High risk areas are identified.

• The Annual Governance Statement assurance gathering process involves 

assessing against the objectives and managers providing assurance 

statements.

• The Monitoring Officer’s independent reporting on relevant compliance 

with laws. The Monitoring Officer also attends the Audit and Governance 

Committee meetings and advises appropriately.

• The External Auditor review and assurance opinion on the financial affairs 

(management processes) of the Authority.

• For Council & Cabinet reports both the Monitoring Officer and Finance 

Officer are required (subject to options) to sign-off the reports prior to 

members approving recommendations and to identify that proposed 

actions comply to legislative requirements.

• Periodic update to Officers / Members on new legislative requirements.

• Regular update by the External Auditor on potential compliance issues /

understanding.

• Undertaking NFI Anti Fraud initiatives indicates potential fraudulent 

violations.

• Pro-active Internal Audit Plan focused on provision of assurance reports 

on status of management control processes.

• Regular review and update of Financial Guidance and Counter Fraud 

Policies.

How is the Audit Committee provided with assurance that all relevant laws 

and regulations have been complied with?

The Monitoring Officer’s independent reporting on relevant compliance with 

laws. The Monitoring Officer also attends the Audit and Governance 

Committee meetings and advises appropriately.

Have there been any instances of non-compliance or suspected non-

compliance with law and regulations since 1 April 2018, or earlier with an 

on-going impact on the 2018/19 financial statements?

No.

P
age 38



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP13

Impact of laws and regulations (continued)

Question Management response

What arrangements does the Council have in place to identify, evaluate and 

account for litigation or claims?
Once identified, all claims are considered for their impact on the accounts, 

with appropriate action taken (e.g. reserve, provision, contingent liability etc.)

Is there any actual or potential litigation or claims that would affect the 

financial statements?
No.

Have there been any reports from other regulatory bodies, such as HM 

Revenues and Customs which indicate noncompliance?
No.

P
age 39



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP14

Going concern

Matters in relation to laws and regulations

ISA(UK&I)570 covers auditor responsibilities in the audit of financial statements relating to management's use of the going concern assumption 

in the financial statements.

Going concern is a fundamental principle in the preparation of financial statements. Under the going concern assumption, a council is viewed 

as continuing in operation for the foreseeable future with no necessity of liquidation or ceasing trading. Accordingly, the Council’s assets and 

liabilities are recorded on the basis that assets will be realised and liabilities discharged in the normal course of business. A key consideration 

of going concern is that the Council has the cash resources and reserves to meet its obligations as they fall due in the foreseeable future.

We have discussed the going concern assumption with key Council officers and reviewed the Council's financial and operating performance. 

Below are key questions on the going concern assumption which we would like the Audit and Governance Committee to consider.

P
age 40



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP15

Going concern considerations

Question Management response

Does the Council have procedures in place to assess the Council's ability to 

continue as a going concern?
The Executive Director Finance (as s151 Officer) is satisfied that the budget 

and Medium Term Financial strategy (MTFS) proposals are based on robust 

estimates, and that the level of reserves is adequate. This was reported in the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy reviewed by all Members and approved by 

Council in February 2018.

Is management aware of the existence of other events or conditions that 

may cast doubt on the Council's ability to continue as a going concern?
No.

Are arrangements in place to report the going concern  assessment to the 

Audit and Governance Committee?

How has the Audit and Governance Committee satisfied itself that it is 

appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial 

statements?

The Executive Director Finance (as s151 Officer) is satisfied that the budget 

and MTFS proposals are based on robust estimates, and that the level of 

reserves is adequate. This was reported in the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy. This was reported in the Medium Term Financial Strategy reviewed 

by all Members and approved by Council in February 2018.

Are the financial assumptions in that report (e.g., future levels of income and 

expenditure) consistent with the Council's Business Plan and the financial 

information provided to the Council throughout the year?

The Financial Plan (MTFS) is agreed at the same time as the Corporate Plan. 

The financial plan makes clear reference to the Corporate Plan as the basis 

for the financial considerations in setting the medium term budget. The 

financial assumptions are therefore consistent with the Council Plan. Reports 

in year are consistent with the budget set.

Are the implications of statutory or policy changes appropriately reflected in 

the Business Plan, financial forecasts and report on going concern?
The financial plan considered explicitly the government changes in terms of 

grants. The plan sets out the likely implications of the Governments 

Resources Review (including welfare benefit reform and localisation of 

council tax  support and business rates) and other changes to local 

government finance. Policy changes are detailed within the report. Sensitivity 

analysis for grant and other income and expenditure included.

Have there been any significant issues raised with the Audit Committee 

during the year which could cast doubts on the assumptions made? 

(Examples include adverse comments raised by internal and external audit 

regarding financial performance or  significant weaknesses in systems of 

financial control).

No.

P
age 41



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP16

Going concern considerations (continued)

Question Management response

Does a review of available financial information identify any adverse 

financial indicators including negative cash flow?

If so, what action is being taken to improve financial performance?

No.

Does the Council have sufficient staff in post, with the appropriate skills and 

experience, particularly at senior manager level, to ensure the delivery of the 

Council's objectives?

If not, what action is being taken to obtain those skills?

Yes; Regular one to ones, PDR process and person specifications include 

assessment of relevant skills. Capacity issues are raised and discussed on a 

regular basis including in risk assessments e.g. dealing with benefits claims

P
age 42



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP17

Related parties

Matters in relation to Related Parties

Local Authorities are required to comply with International Accounting Standard 24 and disclose transactions with entities/individuals that

would be classed as related parties. These may include:

• entities that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by the Council (i.e. subsidiaries);

• associates and/or joint ventures;

• an entity that has an interest in the Council that gives it significant influence over the Council;

• key management personnel, and close members of the family of key management personnel, and

• post-employment benefit plans (pension fund) for the benefit of employees of the Council, or of any entity that is a related party of the Council.

A disclosure is required if a transaction (or series of transactions) is material on either side i.e. if a transaction is immaterial from the

Council's perspective but material from a related party viewpoint then the Council must disclose it.

ISA (UK&I) 550 requires us to review your procedures for identifying related party transactions and obtain an understanding of the controls

that you have established to identify such transactions. We will also carry out testing to ensure the related party transaction disclosures

you make in the financial statements are complete and accurate.

Related party considerations have been set out below and management has provided its response.

P
age 43



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP18

Related parties considerations

Question Management response

What controls does the Council have in place to identify, account 

for, and disclose related party transactions and relationships?
A number of arrangements are in place for identifying the nature of a related party and 

reported value including:

• Maintenance of a Register of interests for Members and a register for pecuniary 

interests in contracts for Officers and Senior Managers requiring disclosure of 

related party transactions.

• Annual return from senior managers/officers requiring confirmation that they have  

read and understood the declaration requirements and that they state the details of 

any known related party interests.

• Challenge from public

Who have the Council identified as related parties? The Council discloses its related parties under the following headings:

• Government. Central government has controlling influence over the Council as the 

Council needs to act in accordance with its statutory responsibilities.

• Precepts & Levies. These parties are subject to common control by central 

government and thus might be empowered to transact on non-commercial terms. 

The Council is bound to pay the amount demanded from these parties through 

precept or levy.

• Joint Operations / Ventures. The Council has the potential to influence the other 

parties through a joint relationship.

• Assisted Organisations. The provision of financial assistance by the Council to 

such parties or voluntary organisations may give the Council influence on how the 

funds are to be administered and applied.

P
age 44



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP19

Accounting estimates

Matters in relation to Accounting Estimates

Local Authorities need to apply appropriate estimates in the preparation of their financial statements. ISA (UK&I) 540 sets out requirements for

auditing accounting estimates. This objective is to gain evidence that the accounting estimates are reasonable and the related disclosures are

adequate.

Under this standard we have to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement for accounting estimates by understanding how the

Council identified the transactions, events and conditions that may give rise to the need to an accounting estimate.

Accounting estimates are used when it is not possible to measure precisely a figure in the accounts. We need to be aware of all estimates that

the Council are using as part of their accounts preparation: these are detailed in appendix 1 to this report.

The audit procedures we conduct on the accounting estimate will demonstrate that:

• the estimate is reasonable; and

• estimates have been calculated consistently with other accounting estimates within the financial statements.

P
age 45



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP20

Accounting estimates considerations

Question Management response

Are the management aware of transactions, events and conditions 

(or changes in these) that may give rise to recognition or disclosure 

of significant accounting estimates that require significant judgment?

Yes; see appendix for detailed breakdown

Are the management arrangements for the accounting estimates, as 

detailed in Appendix 1 reasonable?
Yes

How is the Audit and Governance Committee provided with 

assurance that the arrangements for accounting estimates are 

adequate?

The significant accounting estimates are reported, as part of this report and included 

within the notes to the accounts, to Audit & Governance Committee. This includes an 

explanation of the underlying assumptions and likely impact of any variances. 

External Audit also provide assurance as part of the annual audit / review process.P
age 46



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP21

Appendix 1 - Accounting estimates
Estimate Method / model used to make 

the estimate

Controls 

used to 

identify 

estimates

Whether management 

have used an expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of 

uncertainty

- Consideration of 

alternative estimates

Has there been a 

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Property plant &

equipment

valuations.

Valuations are made by the internal 

valuer (local RICS Member) in line with 

RICS guidance on the basis of 5 year 

valuations with interim reviews for 

significant assets and asset classes.

Assistant 

Director Finance 

notifies the 

valuer of the 

programme of 

rolling valuations 

or any conditions 

that warrant an 

interim re-

valuation.

Use the Internal local RICS 

Member.

Use of External valuer (Housing 

stock).

ICT Acquisitions.

Heritage Assets valuations.

Cipfa Asset Manager System.

Valuations are made in-line with 

RICS guidance (reliance on expert).

ICT: purchases at cost

Heritage Assets: Use of valuation 

(inflated) or cost

No

Estimated

remaining useful

lives of PPE.

The following asset categories have 

general asset lives:

• Housing stock 50 years

• Other Buildings 5 to 100 years

• Vehicles, plant & equipment 1 to 20 

years

• Community 100 years

• ICT Equipment 3 years

• Infrastructure 30 years.

Assistant 

Director Finance 

discusses with 

the valuer

Use the Internal local RICS 

Member for non-housing 

valuations. 

Use of External valuer (Housing 

stock).

Cipfa Asset Manager System.

DCLG published updated the 

‘Stock valuation for resource 

accounting: guidance for valuers 

2016’. 

The new guidance included an 

update of the regional 

adjustment factors used to 

calculate the social housing value 

of their property stock for 

2016/17  to take account of 

changes in the housing market.

The method makes some 

generalisations. For example,

buildings tend to have a useful life 

of 50 years. Although in specific

examples based upon a valuation 

review, a new building can have a

life as short as 25 years or as long as 

70 years depending on the

construction materials used. This life 

would be recorded in accordance 

with the local qualified

RICS Member.

No

P
age 47



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP22

Estimate Method / model used to make the 

estimate

Controls 

used to 

identify 

estimates

Whether 

management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of 

uncertainty

- Consideration of alternative 

estimates

Has there been a 

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Depreciation &

Amortisation.

Depreciation is provided for on all fixed assets 

with a finite useful life on a straight-line basis.

Consistent 

application of

depreciation 

method across all 

assets.

Use the Internal 

local RICS Member 

for non-housing 

valuations.

Use of External 

valuer (Housing 

stock).

Cipfa Asset Manager 

System.

The length of the life is determined at 

the point of acquisition or revaluation 

according to:

• Assets acquired in year are 

depreciated on the basis of a charge 

from acquisition date.

• Assets that are not fully constructed 

are not depreciated until they are 

brought into use.

No.

Impairments Assets are assessed at each year-end as to 

whether there is any indication that an asset may 

be impaired. Where indications exist and any 

possible differences are estimated to be material, 

the recoverable amount of

the asset is estimated and, where this is less than 

the carrying amount of the

asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the 

shortfall

Assets are 

assessed in year 

(e.g. garage sites) 

and at each year-

end as to whether 

there is any 

indication that an 

asset may be 

impaired.

Use the Internal 

local RICS Member 

for non-housing 

valuations.

Use of External 

valuer (Housing 

stock).

Cipfa Asset Manager 

System.

Valuations are made in-line with RICS 

guidance - reliance on expert.

No

Non adjusting

events - events 

after the Balance 

Sheet date

S151 Officer makes the assessment. If the event 

is indicative of conditions. that arose after the 

balance sheet date then this is an non-adjusting 

event.

For these events only a note to the accounts is 

included, identifying the nature of the event and 

where possible estimates of the financial effect

Heads of Service

notify the S151 

Officer

This would be 

considered on 

individual 

circumstances.

Discussions with 

Link Asset Services/ 

External auditor

This would be considered on individual 

circumstances.

N/A

P
age 48



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP23

Estimate Method / model used to make the 

estimate

Controls 

used to 

identify 

estimates

Whether 

management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of 

uncertainty

- Consideration of alternative 

estimates

Has there been a 

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Overhead

allocation.

The Finance Team

apportion central support costs to services based 

on fixed bases as detailed in the 'Allocation 

Summary'

spread sheet.

All support 

service cost 

centres are 

allocated 

according to the 

agreed 'Allocation 

Summary'

spread sheet.

No Apportionment bases are reviewed each 

year to ensure equitable

No

Measurement of

Financial

Instruments.

Council values financial instruments at fair value 

based on the advice of their external treasury

consultants and other finance professionals.

Take advice from

finance 

professionals.

Yes; Link Asset 

Services/PWLB

Take advice from finance

professionals.

No

Provisions for

liabilities.

Provisions are made where an event has taken 

place that 

• gives the Council a legal or constructive 

obligation

• that probably requires settlement by a 

transfer of economic benefits or service 

potential, and 

• a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation.

Provisions are charged as an expense to the 

appropriate service line in the CI&ES in the year 

that the Council becomes aware of the 

obligation, and are measured at the best estimate 

at the balance sheet date of the expenditure 

required to settle the obligation, taking into 

account relevant risks and uncertainties.

Charged in the 

year that the 

Council becomes 

aware of the 

obligation.

No Estimated settlements are

reviewed at the end of each financial 

year. Where it becomes less than 

probable that a transfer of

economic benefits will now be required 

(or a lower settlement

than anticipated is made), the provision 

is reversed and credited back to the 

relevant service. Where

some or all of the payment required to 

settle a provision is expected to

be recovered from another party (e.g. 

from an insurance claim), this is only 

recognised as income for the relevant 

service if it is virtually certain that 

reimbursement will be received by the 

Council.

No

P
age 49



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP24

Estimate Method / model used to make the 

estimate

Controls 

used to 

identify 

estimates

Whether 

management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of 

uncertainty

- Consideration of alternative 

estimates

Has there been a 

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Bad Debt

Provision.

A provision is estimated using a proportion basis 

of an aged debt listing.

Revenues provide 

the aged debt 

listing and 

Finance calculate 

the provision.

No Consistent proportion used across aged 

debt as per the Code.

Business Rates: each case (limited 

number) assessed to determine  

estimated recoverable amount

No

Accruals Finance collate accruals of Expenditure and 

Income. Activity is accounted for in the financial 

year that it takes place, not when money is paid 

or received.

Activity is 

accounted

for in the financial 

year that it takes 

place, not when 

money is paid or 

received.

No Accruals for income and expenditure 

have been principally based on known 

values. Where

accruals have had to be estimated the 

latest available information has been 

used.

No

Pension liability The Council is an admitted body to the 

Staffordshire Local Government Pension 

Scheme. The administering authority (the 

County Council) engage the Actuary who 

provides the estimate of the pension liability.

Payroll data is 

provided to the 

Actuary. 

Management 

reconcile this 

estimate of 

contributions to 

the actuals paid 

out in the year.

Consulting actuary As disclosed in the actuary's report. 

Complex judgements including the 

discount rate used, rate at which salaries 

are projected to increase, changes in 

retirement ages, mortality rates and 

expected returns on pension fund assets.

No

P
age 50



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as 

the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member 

firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

28th March 2019

Report of the Executive Director Finance

REVIEW OF THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT, MINIMUM 
REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL INVESTMENT STATEMENT 

2019/20 and the
 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL INVESTMENT 

STRATEGY MID-YEAR REVIEW REPORT 2018/19

Purpose

To review the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision 
Statement and Annual Investment Statement 2019/20 and the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2018/19 approved by 
Council on 26th February 2019 and 11th December 2018 respectively.

Recommendation

That Members consider the Treasury Management Reports, as detailed within the reports 
attached at Appendix A and Appendix B and highlight any changes for recommendation 
to Cabinet.

Executive Summary

At its meeting in February each year, the Council approve the Treasury Management Strategy and 
Prudential Indicators including, as required by the Code, that the Audit & Governance Committee be 
given the opportunity to scrutinise the strategy and policies, as well as receiving regular monitoring 
reports.

With regard to the appointment of a Committee to be responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of the 
Treasury Management Strategy and Policies, the code suggests:

 This involves reviewing the Treasury Management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the responsible body;

 Public Service Organisations have a responsibility to ensure that those charged with 
governance have access to the skills and knowledge they require to carry out this role 
effectively;

 Those charged with Governance also have a personal responsibility to ensure they have the 
appropriate skills and training in their role;

 The procedures for monitoring Treasury Management activities through audit, scrutiny and 
inspection should be sound and rigorously applied, with an openness of access to information 
and well-defined arrangements for the review and implementation of recommendations for 
change; and

 This includes the provision of monitoring information and regular review by Councillors in both 
executive and Scrutiny functions.

In compliance with the above, a copy of the Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential Indicators 
for 2019/20 is attached at Appendix A, together with a copy of the Mid-year Report on the Treasury 
Management Service 2018/19 at Appendix B.

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



Equalities implications

There are no equalities implications arising from the report.

Legal implications

Approval of Prudential Indicators and an Annual Investment Strategy is a legal requirement of 
the Local Government Act 2003. Members are required under the CIPFA Code of Practice to 
have ownership and understanding when making decisions on Treasury Management matters.

Resource and Value for Money implications

All financial resource implications are detailed in the body of this report which links to the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.

Risk implications

Risk is inherent in Treasury Management and as such a risk based approach has been adopted 
throughout the report with regard to Treasury Management processes.

Report Author: 
Please contact Jo Goodfellow, Management Accountant or Stefan Garner, Director of Finance, 
extension 241 or 242.

Corporate Vision, Priorities Plan, Budget & Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 2019/20 (Including Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 
Statement and Annual Investment Statement 2019/20, 
Council 26th February 2019)

Background Papers:-

Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2018/19 
Council 11th December 2018

Page 54



 APPENDIX  A

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT, TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
POLICY STATEMENT, MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT AND 

ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2019/20

Purpose

To comply with the requirement of the Council’s Treasury Management Policy in reporting to 
Council the proposed strategy for the forthcoming year and the Local Government Act 2003 with 
the reporting of the Prudential Indicators.

Executive Summary

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to produce prudential indicators in line 
with the Prudential Code.  

This report outlines the Council’s prudential indicators for 2019/20 – 2021/22 and sets out the 
expected Treasury operations for this period. This report and associated tables fulfil the 
statutory requirement of the Local Government Act 2003 by:

 Reporting the prudential indicators as required by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities;

 Setting the Council’s Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy, which defines how the 
Council will pay for capital assets through revenue contributions each year (as required 
by MHCLG MRP Guidance issued in February 2018);

 Setting the Treasury Management Strategy in accordance with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management;

 Adopting the Council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement as recommended within 
the CIPFA Code of Practice 2017;

 Setting the Investment Strategy (in accordance with the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) investment guidance); and

 Affirming the effective management and responsibility for the control of risk and clearly 
identifying our appetite for risk. The Council’s risk appetite is low in order to give priority 
to Security, Liquidity then Yield (or return on investments).

Under the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice and associated Guidance Notes 2017, 
the following four clauses have been adopted:

a) This Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury 
management:

Page 55



A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and 
approach to risk management of its treasury management activities; and 

Suitable treasury management practices (TMPs) setting out the manner in which the 
organisation will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how 
it will manage and control those activities.

b) This Council will receive reports on its treasury management policies, practices and 
activities, including as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the 
year, a mid-year review and an annual report after its close.

c) This Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring 
of its treasury management policies and practices to Cabinet, and for the execution 
and administration of treasury management decisions to the Executive Director 
Finance, who will act in accordance with the organisation’s policy statement and 
TMPs.

d) This Council nominates the Audit and Governance Committee to be responsible for 
ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies.

Equalities Implications

There are no equalities implications arising from the report.

Legal Implications

Approval of Prudential Indicators and an Annual Investment Strategy is a legal requirement of 
the Local Government Act 2003. Members are required under the CIPFA Code of Practice to 
have ownership and understanding when making decisions on Treasury Management matters.

Resource and Value for Money Implications

All financial resource implications are detailed in the body of this report which links to the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and Capital Strategy.

Risk Implications

Risk is inherent in Treasury Management and as such a risk based approach has been 
adopted throughout the report with regard to Treasury Management processes.

A Glossary of terms utilised within the report can be found at ANNEX 9.

Report Author Please contact Jo Goodfellow, Management Accountant, ext 241 or Stefan Garner, 
Executive Director Finance, ext 242

Page 56



 Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20

 Mid-year Treasury Report 2018/19 Council, 11/12/18

 Annual Treasury Report 2017/18 Council, 11/09/18

Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Treasury 
Management Policy Statement, Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy Statement & Annual Investment Statement 
2018/19 Council 27/02/18 

Treasury Management Training slides 21st February 2018

CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Public 
Services 2017

MHCLG Statutory Guidance on Local Government 
Investments (February 2018) 

Local Government Act 2003

Background Papers:-

Treasury Management Practices 2019/20 (Operational 
Detail) 

Page 57



1.  INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised during 
the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the Treasury Management operation is to ensure that 
this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed. Surplus monies 
are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low risk 
appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return.

The second main function of the Treasury Management service is the funding of the Council’s 
capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, essentially 
the longer term cash flow planning, to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending 
obligations. This management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, 
or using longer term cash flow surpluses. On occasion, when it is prudent and economic, any debt 
previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 

The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Council is critical, as the balance 
of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the ability to meet spending commitments as 
they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue or for larger capital projects.  The treasury operations 
will see a balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment income arising from cash 
deposits affecting the available budget.  Since cash balances generally result from reserves and 
balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, as a loss of principal 
will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund Balance.

Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury function, these 
activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising usually from capital expenditure), 
and are separate from the day to day treasury management activities.

CIPFA defines treasury management as:

The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 
those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

Revised reporting is required for the 2019/20 reporting cycle due to revisions of the MHCLG 
Investment Guidance, the MHCLG Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Guidance, the CIPFA 
Prudential Code and the CIPFA Treasury Management Code.  The primary reporting changes 
include the introduction of a capital strategy, to provide a longer-term focus to the capital plans, 
and greater reporting requirements surrounding any commercial activity undertaken under the 
Localism Act 2011.  The capital strategy is reported at Appendix O.

1.2Reporting Requirements

1.2.1 Capital Strategy

The CIPFA revised 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require, for 2019-20, all 
local authorities to prepare an additional report, a capital strategy report, which will provide the 
following: 

Page 58



 a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed

 the implications for future financial sustainability.

The aim of this capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the full council fully 
understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital strategy requirements, 
governance procedures and risk appetite.

This capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement; non-treasury investments will be reported through the former. This ensures the 
separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity and yield principles, and the 
policy and commercialism investments usually driven by expenditure on an asset.  The capital 
strategy will show:

 The corporate governance arrangements for these types of activities;

 Any service objectives relating to the investments;

 The expected income, costs and resulting contribution; 

 The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs; 

 The payback period (MRP policy); 

 For non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market value; 

 The risks associated with each activity.

Where a physical asset is being bought, details of market research, advisers used, (and their 
monitoring), ongoing costs and investment requirements and any credit information will be 
disclosed, including the ability to sell the asset and realise the investment cash.

Where the Council has borrowed to fund any non-treasury investment, there should also be an 
explanation of why borrowing was required and why the MHCLG Investment Guidance and CIPFA 
Prudential Code have not been adhered to. 

If any non-treasury investment sustains a loss during the final accounts and audit process, the 
strategy and revenue implications will be reported through the same procedure as the capital 
strategy.

To demonstrate the proportionality between the treasury operations and the non-treasury operation, 
high-level comparators are shown throughout this report.

1.2.2 Treasury Management Reporting

The Council is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports 
each year, which incorporate a variety of polices, estimates and actuals. 

Page 59



Prudential and Treasury Indicators and Treasury Strategy (this report) – 

The first, and most important, report is forward looking and covers:

 the capital plans (including prudential indicators);
 a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy (how residual capital expenditure is charged to 

revenue over time);
 the Treasury Management Strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to be 

organised) including treasury indicators; and 
 an Investment Strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be managed).

A Mid Year Treasury Management Report

This is primarily a progress report and will update Members on the capital position, amending 
prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require revision.

An Annual Treasury Report

This is a backward looking review document and provides details of a selection of actual 
prudential and treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates 
within the strategy.

Scrutiny

The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being recommended to the 
Council. This role is undertaken by the Audit and Governance Committee.

1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/20

The strategy for 2019/20 covers two main areas:

Capital Issues

 the capital expenditure plans and the associated Prudential Indicators;
  the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy. 

Treasury Management Issues
 the current treasury position;
 treasury indicators  which will limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council; 
 prospects for interest rates; 
 the borrowing strategy; 
 policy on borrowing in advance of need; 
 debt rescheduling; 
 the investment strategy; 
 creditworthiness policy; and
 policy on use of external service providers 

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the CIFPA Prudential 
Code, the MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and MHCLG 
Investment Guidance.

Page 60



1.4 Training

The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that Members with responsibility for 
treasury management receive adequate training in treasury management. This especially applies to 
Members responsible for scrutiny. Detailed Treasury Management training was most recently 
provided in February 2018, and will be provided as and when required.
The training needs of Treasury Management Officers are regularly reviewed. 

1.5 Treasury Management Consultants

The Council uses Link Asset Services, Treasury Solutions as its external treasury management 
advisors.

The Council recognises that responsibility for Treasury Management decisions remains with the 
organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon the services of our 
external service providers. All decisions will be undertaken with regards to all available information, 
including, but not solely, our treasury advisors.

It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of Treasury Management 
services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that 
the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly 
agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.

2. THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2019/20 – 2021/22
The Council’s Capital Expenditure plans are the key driver of Treasury Management activity.  
The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, which are 
designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans.

2.1 Capital Expenditure

This prudential Indicator is a summary of the Council’s Capital Expenditure plans, both those 
agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle. Members are asked to approve 
the capital expenditure forecasts:

Capital 
Expenditure

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£m Actual Predicted 
Outturn*

Re-
profiling

Estimate** Estimate Estimate

Non-HRA 1.545 3.651 4.189 0.983 1.080 1.150
HRA 7.655 10.363 21.294 8.927 8.437 9.552
Commercial 
Activities/Non-
Financial 
Investments ***

- 7.369 12.631 - - -

Total 9.200 21.383 38.114 9.910 9.517 10.702

* Actual Projected at Period 9                       ** excludes projected slippage from 2018/19

*** commercial activities/non-financial investments relate to areas such as capital expenditure 
on investment properties & investments in property funds.

Page 61



Other long-term liabilities - the above financing need excludes other long-term liabilities, such 
as PFI and leasing arrangements which already include borrowing instruments.
The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these plans are 
being financed by capital or revenue resources. Any shortfall of resources results in a funding 
(borrowing) need. 

Capital Financing 
(GF/HRA) 

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

 
Actual Predicted 

Outturn*
Re-

profiling
Estimate** Estimate Estimate

Capital Receipts 0.562 9.057 15.237 2.988 1.192 0.675
Capital Grants 1.258 2.584 0.752 0.400 0.400 0.400
Capital Reserves 3.677 3.630 10.844 3.322 4.631 6.247
Revenue Reserves 3.687 5.689 2.702 2.905 2.945 2.855
Revenue 
Contributions 0.015 0.205 0.345 - 0.030 -

Net financing 
need for the year - 0.218 8.234 0.295 0.320 0.525

Total 9.200 21.383 38.114 9.910 9.517 10.702

* Actual Projected at Period 9                ** excludes projected slippage from 2018/19

The net financing need for commercial activities/non-financial investments included in the 
above table against expenditure is shown below:

Commercial 
Activities/Non-
Financial 
Investments

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

 
Actual Predicted 

Outturn*
Re-

profiling
Estimate** Estimate Estimate

Capital 
Expenditure - 7.369 12.631 - - -

Financing Costs - (7.369) (12.631) - - -
Net financing 
need for the year - - - - - -

Percentage of total 
net financing need 
%

- - - - - -

2.2 The Council’s Borrowing Need (the Capital Financing Requirement)
The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The 
CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for 
from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a measure of the Council’s 
indebtedness  and so its underlying borrowing need. Any capital expenditure above, which has 
not immediately been paid for, will increase the CFR.  

Page 62



The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is a 
statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in line with each 
asset’s life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital assets as they are used.
The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance leases).  Whilst 
these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, these types of 
scheme include a borrowing facility by the PFI lease provider and so the Council is not 
required to separately borrow for these schemes.  The Council currently has no such schemes 
within the CFR.
The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections below:

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22£m
Actual Revised 

Estimate
Estimate Estimate Estimate

Capital Financing Requirement      
CFR – non housing 0.885 1.037 2.235 2.425 2.801
CFR - housing 68.041 68.041 75.255 75.255 75.255
CFR - commercial activities/non-
financial investments - - - - -
Total CFR 68.926 69.078 77.490 77.680 78.056
Movement in CFR (0.058) 0.152 8.412 0.190 0.375
      
Movement in CFR represented 
by

     

Net financing need for the year 
(above) - 0.218 8.529 0.320 0.525

Less MRP/VRP and other 
financing movements (0.058) (0.066) (0.117) (0.130) (0.150)

Movement in CFR (0.058) 0.152 8.412 0.190 0.375

* CFR 2016/17 £68.984m
A key aspect of the regulatory and professional guidance is that elected members are aware of 
the size and scope of any commercial activity in relation to the Council’s overall financial 
position. The capital expenditure figures shown in 2.1 and the details above demonstrate the 
scope of this activity and, by approving these figures, consider the scale proportionate to the 
Council’s remaining activity.

2.3 Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances

The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital 
expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing 
impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources (asset 
sales etc.). Detailed below are estimates of the year end balances for each resource and 
anticipated day to day cash flow balances.

Page 63



Year End Resources 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£m Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
Fund Balances/Reserves 35.202 30.684 15.958 13.482 9.792
Capital Receipts 22.253 22.335 5.356 5.219 5.599
Provisions* 3.871 3.871 3.871 3.871 3.871
Other 0.048 0.048 0.048 0.048 0.048
Total Core Funds 61.374 56.938 25.233 22.620 19.310
Working Capital** 5.297 0.467 15.566 17.203 18.545
(Under)/Over Borrowing (5.866) (6.018) (14.430) (14.620) (14.996)
Expected Investments 60.805 51.387 26.369 25.203 22.859

* Includes full provision for NNDR appeals 

** Working capital balances shown are estimated year end; these may be higher mid year. 
This figure also includes potential budget reprofiling and cashflow movements in year.

2.4 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement

The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund Capital spend 
each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the Minimum Revenue Provision – MRP), 
although it is also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if required (voluntary 
revenue provision - VRP).  
MHCLG Regulations have been issued which require the full Council to approve an MRP 
Statement in advance of each year. A variety of options are provided to councils, so long as 
there is a prudent provision. The Council is recommended to approve the following MRP 
Statement:
For Capital Expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or which in the future will be Supported 
Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will be:

 Existing practice - MRP will follow the existing practice outlined in former MHCLG 
regulations (option 1); 

This option provides for an approximate 4% reduction in the borrowing need (CFR) each year.

From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including PFI and finance leases) the MRP 
policy will be:

 Asset Life Method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in 
accordance with the regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure 
capitalised under a Capitalisation Direction) (option 3);

This option provides for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the asset’s life. 

There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision but there is a 
requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made (although there are transitional 
arrangements in place).

Repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied as MRP.

Page 64



3. BORROWING

The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service activity of the 
Council. The Treasury Management function ensures that the Council’s cash is organised in 
accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet this 
service activity and the Council’s capital strategy. This will involve both the organisation of the cash 
flow and, where capital plans require, the organisation of approporiate borrowing facilities. The 
strategy covers the relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions 
and the annual investment strategy.

3.1 Current Portfolio Position

The overall Treasury Management portfolio as at 31st March 2018 and for the position as at 31st 
December 2018 are shown below for both borrowing and investments.

 TREASURY PORTFOLIO
 ACTUAL AT 31/3/18 CURRENT AT 31/12/18
 £m % £m %
Treasury Investments     
Banks 41.001 67.46 38 51.5
Building Societies 4.000 6.58 2 2.7
Local Authorities - 0.00 9 12.2
DMADF (H M Treasury) - 0.00 - -
Money Market Funds 9.77 16.08 10.929 14.8
Certificates of Deposit 6.003 9.88 10.002 13.6
Total Managed in-House 60.774 100 69.931 94.8
Bond Funds - - - -
Property Funds - - 3.831 5.2
Total Managed Externally - - 3.831 5.2
Total Treasury Investments 60.774 100 73.762 100
     
Treasury External Borrowing     
Local Authorities - - - -
PWLB 63.06 100 63.06 100
Total External Borrowing 63.06 100 63.06 100
     
Net Treasury 
Investments/(Borrowing) (2.286)  10.702  

Page 65



The Council’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised below. The table shows the actual 
external debt, against the underlying capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement - 
CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Treasury Portfolio Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
 £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
External Debt      

Debt at 1st April 63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060
Expected change in 
Debt - - - - -

Actual gross debt at 31st 
March 63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060
The Capital Financing 
Requirement 68.926 69.078 77.490 77.680 78.056

Under / (over) borrowing 5.866 6.018 14.430 14.620 14.996

Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure that the Council 
operates its activities within well defined limits. One of these is that the Council needs to ensure that 
its gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year 
plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2019/20 and the following two financial years. This 
allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that borrowing is not 
undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes.      
The Executive Director Finance (the Section 151 Officer) reports that the Council complied 
with this prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future. 
This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in this 
budget report.  

3.2.  Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity

The Operational Boundary - This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally 
expected to exceed. In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower 
or higher depending on the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund under-borrowing by 
other cash resources.

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22Operational Boundary
Estimate     

£m
Estimate     

£m
Estimate     

£m
Estimate     

£m
Borrowing 63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060
Other long term liabilities - - - -
Commercial Activities/non-
financial Investments  - - - -
Total 63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060

Page 66



The Authorised Limit for external debt – This is a key prudential indicator and represents a 
control on the maximum level of borrowing. This represents a legal limit beyond which external 
debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by the full Council. It reflects the 
level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not 
sustainable in the longer term.  

This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 
The Government retains an option to control either the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a 
specific council, although this power has not yet been exercised.

The Council is asked to approve the following Authorised Limit:

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22Authorised limit
Estimate     

£m
Estimate     

£m
Estimate     

£m
Estimate     

£m
Borrowing 83.444 84.642 84.832 85.208
Total 83.444 84.642 84.832 85.208

Separately, the Council was also limited to a maximum HRA CFR through the HRA self-financing 
regime – this was set at £79.407m but has now been repealed. This information is summarised 
graphically below: 

Page 67



3.3. Prospects for Interest Rates

A more detailed interest rate view and economic commentary are at ANNEXES 2 & 3. 

The Council has appointed Link Asset Services as its Treasury Advisor and part of their 
service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  The following table gives 
their central view.

The flow of generally positive economic statistics after the quarter ended 30 June meant that it 
came as no surprise that the MPC came to a decision on 2 August to make the first increase in 
Bank Rate above 0.5% since the financial crash, from 0.5% to 0.75%. Growth became increasingly 
strong during 2018 until slowing significantly during the last quarter. At their November quarterly 
Inflation Report meeting, the MPC left Bank Rate unchanged, but expressed some concern at the 
Chancellor’s fiscal stimulus in his Budget, which could increase inflationary pressures.  However, it 
is unlikely that the MPC would increase Bank Rate in February 2019, ahead of the deadline in 
March for Brexit. On a major assumption that Parliament and the EU agree a Brexit deal in the first 
quarter of 2019, then the next increase in Bank Rate is forecast to be in May 2019, followed by 
increases in February and November 2020, before ending up at 2.0% in February 2022.

The overall longer run future trend is for gilt yields, and consequently PWLB rates, to rise, albeit 
gently.  However, over about the last 25 years, we have been through a period of falling bond yields 
as inflation subsided to, and then stabilised at, much lower levels than before, and supported by 
central banks implementing substantial quantitative easing purchases of government and other 
debt after the financial crash of 2008.  Quantitative easing, conversely, also caused a rise in equity 
values as investors searched for higher returns and purchased riskier assets.  In 2016, we saw the 
start of a reversal of this trend with a sharp rise in bond yields after the US Presidential election in 
November 2016, with yields then rising further as a result of the big increase in the US government 
deficit aimed at stimulating even stronger economic growth. That policy change also created 
concerns around a significant rise in inflationary pressures in an economy which was already 
running at remarkably low levels of unemployment. Unsurprisingly, the Fed has continued on its 
series of robust responses to combat its perception of rising inflationary pressures by repeatedly 
increasing the Fed rate to reach 2.25 – 2.50% in December 2018.  It has also continued its policy of 
not fully reinvesting proceeds from bonds that it holds as a result of quantitative easing, when they 
mature.  We therefore saw US 10 year bond Treasury yields rise above 3.2% during October 2018 
and also investors causing a sharp fall in equity prices as they sold out of holding riskier assets. 
However, by early January 2019, US 10 year bond yields had fallen back considerably on fears that 
the Fed was being too aggressive in raising interest rates and was going to cause a recession. 
Equity prices have been very volatile on alternating good and bad news during this period.

Page 68



From time to time, gilt yields, and therefore PWLB rates, can be subject to exceptional levels of 
volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis, emerging market developments and sharp 
changes in investor sentiment. Such volatility could occur at any time during the forecast period.

Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences weighing 
on the UK. The above forecasts, (and MPC decisions), will be liable to further amendment 
depending on how economic data and developments in financial markets transpire over the next 
year. Geopolitical developments, especially in the EU, could also have a major impact. Forecasts 
for average investment earnings beyond the three-year time horizon will be heavily dependent on 
economic and political developments. 

Investment and borrowing rates

Investment returns are likely to remain low during 2019/20 but to be on a gently rising trend over 
the next few years.

Borrowing interest rates have been volatile so far in 2018-19 and while they were on a rising trend 
during the first half of the year, they have backtracked since then until early January.  The policy of 
avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has served well over the last few 
years.  However, this needs to be carefully reviewed to avoid incurring higher borrowing costs in the 
future when authorities may not be able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure 
and/or the refinancing of maturing debt.

There will remain a cost of carry, (the difference between higher borrowing costs and lower 
investment returns), to any new long-term borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash 
balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue cost.

3.4  Borrowing Strategy 

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position. This means that the capital 
borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully funded with loan debt as 
cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary 
measure. This strategy is prudent as investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an 
issue that needs to be considered.

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be adopted with the 
2019/20 treasury operations.  The Executive Director Finance will monitor  interest rates in financial 
markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances:

* if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and short term rates (e.g. 
due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession or of risks of deflation), then 
long term borrowings will be postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding 
into short term borrowing will be considered.

* if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in long and short term 
rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an acceleration in the rate of increase 
in central rates in the USA and UK, an increase in world economic activity or a sudden 
increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised.  Most likely, fixed 
rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in the 
next few years.

Any decisions will be reported to Council at the next available opportunity.

Page 69



3.5  Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need 

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be within forward 
approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that 
value for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds. 

Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior appraisal and 
subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting mechanism. 

3.6. Debt Rescheduling

As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term fixed interest rates, 
there may be potential opportunities to generate savings by switching from long term debt to short 
term debt.  However, these savings will need to be considered in the light of the current treasury 
position and the size of the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred). 

The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include: 

* the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings;
* helping to fulfil the treasury strategy; and
* enhance the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the balance of 

volatility).

Consideration will also be given to identifying if there is any residual potential for making savings by 
running down investment balances to repay debt prematurely as short term rates on investments 
are likely to be lower than rates paid on current debt.  

All rescheduling will be reported to the Council, at the earliest meeting following its action.

3.7 Municipal Bond Agency

It is possible that the  Municipal Bond Agency will be offering loans to local authorities in the  future. 
The Agency hopes that the borrowing rates will be lower than those offered by the Public Works 
Loan Board (PWLB). The Council may make use of this new source of borrowing as and when 
appropriate.

4. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY

4.1  Investment Policy – Management of Risk

The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and 
non-financial investments. This report deals solely with financial investments (as managed by the 
treasury management team). Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of income 
yielding assets, are covered in the Capital Strategy.

The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following:-

 MHCLG’s  Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”)

Page 70



 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral 
Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”)  

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018

The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second, and then yield 
(return).

The above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA place a high priority on the management of risk. 
This Council has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk and defines its risk appetite by the 
following means:-

1) Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of highly 
creditworthy counterparties. This also enables diversification and thus avoidance of 
concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the Short Term and 
Long Term ratings.

2) Other Information: Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it 
is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and 
macro basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in which institutions 
operate. The assessment will also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the 
markets. To achieve this consideration the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a 
monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information on top 
of the credit ratings. 

3) Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other such 
information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most robust scrutiny 
process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties.

4) This Council has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the Treasury 
Management team, are authorised to use. There are two lists in Annex 4 under the 
categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments.

a) Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and 
subject to a maturity limit of one year.

b) Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may 
be for periods in excess of one year, and/or are more complex 
instruments which require greater consideration by members and officers 
before being authorised for use.

5) Non-specified investments limit. The Council has determined that it will limit the maximum 
total exposure to non-specified investments as being 25% of the total investment portfolio 
(see paragraph 4.3)

6) Lending limits (amounts and maturity) for each counterparty will be set though applying the 
matrix table in paragraph 4.2

7) Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in 4.2

Page 71



8) This Council will set a limit for the amount of its investments which are invested for longer 
than 365 days (see paragraph 4.4)

9) Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with a specified minimum 
sovereign rating (see paragraph 4.3)

10) This Council has engaged external consultants (see paragraph 1.5) to provide expert 
advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, liquidity and yield, given the 
risk appetite of this Council in the context of the expected level of cash blances and need for 
liquidity throughout the year.

11) All investments will be denominated in sterling.

12) As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2018/19 under IFRS 9, this Council will 
consider the implications of investment instruments which could result in an adverse 
movement in the value of the amount invested and resultant charges at the end of the year 
to the General Fund. in November 2018, MHCLG conculded constulation for a temporary 
override to allow English local authorities time to adjust their portfolio of all pooled 
investments by announcing a statutory override to delay implementation of IFRS 9 for five 
years commencing 1st April 2018.

This Council will also pursue value for money in treasury management and will monitor the yield 
from investment income against appropriate benchmarks for investment performance (see 
paragraph 4.5). Regular monitoring of investment performance will be carried out during the year.

Changes in risk management policy from last year. The above criteria are unchanged from last 
year.

4.2 Creditworthiness Policy 

This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services. This service 
employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating 
agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. The credit ratings of counterparties are 
supplemented with the following overlays: 

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;
 CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings;
 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries.

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in a weighted 
scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which the end product 
is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  
These colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for investments.   

Page 72



Y Pi1 Pi2 P B O R G N/C
1 1.25 1.5 2 3 4 5 6 7

Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 2yrs Up to 1yr Up to 1yr Up to 6mths Up to 100days No Colour

The Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands: 

 Yellow 5 years *

 Dark pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25

 Light pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5

 Purple 2 years

 Blue 1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks)

 Orange 1 year

 Red 6 months

 Green 100 days  

 No colour not to be used 

The Link Asset Services’ creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information other than just 
primary ratings. Furthermore, by using a risk weighted scoring system, it does not give undue 
preponderance to just one agency’s ratings.

Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council uses will be a short term rating (Fitch or 
equivalents) of   F1 and a  Long Term rating of A -. There may be occasions when the counterparty 
ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In 
these instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical 
market information, to support their use.

All credit ratings will be monitored on a daily basis/as and when notified. The Council is alerted to 
changes to ratings of all three agencies through its use of the Link  Asset Services’ creditworthiness 
service: 

 if a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately;

 in addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other market 
data on a daily basis via its Passport website, provided exclusively to it by Link Asset 
Services. Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an institution or removal 
from the Council’s lending list.

Page 73



Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this Council will also 
use market data, market information and information on any external support for banks, to help 
support its decision making process.

 Counterparty Colour (and long 
term rating where 

applicable)

Money 
and/or %

Limit

Time 

Limit

Banks/Building Societies * Yellow £10m 5yrs

Banks/Building Societies Purple £10m 2 yrs

Banks/Building Societies Orange £10m 1 yr

Banks – part nationalised Blue £10m 1 yr

Banks/Building Societies Red £10m 6 mths

Banks/Building Societies green £10m 100 days

Banks/Building Societies No colour Not to be 
used

Council’s banker (where “No 
Colour”)

 No colour £2m 1 day

DMADF UK sovereign 
rating 

£10m 6 months

Local authorities n/a £10m 5yrs

Money Market Funds CNAV AAA £10m liquid

Money Market Funds LVNAV AAA £10m liquid

Money Market Funds VNAV AAA £10m liquid

* Please note: the yellow colour category is for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, money 
market funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK Government debt – see  Annex 
4.

Page 74



UK banks – ring fencing

The largest UK banks, (those with more than £25bn of retail / Small and Medium-sized 
Enterprise (SME) deposits), are required, by UK law, to separate core retail banking services 
from their investment and international banking activities by 1st January 2019. This is known 
as “ring-fencing”. Whilst smaller banks with less than £25bn in deposits are exempt, they can 
choose to opt up. Several banks are very close to the threshold already and so may come into 
scope in the future regardless.

Ring-fencing is a regulatory initiative created in response to the global financial crisis. It 
mandates the separation of retail and SME deposits from investment banking, in order to 
improve the resilience and resolvability of banks by changing their structure. In general, 
simpler activities offered from within a ring-fenced bank (RFB), will be focused on lower risk, 
day-to-day core transactions, whilst more complex and “riskier” activities are required to be 
housed in a separate entity, a non-ring-fenced bank (NRFB). This is intended to ensure that an 
entity’s core activities are not adversely affected by the acts or omissions of other members of 
its group.

While the structure of the banks included within this process may have changed, the 
fundamentals of credit assessment have not. The Council will continue to assess the new-
formed entities in the same way that it does others and those with sufficiently high ratings, (and 
any other metrics considered), will be considered for investment purposes.

4.3 Country Limits

Due care will be taken to consider the exposure of the Council’s total investment portfolio to non-
specified investments, countries, groups and sectors.

a) Non-specified investment limit. The Council has determined that it will limit the maximum 
total exposure to non-specified investments as being 25% of the total investment portfolio.

b) Country limit. The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from 
the UK and from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of ‘AA-‘ from Fitch. The list 
of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of this report are shown in 
Annex 5. This list will be added to, or deducted from, by officers should ratings change in 
accordance with this policy.

c) Other limits. In addition:-

 no more than 25% will be placed with any non-UK country at any time;

 a limit of £14m per group will apply to a group of companies; 

 sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness.

4.4  Investment Strategy

In-house funds. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow 
requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments up to 12 
months).   Greater returns are usually obtainable by investing for longer periods. While most cash 
balances are required in order to manager the ups and downs of cash flows, where cash sums can 
be identified that could be invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained from longer term 
investments will be carefully assessed.

Page 75



 If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time horizon being 
considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most investments as being short 
term or variable.

 Conversely, if is is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time period, 
consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently obtainable, for longer periods.

Investment Returns Expectations.  

On the assumption that the UK and EU agree a Brexit deal in Spring 2019, then Bank Rate is 
forecast to increase steadily but slowly over the next few years to reach 2.00% by quarter 1 2022.  
Bank Rate forecasts for financial year ends (March) are: 

 2018/19  0.75%
 2019/20  1.25%
 2020/21  1.50%
 2021/22  2.00%   

The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed for periods 
up to about three months during each financial year are as follows: 

Year Now

2018/19 0.75%

2019/20 1.00%

2020/21 1.50%

2021/22 1.75%

2022/23 1.75%

2023/24 2.00%

Later years 2.50%

The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably neutral.

The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates are probably also 
even and are dependent on how strong GDP growth turns out, how slowly inflation pressures 
subside, and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move forward positively.  

Investment Treasury Indicator and Limit - total principal funds invested for greater than 365 
days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the need 
for early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after each year-end.

Page 76



The Council is asked to approve the treasury indicator and limit: -

Upper limit for principal sums invested for longer than 365 days
 2018/19     

£m
2019/20     

£m
2020/21     

£m
Principal sums invested > 365 
days 20.000 6.592 6.301

Current investments as at 
31.12.18 in excess of 1 year 
maturing in each year

- - -

For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its business reserve instant 
access and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits (overnight to 100 days) 
in order to benefit from the compounding of interest.

4.5 Investment Risk Benchmarking

This Council will use an investment benchmark to assess the investment performance of its 
investment portfolio of 3 month LIBID. 

4.6 End of year investment report

At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as part of its Annual 
Treasury Report. 

Page 77



5. ANNEXES  

1. Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

2. Interest Rate Forecasts

3. Economic Background

4. TMP 1 Credit & Counterparty Risk Management

5. Approved Countries for investments

6. Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation

7. The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer

8. Treasury Management Practices

9. Treasury Management Glossary of Terms

10. Prudential Indicators – Definitions/Interpretation

Page 78



ANNEX 1 
THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS 2018/19 – 2020/21 
The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management activity. 
The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, which are 
designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans.

1 Capital expenditure
A breakdown of capital expenditure by Directorate is detailed within the Performance 
Healthcheck reported quarterly to Cabinet.

2 Affordability Prudential Indicators

The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential indicators, 
but within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess the affordability of the 
capital investment plans. These provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment 
plans on the Council’s overall finances. The Council is asked to approve the following 
indicators:

a)  Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream.

This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream (net cost of services).

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22Ratio of financing 
costs to net revenue 
stream.

Actual % Estimate 
%

Estimate % Estimate 
%

Estimate 
%

Non-HRA (2.84)% (1.77)% (3.01)% (2.56)% (2.58)%

HRA 28.93% 39.13% 29.39% 29.25% 28.47%
Commercial 
Activities/non-Financial 
Investments

0.00% (2.06)% (3.84)% (6.94)% (6.89)%

The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in this budget 
report.

Commercial Activities/non-Financial Investments includes investments in property funds and 
the return on the Gungate Site purchase.

Page 79



b) Housing Revenue Account Debt Ratios 

HRA Debt to Revenues 
Ratio

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

 Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
HRA Debt £m * 68.041 68.041 75.255 75.255 75.255
HRA Revenues £m 18.011 17.752 17.823 17.909 18.325
Ratio of Debt to Revenues 
% 378 383 422 420 411

* The HRA’s notional debt borrowing requirement

 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
HRA Debt per Dwelling Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
HRA Debt £m 68.041 68.041 75.255 75.255 75.255
Number of HRA Dwellings 4,316 4,206 4,279 4,229 4,179
Debt per Dwelling £'000 15.767 16.177 17.587 17.795 18.008

3 Maturity Structure of Borrowing

These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due 
for refinancing, and are required for upper and lower limits.

The Council is asked to approve the following treasury indicators and limits:

Maturity structure of Fixed Interest Rate borrowing 
2019/20
Timeline Lower Upper
Under 12 months 0% 20%
12 months to 2 years 0% 20%
2 years to 5 years 0% 25%
5 years to 10 years 0% 75%
10 years and above 0% 100%

Maturity structure of Variable Interest Rate borrowing 
2019/20
Timeline Lower Upper
Under 12 months 0% 20%
12 months to 2 years 0% 20%
2 years to 5 years 0% 25%
5 years to 10 years 0% 75%
10 years and above 0% 100%

Page 80



4 Control of Interest Rate Exposure

Please see paragraphs 3.3, 3.4 and 4.4

Page 81



ANNEX 2 Interest Rate Forecasts 2019 – 2022

PWLB forecasts are based on PWLB certainty rates.

P
age 82



ANNEX 3 ECONOMIC BACKGROUND

GLOBAL OUTLOOK.  World growth has been doing reasonably well, aided by strong growth in 
the US.  However, US growth is likely to fall back in 2019 and, together with weakening economic 
activity in China and the eurozone, overall world growth is likely to weaken.

Inflation has been weak during 2018 but, at long last, unemployment falling to remarkably low 
levels in the US and UK has led to a marked acceleration of wage inflation. The US Fed has 
therefore increased rates nine times and the Bank of England twice.  However, the ECB is unlikely 
to start raising rates until late in 2019 at the earliest.  

KEY RISKS - central bank monetary policy measures

Looking back on nearly ten years since the financial crash of 2008 when liquidity suddenly dried up 
in financial markets, it can be assessed that central banks’ monetary policy measures to counter 
the sharp world recession were successful. The key monetary policy measures they used were a 
combination of lowering central interest rates and flooding financial markets with liquidity, 
particularly through unconventional means such as quantitative easing (QE), where central banks 
bought large amounts of central government debt and smaller sums of other debt.

The key issue now is that that period of stimulating economic recovery and warding off the threat 
of deflation is coming towards its close. A new period is well advanced in the US, and started more 
recently in the UK, of reversing those measures i.e. by raising central rates and (for the US) 
reducing central banks’ holdings of government and other debt. These measures are now required 
in order to stop the trend of a reduction in spare capacity in the economy and of unemployment 
falling to such low levels, that the re-emergence of inflation is viewed as a major risk. It is, therefore, 
crucial that central banks get their timing right and do not cause shocks to market expectations that 
could destabilise financial markets. In particular, a key risk is that because QE-driven purchases of 
bonds drove up the price of government debt, and therefore caused a sharp drop in income yields, 
this also encouraged investors into a search for yield and into investing in riskier assets such as 
equities. Consequently, prices in both bond and equity markets rose to historically high valuation 
levels simultaneously. This meant that both asset categories were exposed to the risk of a sharp 
downward correction and we did indeed see a sharp fall in equity values in the last quarter of 
2018. It is important, therefore, that central banks only gradually unwind their holdings of bonds in 
order to prevent destabilising the financial markets. It is also likely that the timeframe for central 
banks unwinding their holdings of QE debt purchases will be over several years. They need to 
balance their timing to neither squash economic recovery, by taking too rapid and too strong action, 
or, conversely, let inflation run away by taking action that was too slow and/or too weak. The 
potential for central banks to get this timing and strength of action wrong are now key 
risks.  At the time of writing, (early January 2019), financial markets are very concerned that the 
Fed is being too aggressive with its policy for raising interest rates and is likely to cause a recession 
in the US economy.

The world economy also needs to adjust to a sharp change in liquidity creation over the last five 
years where the US has moved from boosting liquidity by QE purchases, to reducing its holdings of 
debt, (currently about $50bn per month).  In addition, the European Central Bank ended its QE 
purchases in December 2018. 

Page 83



UK. The flow of positive economic statistics since the end of the first quarter of 2018 has 
shown that pessimism was overdone about the poor growth in quarter 1 when adverse 
weather caused a temporary downward blip.  Quarter 1 at 0.1% growth in GDP was followed 
by a return to 0.4% in quarter 2 and by a strong performance in quarter 3 of +0.6%.  However, 
growth in quarter 4 is expected to weaken significantly.

At their November quarterly Inflation Report meeting, the MPC repeated their well-worn phrase 
that future Bank Rate increases would be gradual and would rise to a much lower equilibrium 
rate, (where monetary policy is neither expansionary or contractionary), than before the crash; 
indeed they gave a figure for this of around 2.5% in ten years’ time, but declined to give a 
medium term forecast. However, with so much uncertainty around Brexit, they warned that the 
next move could be up or down, even if there was a disorderly Brexit. While it would be 
expected that Bank Rate could be cut if there was a significant fall in GDP growth as a result of 
a disorderly Brexit, so as to provide a stimulus to growth, they warned they could also raise 
Bank Rate in the same scenario if there was a boost to inflation from a devaluation of sterling, 
increases in import prices and more expensive goods produced in the UK replacing cheaper 
goods previously imported, and so on. In addition, the Chancellor could potentially provide 
fiscal stimulus to support economic growth, though at the cost of increasing the budget deficit 
above currently projected levels.

It is unlikely that the MPC would increase Bank Rate in February 2019, ahead of the deadline 
in March for Brexit.  Getting parliamentary approval for a Brexit agreement on both sides of the 
Channel will take well into spring 2019.  However, in view of the hawkish stance of the MPC at 
their November meeting, the next increase in Bank Rate is now forecast to be in May 2019, 
(on the assumption that a Brexit deal is agreed by both the UK and the EU).  The following 
increases are then forecast to be in February and November 2020 before ending up at 2.0% in 
February 2022.

Inflation.  The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation has been falling from a peak of 
3.1% in November 2017 to 2.1% in December 2018. In the November Bank of England quarterly 
Inflation Report, inflation was forecast to still be marginally above its 2% inflation target two years 
ahead (at about 2.1%), given a scenario of minimal increases in Bank Rate. 

As for the labour market figures in October, unemployment at 4.1% was marginally above a 43 
year low of 4% on the Independent Labour Organisation measure.  A combination of job vacancies 
hitting an all-time high, together with negligible growth in total employment numbers, indicates that 
employers are now having major difficulties filling job vacancies with suitable staff.  It was therefore 
unsurprising that wage inflation picked up to 3.3%, (3 month average regular pay, excluding 
bonuses). This meant that in real terms (i.e. wage rates less CPI inflation), earnings are currently 
growing by about 1.2%, the highest level since 2009. This increase in household spending power is 
likely to feed through into providing some support to the overall rate of economic growth in the 
coming months. This tends to confirm that the MPC was right to start on a cautious increase in 
Bank Rate in August as it views wage inflation in excess of 3% as increasing inflationary pressures 
within the UK economy.   

In the political arena, the Brexit deal put forward by the Conservative minority government was 
defeated on 15th January. It is unclear at the time of writing how this situation will move forward.  
However, our central position is that Prime Minister May’s government will endure, despite various 
setbacks, along the route to reaching an orderly Brexit, though the risks are increasing that it may 
not be possible to get full agreement by the UK and EU before 29th March 2019, in which case this 
withdrawal date is likely to be pushed back to a new date.  If, however, the UK faces a general 

Page 84



election in the next 12 months, this could result in a potential loosening of monetary and fiscal 
policy and therefore medium to longer dated gilt yields could rise on the expectation of a weak 
pound and concerns around inflation picking up.

USA.  President Trump’s massive easing of fiscal policy is fuelling a (temporary) boost in 
consumption, which has generated an upturn in the rate of strong growth, which rose from 2.2% 
(annualised rate) in quarter 1 to 4.2% in quarter 2 and 3.5% (3.0% y/y) in quarter 3, but also an 
upturn in inflationary pressures.  The strong growth in employment numbers and the reduction in 
the unemployment rate to 3.9%, near to a recent 49 year low, has fed through to an upturn in wage 
inflation which hit 3.2% in November. However, CPI inflation overall fell to 2.2% in November and 
looks to be on a falling trend to drop below the Fed’s target of 2% during 2019.  The Fed has 
continued on its series of increases in interest rates with another 0.25% increase in December to 
between 2.25% and 2.50%, this being the fifth increase in 2018 and the ninth in this cycle.  
However, they did also reduce their forecast for further increases from three to two. This latest 
increase compounded investor fears that the Fed is overdoing the speed and level of increases in 
rates and that it is going to cause a US recession as a result.  There is also much evidence in 
previous monetary policy cycles of the Fed’s series of increases doing exactly that.  Consequently, 
we have seen stock markets around the world falling under the weight of fears around the Fed’s 
actions, the trade war between the US and China, and an expectation that world growth will slow. 

The tariff war between the US and China has been generating a lot of heat during 2018, but it is not 
expected that the current level of actual action would have much in the way of a significant effect on 
US or world growth. However, there is a risk of escalation if an agreement is not reached soon 
between the US and China. 

Eurozone.  Growth was 0.4% in quarters 1 and 2 but fell back to 0.2% in quarter 3, though this was 
probably just a temporary dip.  In particular, data from Germany has been mixed and it could be 
negatively impacted by US tariffs on a significant part of manufacturing exports e.g. cars.   For that 
reason, although growth is still expected to be in the region of nearly 2% for 2018, the horizon is 
less clear than it seemed just a short while ago. Having halved its quantitative easing purchases of 
debt in October 2018 to €15bn per month, the European Central Bank ended all further purchases 
in December 2018. The ECB is forecasting inflation to be a little below its 2% top limit through the 
next three years so it may find it difficult to warrant a start on raising rates by the end of 2019 if the 
growth rate of the EU economy is on a weakening trend. 

China. Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite repeated rounds of 
central bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. Major progress still needs to be made to 
eliminate excess industrial capacity and the stock of unsold property, and to address the level of 
non-performing loans in the banking and credit systems. Progress has been made in reducing the 
rate of credit creation, particularly from the shadow banking sector, which is feeding through into 
lower economic growth. There are concerns that official economic statistics are inflating the 
published rate of growth.

Japan - has been struggling to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth and to get inflation up to 
its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little progress on 
fundamental reform of the economy. It is likely that loose monetary policy will endure for some 
years yet to try to stimulate growth and modest inflation.

Emerging countries. Argentina and Turkey are currently experiencing major headwinds and are 
facing challenges in external financing requirements well in excess of their reserves of foreign 

Page 85



exchange. However, these countries are small in terms of the overall world economy (around 1% 
each), so the fallout from the expected recessions in these countries will be minimal.

INTEREST RATE FORECASTS

The interest rate forecasts provided by Link Asset Services in paragraph 3.2 are predicated on an 
assumption of an agreement being reached on Brexit between the UK and the EU. On this 
basis, while GDP growth is likely to be subdued in 2019 due to all the uncertainties around Brexit 
depressing consumer and business confidence, an agreement is likely to lead to a boost to the rate 
of growth in 2020 which could, in turn, increase inflationary pressures in the economy and so cause 
the Bank of England to resume a series of gentle increases in Bank Rate. Just how fast and how 
far those increases will occur and rise to, will be data dependent. The forecasts in this report 
assume a modest recovery in the rate and timing of stronger growth and in the corresponding 
response by the Bank in raising rates. 

 In the event of an orderly non-agreement exit, it is likely that the Bank of England would 
take action to cut Bank Rate from 0.75% in order to help economic growth deal with the 
adverse effects of this situation. This is also likely to cause short to medium term gilt yields 
to fall. 

 If there was a disorderly Brexit, then any cut in Bank Rate would be likely to last for a 
longer period and also depress short and medium gilt yields correspondingly. It is also 
possible that the government could act to protect economic growth by implementing fiscal 
stimulus. 

However there would appear to be a majority consensus in the Commons against any form of non-
agreement exit so the chance of this occurring has now substantially diminished.

The balance of risks to the UK

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably neutral.

 The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates are 
probably also even and are broadly dependent on how strong GDP growth turns out, 
how slowly inflation pressures subside, and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move 
forward positively. 

One risk that is both an upside and downside risk, is that all central banks are now working in 
very different economic conditions than before the 2008 financial crash as  there has been a 
major increase in consumer and other debt due to the exceptionally low levels of borrowing 
rates that have prevailed for ten years since 2008. This means that the neutral rate of interest 
in an economy (i.e. the rate that is neither expansionary nor deflationary) is difficult to 
determine definitively in this new environment, although central banks have made statements 
that they expect it to be much lower than before 2008. Central banks could therefore either 
over or under do increases in central interest rates.

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include: 

 Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major downturn in the 
rate of growth.

Page 86



 Bank of England monetary policy takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next 
three years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth and increases in 
inflation to be weaker than we currently anticipate. 

 A resurgence of the eurozone sovereign debt crisis, possibly in Italy, due to its high 
level of government debt, low rate of economic growth and vulnerable banking system, 
and due to the election in March of a government which has made a lot of anti-austerity 
noise. The EU rejected the initial proposed Italian budget and demanded cuts in 
government spending which the Italian government initially refused. However, a fudge 
was subsequently agreed, but only by delaying the planned increases in expenditure to 
a later year. This can has therefore only been kicked down the road to a later time. The 
rating agencies have started on downgrading Italian debt to one notch above junk level.  
If Italian debt were to fall below investment grade, many investors would be unable to 
hold it.  Unsurprisingly, investors are becoming increasingly concerned by the words 
and actions of the Italian government and consequently Italian bond yields have risen – 
at a time when the government faces having to refinance large amounts of debt 
maturing in 2019.

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks. Italian banks are particularly vulnerable; 
one factor is that they hold a high level of Italian government debt - debt which is falling 
in value.  This is therefore undermining their capital ratios and raises the question of 
whether they will need to raise fresh capital to plug the gap.

 German minority government.  In the German general election of September 2017, 
Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable minority position dependent on the 
fractious support of the SPD party, as a result of the rise in popularity of the anti-
immigration AfD party. Then in October 2018, the results of the Bavarian and Hesse 
state elections radically undermined the SPD party and showed a sharp fall in support 
for the CDU. As a result, the SPD is reviewing whether it can continue to support a 
coalition that is so damaging to its electoral popularity. After the result of the Hesse 
state election, Angela Merkel announced that she would not stand for re-election as 
CDU party leader at her party’s convention in December 2018 (a new party leader has 
now been elected). However, this makes little practical difference as she is still 
expected to aim to continue for now as the Chancellor. However, there are five more 
state elections coming up in 2019 and EU parliamentary elections in May/June; these 
could result in a further loss of electoral support for both the CDU and SPD which could 
also undermine her leadership.   

 Other minority eurozone governments. Spain, Portugal, Ireland, the Netherlands and 
Belgium all have vulnerable minority governments dependent on coalitions which could 
prove fragile. Sweden is also struggling to form a government due to the anti-
immigration party holding the balance of power, and which no other party is willing to 
form a coalition with. The Belgian coalition collapsed in December 2018 but a minority 
caretaker government has been appointed until the May EU wide general elections.

 Austria, the Czech Republic and Hungary now form a strongly anti-immigration bloc 
within the EU while Italy, in 2018, also elected a strongly anti-immigration government.  
Elections to the EU parliament are due in May/June 2019.

 Further increases in interest rates in the US could spark a sudden flight of investment 
funds from more risky assets e.g. shares, into bonds yielding a much improved yield.  
Throughout the last quarter of 2018, we saw sharp falls in equity markets interspersed 
with occasional partial rallies.  Emerging countries which have borrowed heavily in 
dollar denominated debt could be particularly exposed to this risk of an investor flight to 
safe havens e.g. UK gilts.

 There are concerns around the level of US corporate debt which has swollen 
massively during the period of low borrowing rates in order to finance mergers and 

Page 87



acquisitions. This has resulted in the debt of many large corporations being downgraded 
to a BBB credit rating, close to junk status. Indeed, 48% of total investment grade 
corporate debt is now rated at BBB. If such corporations fail to generate profits and 
cash flow to reduce their debt levels as expected, this could tip their debt into junk 
ratings which will increase their cost of financing and further negatively impact profits 
and cash flow.

 Geopolitical risks, especially North Korea, but also in Europe and the Middle East, 
which could lead to increasing safe haven flows. 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates

 Brexit – if both sides were to agree by 29th March a compromise that quickly removed 
all threats of economic and political disruption and so led to an early boost to UK 
economic growth. 

 The Fed causing a sudden shock in financial markets through misjudging the pace 
and strength of increases in its Fed Funds Rate and in the pace and strength of reversal 
of QE, which then leads to a fundamental reassessment by investors of the relative 
risks of holding bonds, as opposed to equities.  This could lead to a major flight from 
bonds to equities and a sharp increase in bond yields in the US, which could then spill 
over into impacting bond yields around the world.

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate 
and therefore allows inflation pressures to build up too strongly within the UK economy, 
which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we 
currently expect. 

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to sustained 
significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt 
yields. 

Brexit timetable and process

 March 2017: UK government notified the European Council of its intention to leave under 
the Treaty on European Union Article 50 on 29 March 2019.

 25.11.18 EU27 leaders endorsed the withdrawal agreement
 Dec 2018 vote in the UK Parliament on the agreement was postponed
 21.12.18 – 8.1.19 UK parliamentary recess
 15.1.19 Brexit deal defeated in the Commons vote by a large margin
 By 29.3.19 second vote (?) in UK parliament
 By 29.3.19 if the UK Parliament approves a deal, then ratification by the EU Parliament 

requires a simple majority
 By 29.3.19 if the UK and EU parliaments agree the deal, the EU Council needs to 

approve the deal; 20 countries representing 65% of the EU population must agree
 29.3.19 Either the UK leaves the EU, or asks the EU for agreement to an extension of 

the Article 50 period if the UK Parliament has been unable to agree on a Brexit deal. 
 29.3.19 if an agreement is reached with the EU on the terms of Brexit, then this will be 

followed by a proposed transitional period ending around December 2020.  

Page 88



 UK continues as a full EU member until March 2019 with access to the single market and 
tariff free trade between the EU and UK. Different sectors of the UK economy may leave the 
single market and tariff free trade at different times during the transitional period.

 The UK and EU would attempt to negotiate, among other agreements, a bi-lateral trade 
agreement over that period. 

 The UK would aim for a negotiated agreed withdrawal from the EU, although the UK could 
also exit without any such agreements in the event of a breakdown of negotiations.

 If the UK exits without an agreed deal with the EU, World Trade Organisation rules and 
tariffs could apply to trade between the UK and EU - but this is not certain.

 On full exit from the EU: the UK parliament would repeal the 1972 European Communities 
Act.

Page 89



ANNEX 4 TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICE (TMP1) CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY 
RISK MANAGEMENT

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up 
to maximum of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where applicable. 

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not meet the specified 
investment criteria. A maximum of 25% will be held in aggregate in non-specified investments.

A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the institution, and, 
depending on the type of investment made, it will fall into one of the above categories.

The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles are:

Counterparty
 Minimum credit 
criteria / colour 
band

£ limit per 
institution Max. maturity period

DMADF – UK Government N/A £10m 6 months

UK Government gilts UK sovereign 
rating £10m 12 months 

UK Government Treasury bills UK sovereign 
rating £10m 12 months 

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks AAA £10m 6 months

Money Market Funds  CNAV AAA £10m Liquid

Money Market Funds  LNVAV AAA £10m Liquid

Money Market Funds  VNAV AAA £10m Liquid

Local authorities N/A £10m
12 months  

Term deposits with banks and 
building societies

Blue

Orange

Red

Green

No Colour

£10m

12 months 

12 months 

 6 months

100 days

Not for use

Page 90



Counterparty
 Minimum credit 
criteria / colour 
band

£ limit per 
institution Max. maturity period

CDs or corporate bonds  with 
banks and building societies

Blue

Orange

Red

Green

No Colour

£10m

12 months 

12 months 

 6 months

100 days

Not for use

Gilt funds UK sovereign 
rating £10m

UK Part Nationalised Banks Blue £10m

Non-Specified Investments

Property Funds  - the use of 
these instruments can be 
deemed as capital expenditure 
and as such will be an 
application (spending) of capital 
resources

£10m

Limit will be set based 
on level of reserves 
and balances going 
forward and 
appropriate due 
diligence will be 
undertaken before 
investment of this type

Wider Investment Funds - the 
use of these instruments can be 
deemed as capital expenditure 
and as such will be an 
application (spending) of capital 
resources

£10m

Limit will be set based 
on level of reserves 
and balances going 
forward and 
appropriate due 
diligence will be 
undertaken before 
investment of this type

Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may differ from the underlying 
cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To ensure that the 
Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which may arise from these differences, we 
will review the accounting implications of new transactions before they are undertaken.

Page 91



ANNEX 5 APPROVED COUNTRIES FOR INVESTMENT

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher (showing the 
lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P) and also (except - at the time of writing – for Hong 
Kong, Norway and Luxembourg) have banks operating in sterling markets which have credit 
ratings of green or above in the Link Asset Services credit worthiness service.

Based on lowest available rating

AAA                     
 Australia
 Canada
 Denmark
 Germany
 Luxembourg
 Netherlands
 Norway
 Singapore
 Sweden
 Switzerland

AA+
 Finland 
 U.S.A.

AA
 Abu Dhabi (UAE)
 France
 Hong Kong
 U.K. *

AA-

 Belgium

 Qatar

 (Per Link Asset Services  8/1/19)

* At its meeting of the 15th September 2009, full Council approved a recommendation that;

‘authorises the use of institutions currently supported by the UK Government should its 
Sovereign rating be downgraded below the current requirement for a ‘AAA’ rating by all 
three rating agencies’
 this approval continues to form part of the strategy in 2018/19.

Page 92



ANNEX 6 TREASURY MANAGEMENT SCHEME OF DELEGATION

 (i) Full Council

 receiving and reviewing reports on Treasury Management policies, practices and activities.
 approval of annual strategy.
 approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, Treasury Management 

Policy statement and Treasury Management practices.
 budget consideration and approval.
 approval of the division of responsibilities.
 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on recommendations.

(ii) Cabinet

 receiving and reviewing Treasury Management policy statement and Treasury Management 
practices and making recommendations to the full Council.

 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and making recommendations to the full 
Council.

 approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of appointment.

(iii) Audit and Governance Committee

 reviewing the Treasury Management policy and procedures and making recommendations 
to the Cabinet.

 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring and making recommendations to the Cabinet.

Page 93



ANNEX 7 THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT ROLE OF THE SECTION 151 OFFICER

The S151 (responsible) Officer is responsible for
 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing the 

same regularly, and monitoring compliance
 submitting regular treasury management policy reports
 submitting budgets and budget variations
 receiving and reviewing management information reports
 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function
 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective 

division of responsibilities within the treasury management function
 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit
 recommending the appointment of external service providers 
 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, non-

financial investments and treasury management, with a long term timeframe
 ensuring that the capital strategy is sustainable, affordable and prudent in the long-term and 

provides value for money
 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial 

investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority
 ensuring that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on non-

financial assets and their financing
 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not undertake a 

level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of risk compared to its 
financial resources

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, monitoring and 
ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long term liabilities

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees 

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures taken 
on by an authority

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally provided, to 
carry out the above

 creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non treasury 
investments will be carried out and managed, to include the following  -

o Risk management (TMP1), including investment and risk management criteria for 
any material non-treasury investment portfolios;

o Performance measurement and management (TMP2), including methodology 
and criteria for assessing the performance and success of non-treasury 
investments;         

o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5), including a statement of 
the governance requirements for decision making in relation to non-treasury 

Page 94



investments; and arrangements to ensure that appropriate professional due 
diligence is carried out to support decision making;

o Reporting and management information (TMP6), including where and how often 
monitoring reports are taken;

o Training and qualifications (TMP10), including how the relevant knowledge and 
skills in relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged. 

Page 95



ANNEX 8

TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 

The Treasury Management Practices document (TMPs) forms detailed operational procedures and 
processes for the Treasury Management function. This document can be found on the Council’s 
Internet by following the following link;

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/treasury-practices

 and clicking on the TMPs folder.

The items below are summaries of the individual TMPs which the Council has to produce and 
adopt under the Treasury Code of Practice.

TMP1 : RISK MANAGEMENT

General Statement

The Section 151 Officer will design, implement and monitor all arrangements for the identification, 
management and control of Treasury Management risk; will report at least annually on the 
adequacy / suitability of the arrangements and will report, as a matter of urgency, the 
circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the Council’s objectives. The reports will 
be in accordance with the procedures contained in TMP6.

1.1 Credit and Counterparty Risk Management

Credit and counter-party risk is the risk of failure by a counterparty to meet its contractual 
obligations to the organisation under an investment, borrowing, capital project or partnership 
financing, particularly as a result of the counterparty’s diminished creditworthiness, and the resulting 
detrimental effect on the organisation’s capital or current (revenue) resources.

This organisation regards a key objective of its Treasury Management activities to be the 
security of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its counterparty lists and 
limits reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with which funds may be deposited, and 
will limit its investment activities to the instruments, methods and techniques referred to in 
TMP4 Approved Instruments Methods and Techniques and detailed in the TMP Operational 
document.

It also recognises the need to have, and will therefore maintain, a formal counterparty policy in 
respect of those organisations from which it may borrow, or with whom it may enter into other 
financing arrangements.

1.2 Liquidity Risk Management

This is the risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective management of 
liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the organisation’s business/service 
objectives will be thereby compromised.

Page 96

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/treasury-practices
http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/treasury-practices


This organisation will ensure it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, borrowing 
arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to have the level of funds 
available to it which are necessary for the achievement of its business/service objectives. This 
organisation will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business case for doing so 
and will only do so for the current capital programme or to finance future debt maturities.

1.3 Interest Rate Risk Management

The risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest rates create an unexpected or unbudgeted burden 
on the organisation’s finances, against which the organisation has failed to protect itself adequately.

This organisation will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to containing 
its interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance with the amounts provided in its 
budgetary arrangements as amended in accordance with TMP6 Reporting requirements and 
management information arrangements.

It will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment instruments, 
methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the 
same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially 
advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates. This should be the subject to the 
consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or budgetary implications.

1.4 Exchange Rate Risk Management

The risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates create an unexpected or unbudgeted burden on 
the organisation’s finances, against which the organisation has failed to protect itself adequately.

The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates so as to minimise any 
detrimental impact on its budgeted income/expenditure levels.

1,5 Inflation Rate Risk Management

Inflation risk, also called purchasing power risk, is the chance that cash flows from an investment 
won’t be worth as much in the future because of changes in purchasing power due to inflation. 

The Council will keep under review the sensitivity of its treasury assets and liabilities to 
inflation, and will seek to manage the risk accordingly in the context of the whole organisation’s 
inflation exposures.

1.6 Refinancing Risk Management

The risk that maturing borrowings, capital, project or partnership financings cannot be refinanced on 
terms that reflect the provisions made by the organisation for those refinancings, both capital and 
current (revenue), and/or that the terms are inconsistent with prevailing market conditions at the 
time.

The Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership arrangements are 
negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of the monies so raised is 
managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, which are 
competitive and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the light of 
market conditions prevailing at the time.

Page 97



It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions in such a 
manner as to secure this objective, and will avoid over reliance on any one source of funding if this 
might jeopardise achievement of the above.

1.7 Legal and Regulatory Risk Management

The risk that the organisation itself, or an organisation with which it is dealing in its Treasury 
Management activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or regulatory requirements, 
and that the organisation suffers losses accordingly.

The Council will ensure that all of its Treasury Management activities comply with its statutory 
powers and regulatory requirements. It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to do so, to all 
parties with whom it deals in such activities. In framing its credit and counterparty policy under 
TMP1[1] credit and counterparty risk management, it will ensure that there is evidence of 
counterparties’ powers, and compliance in respect of the transactions they may effect with the 
organisation, particularly with regard to duty of care and fees charged.

This organisation recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its 
Treasury Management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, will seek to minimise 
the risk of these impacting adversely on the organisation.

1.8 Fraud, Error and Corruption, and Contingency Management

The risk that an organisation fails to identify the circumstances in which it may be exposed to the 
risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its Treasury Management 
dealings, and fails to employ suitable systems and procedures and maintain effective contingency 
management arrangements to these ends. It includes the area of risk commonly referred to as 
operational risk.

This organisation will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to the risk 
of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its Treasury Management dealings. 
Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain effective contingency 
management arrangements, to these ends.

The Council will therefore:-

a) Seek to ensure an adequate division of responsibilities and maintenance at all times of an 
adequate level of internal check which minimises such risks.  

b) Fully document all its Treasury Management activities so that there can be no possible 
confusion as to what proper procedures are.  

c) Ensure that staff will not be allowed to take up Treasury Management activities until they have 
had proper training in procedures and are then subject to an adequate and appropriate level 
of supervision.  

Records will be maintained of all Treasury Management transactions so that there is a full audit trail 
and evidence of the appropriate checks being carried out.

Page 98



1.9 Price Risk Management

The risk that, through adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums an organisation 
borrows and invests, its stated Treasury Management policies and objectives are compromised, 
against which effects it has failed to protect itself adequately.

The Council will seek to ensure that its stated Treasury Management policies and objectives will not 
be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums it invests, and 
will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations.

TMP2 : PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT

The Council is committed to the pursuit of best value in its Treasury Management activities, 
and to the use of performance methodology in support of that aim, within the framework set out 
in the Treasury Management Policy Statement.

The Treasury Management function will be the subject of ongoing analysis of the value it adds 
in support of the Council’s stated service objectives. It will be the subject of regular 
examination of alternative methods of service delivery, of the availability of fiscal, grant or 
subsidy incentives, and the scope for other potential improvements.  The performance of the 
Treasury Management function will be measured using the criteria set out in the detailed TMP 
Operational document.

TMP3 : DECISION-MAKING AND ANALYSIS

The Council will maintain full records of its Treasury Management decisions, and of the 
processes and practices applied in reaching those decisions, both for the purposes of learning 
from the past, and for demonstrating that reasonable steps were taken to ensure that all issues 
relevant to those decisions were taken into account at the time. The issues to be addressed 
and processes and practices to be pursued in reaching decisions are set out in the detailed 
TMP Operational document.

TMP4 : APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES

The Council will undertake its Treasury Management activities by employing only those 
instruments, methods and techniques set out in the detailed TMP Operational document and 
within the limits and parameters defined in TMP1.

TMP5 : ORGANISATION, CLARITY AND SEGREGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES, AND 
DEALING ARRANGEMENTS

The Council considers it essential, for the purposes of the effective control and monitoring of 
its Treasury Management activities, for the reduction of risk of fraud or error, and for the 
pursuit of optimum performance, that these activities are structured and managed in a fully 
integrated manner, and that there is at all times clarity of Treasury Management 
responsibilities.

The principle on which this will be based is the clear distinction between those charged with 
setting Treasury Management policies and those charged with implementing and controlling 
these policies, particularly with regard to the execution and transmission of funds, the 

Page 99



recording and administering of Treasury Management decisions and the audit and review of 
the Treasury Management function.

If and when this organisation intends, as a result of lack of resources or other circumstances, 
to depart from these principles, the Section 151 Officer will ensure that the reasons are 
properly reported in accordance with TMP6 and the implications properly considered and 
evaluated.

The Section 151 Officer will ensure that there are clear written statements of the 
responsibilities for each post engaged in Treasury Management, and the arrangements for 
absence cover. He will also ensure that at all times those engaged in Treasury Management 
will follow the policies and procedures set out. The present arrangements are set out in the 
detailed TMP Operational document.

The Section 151 Officer will ensure that there is proper documentation for all deals and 
transactions, and that procedures exist for the effective transmission of funds. The present 
arrangements are set out in the detailed TMP Operational document.

The delegations to the Section 151 Officer in respect of Treasury Management are set out in 
the detailed TMP Operational document. He will fulfil all such responsibilities in accordance 
with the Council’s policy statement and TMPs and, if a CIPFA member, the Standard of 
Professional Practice on Treasury Management.

TMP6 : REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

The Council will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the 
implementation of its Treasury Management policies; on the effects of decisions taken and 
transactions executed in pursuit of those policies; implications of changes, particularly 
budgetary, resulting from regulatory, economic, market or other factors affecting its Treasury 
Management activities; and on the performance of the Treasury Management function.

As a minimum Cabinet and Council will receive:

 An annual report on the planned strategy to be pursued in the coming year and the 
reporting of Prudential Indicators.

 A mid-year review

 An annual report on the performance of the Treasury Management function including the 
performance against the Prudential Indicators, the effects of the decisions taken and the 
transactions executed in the past year and on any circumstances of non-compliance with 
the Council’s Treasury Management policy statement and TMPs.

Cabinet will receive regular monitoring reports on Treasury Management activities and risks.

The Audit and Governance Committee will have responsibility for the scrutiny of Treasury 
Management policies and practices.

Page 100



The Treasury Management indicators will be considered together with the Treasury 
Management indicators in the Prudential Code as part of the budget approval process.

The present arrangements and the form of these reports are set out in the detailed TMP 
Operational document.

TMP7 : BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS

The Section 151 Officer will prepare and Council will approve and, if necessary from time to 
time, will amend, an annual budget for Treasury Management, which will bring together all of 
the costs involved in running the Treasury Management function together with associated 
income.  The matters to be included will at minimum be those required by statute or regulation, 
together with such information as will demonstrate compliance with TMP1, TMP2 and TMP4.

The Section 151 Officer will exercise effective controls over this budget and report upon and 
recommend any changes required in accordance with TMP6.

The Council will account for its Treasury Management activities, for decisions made and 
transactions executed in accordance with appropriate accounting practices and standards, and 
with statutory and regulatory requirements in force for the time being.

TMP8 : CASH AND CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT

Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the hands of the 
Council will be under the control of the Section 151 Officer and will be aggregated for cash flow 
and investment management purposes. Cash flow projections will be prepared on a regular 
and timely basis and the Section 151 Officer will ensure that these are adequate for the 
purpose of monitoring compliance with TMP1. The present arrangements for preparing cash 
flow projections, and their form, are set out in the detailed TMP Operational document.

TMP9 : MONEY LAUNDERING

The Council is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an attempt to involve it 
in a transaction involving the laundering of money. The Council will, therefore, maintain 
procedures for verifying and recording the identity of counterparties and reporting suspicions, 
and will ensure that all staff involved are properly trained. The present arrangements, including 
the name of the officer to whom reports should be made, are set out in the detailed TMP 
Operational document.

TMP10 : TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS

The Council recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the Treasury 
Management function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and responsibilities allocated 
to them.  It will seek to appoint individuals, who are both capable and experienced and will 
provide training for staff to enable them to acquire and maintain an appropriate level of 
expertise, knowledge and skills. The Section 151 Officer will recommend and implement the 
necessary arrangements.

Page 101



The Section 151 Officer will ensure that Council members tasked with Treasury Management 
responsibilities, including those responsible for scrutiny, have access to training relevant to 
their needs and those responsibilities.

Those charged with governance recognise their individual responsibility to ensure that they 
have the necessary skills to complete their role effectively.

TMP11 : USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS

The Council recognises that responsibility for the Treasury Management decisions remains 
with the Council at all times. It recognises that there may be potential value in employing 
external providers of Treasury Management services, in order to acquire access to specialist 
skills and resources. When it employs such service providers, it will ensure it does so for 
reasons which will have been submitted to a full evaluation of the costs and benefits. Terms of 
appointment will be properly agreed, documented and subject to regular review. It will ensure, 
where feasible and necessary, that a spread of service providers is used, to avoid over 
reliance on one or a small number of companies. Where services are subject to formal tender 
or re-tender arrangements, legislative requirements will always be observed. The monitoring of 
such arrangements rests with the Section 151 Officer, and details of the current arrangements 
are set out in the detailed TMP Operational document.

TMP12 : CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Council is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance throughout its 
services, and to establishing the principles and practices by which this can be achieved.  
Accordingly the Treasury Management function and its activities will be undertaken with 
openness, transparency, honesty, integrity and accountability.

The Council has adopted and implemented the key recommendations of the Code. This, 
together with the other arrangements are set out in the detailed TMP Operational document 
and are considered vital to the achievement of proper governance in Treasury Management, 
and the Section 151 Officer will monitor and, if and when necessary, report upon the 
effectiveness of these arrangements. 

TMP 13: MANAGEMENT PRACTICES FOR NON-TREASURY INVESTMENTS

This Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property primarily for 
financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires careful investment 
management. Such activity includes loans supporting service outcomes, investments in 
subsidiaries, and investment property portfolios.

The Council will ensure that all of its investments are covered in the capital strategy and/or 
investment strategy, and will set out, where relevant, the Council’s risk appetite and specific 
policies and arrangements for non-treasury investments. It will be recognised that the risk 
appetite for these activities may differ from that for treasury management.

The Council maintains a schedule setting out a summary of existing material investments, 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and liabilities including financial guarantees and the Council’s risk 
exposure.

The following TMPs will apply with regard to non-treasury management investments:-

Page 102



TMP1 - Risk management - including investment and risk management criteria for material 
non-treasury investment portfolios

TMP2 - Performance measurement and management - including methodology and criteria 
for assessing the performance and success of non-treasury investments  

TMP5 - Decision making and analysis - including a statement of the governance 
requirements for decision-making in relation to non-treasury investments, and arrangements to 
ensure that appropriate professional due diligence is carried out to support decision making

TMP6 - Reporting and management information - including where and how often monitoring 
reports are taken    

TMP10 - Training and qualifications - including how the relevant knowledge and skills in 
relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged.

Page 103



ANNEX 9

Treasury Management Glossary of Terms

Bank Rate The Official Bank rate paid on commercial bank 
reserves i.e. reserves placed by commercial banks 
with the Bank of England as part of the Bank’s 
operations to reduce volatility in short term interest 
rates in the money markets. 

Base Rate Minimum lending rate of a bank or financial institution 
in the UK. 

Capital Financing Requirement The Council’s underlying need for borrowing for a 
capital purpose.

Counterparty The organisations responsible for repaying the 
Council’s investment upon maturity and for making 
interest payments. 

Credit Default Swap (CDS) A specific kind of counterparty agreement which 
allows the transfer of third party credit risk from one 
party to the other. One party in the swap is a lender 
and faces credit risk from a third party, and the 
counterparty in the credit default swap agrees to 
insure this risk in exchange for regular periodic 
payments (essentially an insurance premium). If the 
third party defaults, the party providing insurance will 
have to purchase from the insured party the defaulted 
asset. In turn, the insurer pays the insured the 
remaining interest on the debt, as well as the principal.

Credit Rating This is a scoring system that lenders issue 
organisations with, to determine how credit worthy 
they are. 

Gilts These are issued by the UK Government in order to 
finance public expenditure. Gilts are generally issued 
for a set period and pay a fixed rate of interest for the 
period. 

iTraxx This is an index published by Markit who are a leading 
company in CDS pricing and valuation. The index is 
based on an equal weighting of the CDS spread of 25 
European financial companies. 

Page 104



Clients can use the iTraxx to see where an institution’s 
CDS spread is relative to that of the market and judge 
its creditworthiness in that manner, as well as looking 
at the credit ratings.

Liquidity An asset is perfectly liquid if one can trade 
immediately, at a price not worse than the uninformed 
expected value, the quantity one desires.

Long term A period of one year or more. 

Maturity The date when an investment is repaid or the period 
covered by a fixed term investment. 

Minimum Revenue Provision Capital expenditure is generally expenditure on assets 
which have a life expectancy of more than one year 
e.g. buildings, vehicles, machinery etc. It would be 
impractical to charge the entirety of such expenditure 
to revenue in the year in which it was incurred 
therefore such expenditure is spread over several 
years in order to try to match the years over which 
such assets benefit the local community through their 
useful life. The manner of spreading these costs is 
through an annual Minimum Revenue Provision.

Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) Interest rates are set by the Bank’s Monetary Policy 
Committee. The MPC sets an interest rate it judges 
will enable the inflation target to be met. Their primary 
target (as set by the Government) is to keep inflation 
at or around 2%.

Security An investment instrument, issued by a corporation, 
government, or other organization which offers 
evidence of debt or equity.

Short Term A period of 364 days or less

Supranational Bonds A supranational entity is formed by two or more 
central governments with the purpose of promoting 
economic development for the member countries. 
Supranational institutions finance their activities by 
issuing debt, such as supranational bonds. 
Examples of supranational institutions include the 
European Investment Bank and the World Bank.

Page 105



Similarly to the government bonds, the bonds 
issued by these institutions are considered very 
safe and have a high credit rating.

Treasury Management The management of the local authority’s investments 
and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital 
market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of 
optimum performance consistent with those risks.

Working Capital Cash and other liquid assets needed to finance the 
everyday running of a business such as the payment 
of salaries and purchases.

Yield The annual rate of return on an investment, expressed 
as a percentage.

Page 106



ANNEX 10

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS – DEFINITIONS / INTERPRETATION

CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance requires local authorities to prepare Prudential 
Indicators of their intended capital spending plans for the forthcoming and future years. The 
indicators are intended to help the decision making process within an authority and must be 
approved by the full Council before the beginning of the financial year. The indicators are 
neither comparative statistics nor performance indicators. Different Councils will have different 
figures reflecting their history and local circumstances.

1. Estimate of total capital expenditure to be incurred – This summarises the Council’s 
current plans for the total capital expenditure over the next 3 years. Details of individual 
schemes are contained within the capital estimate pages.

2. Estimates of Capital Financing Summary – This details the capital financing sources for 
the next 3 years.

3. Estimated Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream - This indicator has been 
calculated as debt interest, borrowing refinancing costs, minimum revenue provision, 
depreciation for HRA, net of investment income and divided by the General Fund (GF) budget 
requirement for the GF element of costs and the total of HRA income for the HRA costs. For 
GF Account, the indicator has been calculated gross of government support in the form of 
RSG for the proportion of capital expenditure funded from supported level of borrowing.

4. Capital Financing Requirement – This represents the Council’s underlying need to borrow 
to finance historic capital expenditure and is derived by aggregating specified items from the 
Council’s balance sheet. The actual net borrowing is lower than this because of the current 
strategy to use internal borrowing rather than replace maturing debt.

5. Actual External Debt –This is a key indicator and Section 3 of the Local Government Act 
2003 requires the Council to ensure that gross external debt does not, except in the short term, 
exceed the total of  the Capital Financing Requirement in the preceding year plus estimates of 
any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial years.

6. Authorised Borrowing Limit for external debt - This indicator represents the maximum 
amount the Council may borrow at any point in time in the year and has to be set at a level the 
Council considers is prudent. It allows for uncertain cash flow movements and borrowing in 
advance for future requirements. The Council does not currently have any finance lease 
liabilities. 

The recommended authorised limits for external debt are gross of investments and are 
consistent with the Council’s current commitments, existing plans and the current treasury 
management policy and strategy. The authorised limit determined for 2018- 19 is the statutory 
limit determined under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2003.

Page 107



7. Operational Boundary for external debt - The proposed operational boundary for external 
debt is calculated on the same estimates as the authorised limit but reflects estimates of the 
most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario, without the additional headroom included 
within the authorised limit to allow for example for unusual cash movements, and equates to 
the maximum of external debt projected by this estimate. Within the operational boundary, 
figures for borrowing and other long term liabilities are separately identified.

8. Treasury Management – these indicators form part of the treasury management strategy 
and policy statement approved by the Council each year before the beginning of the financial 
year. The main indicators are:

(a) The adoption of CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management, which the Council 
adopted before the current Prudential System was introduced.

(b) Interest Rate Exposure - The approved Treasury Policy Statement and Strategy contains 
upper and lower limits for fixed and variable interest rate exposure for net outstanding principal 
sums.

(c) Maturity Structure of Borrowing – The approved treasury management strategy also sets 
out the maturity structure of the Council’s borrowing to ensure the Council is not exposed to 
risks of having to refinance large level of debt at a time in future when interest rates may be 
volatile or uncertain.

(d) Investments longer than 365 days – The approved treasury management strategy 
includes a limit of £20m for investments maturing beyond 365 days.

Page 108



1

APPENDIX B

COUNCIL

TUESDAY 11TH DECEMBER 2018

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR ASSETS AND FINANCE

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY  MID-YEAR REVIEW REPORT 2018/19

EXEMPT INFORMATION

None

PURPOSE

To present to Members the Mid-year Review of the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Council be requested to accept the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2018/19.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This mid-year report has been written  in accordance  with the requirements of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management (revised 2017), and covers the following:-

 An economic update for the first six months of 2018/19;
 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 

Strategy;
 The Council’s Capital expenditure as set out in the Capital Strategy, and  

Prudential Indicators;
 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2018/19;
 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2018/19;
 A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2018/19;
 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2018/19.

The main issues for Members to note are:

1. The Council has complied with the professional codes, statutes and guidance.

2. There are no issues to report regarding non-compliance with the approved 
prudential indicators.

3. The investment portfolio yield for the first six months of the year is 0.77% (0.52% for 
the same period in 2017/18) compared to the 3 Month LIBID benchmark rate of 
0.61% (0.18% for the same period in 2017/18). 

Page 109



2

The aim of this report is to inform Members of the treasury and investment management 
issues to enable all Members to have ownership and understanding when making 
decisions on Treasury Management matters. In order to facilitate this, training on 
Treasury Management issues was most recently delivered for Members in February 
2018 and will be provided as and when required.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

All financial resource implications are detailed in the body of this report which links to to 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND

Risk is inherent in Treasury Management and as such a risk based approach has 
been adopted throughout the report with regard to Treasury Management processes.

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS
None

BACKGROUND INFORMATION  

In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management Codes. As from 
2019/20, all local authorities will be required to prepare a Capital Strategy which is 
intended to provide the following:-

 A high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services

 An overview of how the associated risk is managed
 The implications for future financial sustainability

A report setting out our Capital Strategy will be included with the Budget and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy report presented to Cabinet and Council in February 2019.

The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (revised 2017) suggests that 
Members should be informed of Treasury Management activities at least twice a year, 
but preferably quarterly. This is the second monitoring report for 2018/19 presented to 
Members this year and therefore ensures the Council is embracing best practice. 
Cabinet also receives regular monitoring reports as part of the quarterly healthcheck 
on Treasury Management activities and risks.

The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during 
the year will meet its cash expenditure. Part of the Treasury Management operations 
ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in 
low risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering 
optimising investment return.

The second main function of the Treasury Management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of 
the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the Council can 
meet its capital spending operations. This management of longer term cash may 
involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, 

Page 110



3

and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk 
or cost objectives.
Accordingly, Treasury Management is defined as:

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.”

Introduction

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice 
on Treasury Management (revised 2017) was adopted by this Council on 27th 
February 2018. 

The primary requirements of the Code are as follows: 

1. Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which 
sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s Treasury Management 
activities.

2. Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the 
manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives.

3. Receipt by the full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report and an Annual 
Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the previous year.

4. Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring 
Treasury Management policies and practices and for the execution and 
administration of Treasury Management decisions.

5. Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of Treasury Management 
strategy and policies to a specific named body. For this Council the delegated 
body is the Audit and Governance Committee.

This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice 
on Treasury Management, and covers the following:
 An economic update for the first part of the 2018/19 financial year;
 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 

Investment Strategy;
 The Council’s Capital expenditure as set out in the Capital Strategy, and 

Prudential Indicators;
 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2018/19;
 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2018/19;
 A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2018/19;
 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2018/19.

Page 111



4

1. Economic Update

1.1 UK 
The first half of 2018/19 has seen UK economic growth post a modest performance, 
but sufficiently robust for the Monetary Policy Committee, (MPC), to unanimously (9-0) 
vote to increase Bank Rate on 2nd August from 0.5% to 0.75%.  Although growth looks 
as if it will only be modest at around 1.5% in 2018, the Bank of England’s August 
Quarterly Inflation Report forecast that growth will pick up to 1.8% in 2019, albeit there 
were several caveats – mainly related to whether or not the UK achieves an orderly 
withdrawal from the European Union in March 2019.

Some MPC members have expressed concerns about a build-up of inflationary 
pressures, particularly with the pound falling in value again against both the US dollar 
and the Euro.  The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation rose unexpectedly 
from 2.4% in June to 2.7% in August due to increases in volatile components, but is 
expected to fall back to the 2% inflation target over the next two years given a scenario 
of minimal increases in Bank Rate.  The MPC has indicated Bank Rate would need to 
be in the region of 1.5% by March 2021 for inflation to stay on track.  

As for the labour market, unemployment has continued at a 43 year low of 4% on the 
Independent Labour Organisation measure.  A combination of job vacancies hitting an 
all-time high in July, together with negligible growth in total employment numbers, 
indicates that employers are now having major difficulties filling job vacancies with 
suitable staff.  It was therefore unsurprising that wage inflation picked up to 2.9%, (3 
month average regular pay, excluding bonuses) and to a one month figure in July of 
3.1%.  This meant that in real terms, (i.e. wage rates higher than CPI inflation), earnings 
grew by about 0.4%, near to the joint high of 0.5% since 2009.  (The previous high point 
was in July 2015.)  Given the UK economy is very much services sector driven, an 
increase in household spending power is likely to feed through into providing some 
support to the overall rate of economic growth in the coming months. This tends to 
confirm that the MPC were right to start on a cautious increase in Bank Rate in August 
as it views wage inflation in excess of 3% as increasing inflationary pressures within the 
UK economy.  However, the MPC will need to tread cautiously before increasing Bank 
Rate again, especially given all the uncertainties around Brexit.  

In the political arena, there is a risk that the current Conservative minority government 
may be unable to muster a majority in the Commons over Brexit.  However, our central 
position is that Prime Minister May’s government will endure, despite various setbacks, 
along the route to Brexit in March 2019.  If, however, the UK faces a general election in 
the next 12 months, this could result in a potential loosening of monetary policy and 
therefore medium to longer dated gilt yields could rise on the expectation of a weak 
pound and concerns around inflation picking up.

1.2 USA  
President Trump’s massive easing of fiscal policy is fuelling a (temporary) boost in 
consumption which has generated an upturn in the rate of strong growth which rose 
from 2.2%, (annualised rate), in quarter 1 to 4.2% in quarter 2, but also an upturn in 
inflationary pressures.  With inflation moving towards 3%, the Fed increased rates 
another 0.25% in September to between 2.00% and 2.25%, this being four increases in 
2018, and indicated they expected to increase rates four more times by the end of 2019.   
The dilemma, however, is what to do when the temporary boost to consumption wanes, 
particularly as the recent imposition of tariffs on a number of countries’ exports to the 
US, (China in particular), could see a switch to US production of some of those goods, 

Page 112



5

but at higher prices.  Such a scenario would invariably make any easing of monetary 
policy harder for the Fed in the second half of 2019.

1.3 Eurozone 
Growth was unchanged at 0.4% in quarter 2, but has undershot early forecasts for a 
stronger economic performance in 2018. In particular, data from Germany has been 
mixed and it could be negatively impacted by US tariffs on a significant part of 
manufacturing exports e.g. cars.   For that reason, although growth is still expected to 
be in the region of 2% for 2018, the horizon is less clear than it seemed just a short 
while ago. 

1.4 China
Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite repeated rounds 
of central bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. Major progress still needs to 
be made to eliminate excess industrial capacity and the stock of unsold property, and to 
address the level of non-performing loans in the banking and credit systems.

1.5 Japan
Japan has been struggling to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth and to get 
inflation up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also 
making little progress on fundamental reform of the economy. 

1.6 Interest Rate Forecasts 
The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following forecast:

Link Asset Services do not currently think that the MPC would increase Bank Rate in 
February 2019, ahead of the deadline in March for Brexit. It is likely that getting 
parliamentary approval on both sides of the Channel will take well into spring next year. 
However, in view of the hawkish stance of the MPC this time, they have moved forward 
their first increase in Bank Rate from August to May 2019. The next increases then 
occur in February and November 2020 before ending up at 2.0% in February 2022. 

Financial markets are now expecting a first increase in February 2019 and then further 
increases only in February 2020 and then May 2021, to end 21/22 at only 1.50%. PWLB 
rates, particularly 5 and 10 year rates, have increased slightly in response to the faster 
pace of Bank Rate increases. Forecasts for average investment earnings beyond the 
three year time horizon will be heavily dependent on economic and political 
developments.

The balance of risks to the UK 
The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably neutral. 

The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates are 
probably also even and are broadly dependent on how strong GDP growth turns out, 

Page 113



6

how slowly inflation pressures subside, and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move 
forward positively. 

One risk that is both an upside and downside risk, is that all central banks are now 
working in very different economic conditions than before the 2008 financial crash as 
there has been a major increase in consumer and other debt due to the exceptionally 
low levels of borrowing rates that have prevailed for ten years since 2008. This means 
that the neutral rate of interest in an economy, (i.e. the rate that is neither expansionary 
nor deflationary), is difficult to determine definitively in this new environment, although 
central banks have made statements that they expect it to be much lower than before 
2008. Central banks could therefore over or under do increases in central interest rates. 

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently 
include: 

 Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major downturn 
in the rate of growth. 

 Bank of England monetary policy takes action too quickly, or too far, over the 
next three years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and 
increases in inflation, to be weaker than currently anticipated. 

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, possibly Italy, due to its 
high level of government debt, low rate of economic growth and vulnerable 
banking system, and due to the election in March of a government which has 
made a lot of anti-austerity noise. At the time of writing, the EU has rejected the 
proposed Italian budget and has demanded cuts in government spending which 
the Italian government has refused. The rating agencies have started on 
downgrading Italian debt to one notch above junk level. If Italian debt were to fall 
below investment grade, many investors would be unable to hold Italian debt. 
Unsurprisingly, investors are becoming increasingly concerned by the actions of 
the Italian government and consequently, Italian bond yields have risen sharply – 
at a time when the government faces having to refinance large amounts of debt 
maturing in 2019. 

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks. Italian banks are particularly 
vulnerable; one factor is that they hold a high level of Italian government debt - 
debt which is falling in value. This is therefore undermining their capital ratios and 
raises the question of whether they will need to raise fresh capital to plug the gap. 

 German minority government. In the German general election of September 
2017, Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable minority position 
dependent on the fractious support of the SPD party, as a result of the rise in 
popularity of the anti-immigration AfD party. Then in October 2018, the results of 
the Bavarian and Hesse state elections radically undermined the SPD party and 
showed a sharp fall in support for the CDU. As a result, the SPD is reviewing 
whether it can continue to support a coalition that is so damaging to its electoral 
popularity. After the result of the Hesse state election, Angela Merkel announced 
that she would not stand for re-election as CDU party leader at her party’s 
convention in December 2018. However, this makes little practical difference as 
she is still expected to aim to continue for now as the Chancellor. However, there 
are five more state elections coming up in 2019 and EU parliamentary elections 
in May/June; these could result in a further loss of electoral support for both the 
CDU and SPD which could also undermine her leadership. 

Page 114



7

 Other minority eurozone governments. Spain, Portugal, Netherlands and 
Belgium all have vulnerable minority governments dependent on coalitions which 
could prove fragile. Sweden is also struggling to form a government due to the 
anti-immigration party holding the balance of power, and which no other party is 
willing to form a coalition with. 

 Austria, the Czech Republic and Hungary now form a strongly anti-immigration 
bloc within the EU while Italy, this year, has also elected a strongly anti-
immigration government. Elections to the EU parliament are due in May/June 
2019. 

 Further increases in interest rates in the US could spark a sudden flight of 
investment funds from more risky assets e.g. shares, into bonds yielding a 
much improved yield. In October 2018, we have seen a sharp fall in equity 
markets but this has been limited, as yet. Emerging countries which have 
borrowed heavily in dollar denominated debt, could be particularly exposed to this 
risk of an investor flight to safe havens e.g. UK gilts. 

 There are concerns around the level of US corporate debt which has swollen 
massively during the period of low borrowing rates in order to finance mergers 
and acquisitions. This has resulted in the debt of many large corporations being 
downgraded to a BBB credit rating, close to junk status. Indeed, 48% of total 
investment grade corporate debt is now rated at BBB. If such corporations fail to 
generate profits and cash flow to reduce their debt levels as expected, this could 
tip their debt into junk ratings which will increase their cost of financing and 
further negatively impact profits and cash flow. 

 Geopolitical risks, especially North Korea, but also in Europe and the Middle 
East, which could lead to increasing safe haven flows. 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates 

 Brexit – if both sides were to agree a compromise that removed all threats of 
economic and political disruption. 

 The Fed causing a sudden shock in financial markets through misjudging the 
pace and strength of increases in its Fed. Funds Rate and in the pace and 
strength of reversal of QE, which then leads to a fundamental reassessment by 
investors of the relative risks of holding bonds, as opposed to equities. This could 
lead to a major flight from bonds to equities and a sharp increase in bond yields 
in the US, which could then spill over into impacting bond yields around the 
world. 

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank 
Rate and, therefore, allows inflation pressures to build up too strongly within the 
UK economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank 
Rate faster than we currently expect. 

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to sustained 
significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent to 
gilt yields. 

Page 115



8

2. Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 
Update

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2018/19 was approved by 
Council on 27th February 2018. 

There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the 
position in the light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes already 
approved.

3. The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)

This part of the report is structured to update:
 The Council’s capital expenditure plans;
 How these plans are being financed;
 The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential 

indicators  and the underlying need to borrow; and
 Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity.

3.1  Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure

This table below shows the revised estimates for capital expenditure and the changes 
since the capital programme was agreed at the Budget.  

Capital 
Expenditure 

2018/19 
Original 

Programme

Budget 
B’fwd 
from    

2017/18

Virements 
to 

Programme 
in Year

Total 
2018/19 
Budget

Actual 
Spend @ 
Period 6 

Predicted 
Outturn

2018/19 
Revised 

Estimate*

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

General Fund 10.176 9.105 3.987 23.268 8.908 22.215 23.114

HRA 13.274 18.198 0.250 31.722 6.933 30.867 31.441

Total 23.450 27.303 4.237 54.990 15.841 53.082 54.555

* Includes potential expenditure slippage into 2019/20

3.2 Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme  

The following table draws together the main strategy elements of the capital 
expenditure plans (above), highlighting the original supported and unsupported 
elements of the capital programme, and the expected financing arrangements of this 
capital expenditure. Any borrowing element of the table increases the underlying 
indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), 
although this will be reduced in part by revenue charges for the repayment of debt 
(the Minimum Revenue Provision). 

This direct borrowing need may also be supplemented by maturing debt and other Page 116



9

treasury requirements.

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19
Capital 

Programme
Predicted 
Outturn Budget *Capital Expenditure

£m £m £m
Unsupported 1.666 8.364 8.529
Supported 21.784 44.719 46.462
Total spend 23.450 53.082 54.990
Financed by:    

 Grants - Disabled Facilities 0.360 0.447 0.447
 Coalfields Grant - 0.042 0.222
 Section 106's 0.225 0.274 0.484
 GF Receipts 6.302 16.621 16.651
 GF Reserve - 0.086 0.470
 Sale of Council House Receipts 0.412 0.480 0.564
 HRA Receipts 1.665 1.735 1.735
 HLF Assembly Rooms Lottery 0.340 0.576 0.576
 Grants - Assembly Rooms (SLGF/Arts     

Council) 0.654 1.934 1.934

 Public Contributions (Assembly Rooms) 0.050 0.050 0.050
 HLF/Donation - Castle Mercian Trail - 0.558 0.558
 Other Contributions 0.168 - -
 MRR 5.077 7.608 7.942
 HRA 1-4-1 Replacements Receipts 0.528 1.225 1.375
 HRA Reserve 3.706 9.493 9.863
HRA Regeneration Fund 2.298 3.592 3.592

    
Total Financing 21.784 44.719 46.462
Borrowing need 1.666 8.364 8.529

* includes potential expenditure slippage into 2019/20

3.3 Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing Requirement, 
External Debt and the Operational Boundary

The following table shows the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), which is the 
underlying external need to incur borrowing for a capital purpose. It also shows the 
expected debt position over the period, which is termed the Operational Boundary.

Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement

We are on target to achieve the original forecast Capital Financing Requirement.

Page 117



10

Prudential Indicator – the Operational Boundary for External Debt

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19

Outturn Capital 
Programme

Projected 
Outturn Budget * 

£m £m £m £m
CFR – Non Housing 0.885 2.547 1.978 2.143
CFR – Housing 68.041 75.2551 75.255 75.255
Total CFR 68.926 77.802 77.233 77.398
Net movement in CFR (0.058) 8.876 8.307 8.472
Operational Boundary     

Expected Borrowing 63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060
Other long term liabilities - -  -

Total debt  31st March 63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060
1 Includes re-profiling of planned borrowing of £7.214m from 2017/18

3.4 Limits to Borrowing Activity

The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure that 
over the medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will only be for a 
capital purpose. Gross external borrowing should not, except in the short term, 
exceed the total of CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
CFR for 2018/19 and next two financial years. This allows some flexibility for limited 
early borrowing for future years. The Council has approved a policy for borrowing in 
advance of need which will be adhered to if this proves prudent.  

2017/18 2018/19 
Original

2018/19 
Projected

2018/19 
Budget

Outturn Estimate Outturn   

£m £m £m £m
Gross borrowing 63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060
Less investments 60.805 54.198 59.751 59.916
Net borrowing 2.255 8.862 3.309 3.144
CFR (year end position) 68.926 77.802 77.233 77.398

The Executive Director Finance reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the 
current or future years in complying with this prudential indicator.  

A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing. This is the Authorised 
Limit which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and needs to be set 
and revised by Members.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, could 
be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.  It is the expected 
maximum borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected movements. This is the 
statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 

Page 118



11

Authorised Limit for External 
Debt

2018/19 
Original 
Indicator

Current 
Position

2018/19 
Revised 
Indicator

Borrowing 84.954 84.954 84.954

Total 84.954 84.954 84.954

4. Investment Portfolio 2018/19

In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of capital and 
liquidity and to obtain an appropriate level of return which is consistent with the Council’s 
risk appetite. As shown by forecasts  in Section 1, it is a very difficult investment market in 
terms of earning the level of interest rates commonly seen in previous decades as rates 
are very low and in line with the current 0.75% Bank Rate. The continuing potential for a 
re-emergence of a Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, and its impact on banks, prompts a 
low risk and short-term strategy.  Given this risk environment and the fact that increases 
in Bank Rate are likely to be gradual and unlikely to return to the levels seen in previous 
decades, investment returns are likely to remain low. 

The Council held £66.51m of investments as at 30th September 2018 (£60.77m at 
31st March 2018 – excluding impaired investments) and the investment portfolio yield 
for the first six months of the year is 0.77% against a benchmark of the 3 months 
LIBID of 0.61%. A full list of treasury investments held as at 30th September 2018 is 
detailed in APPENDIX 1.

The Executive Director Finance confirms that the approved limits within the Annual 
Investment Strategy were not breached during the first six months of 2018/19.

The Council’s budgeted investment return for 2018/19 is £176k, and performance for 
the year is projected to be £300k above budget, due to actual interest rates being 
achieved above the amount budgeted of 0.50% and additional funds available to 
invest (due to increased capital slippage). The Council is also projected to receive an 
additional £109k in respect of property fund interest and dividends, due to 
investments in property funds being made earlier than budgeted.

CIPFA Benchmarking Club

The Council is a member of the CIPFA Treasury Management Benchmarking Club 
which is a means to assess our performance over the year against other members. 
Our average return for In House Investments for the period April 2017 to March 2018 
was 0.54% compared to the group average of 0.64% (information from CIPFA 
Benchmarking Report 2017/18). This is considered to be a reasonable result in light 
of the current financial climate, our lower levels of deposits/funds and shorter 
investment time-lines due to Banking sector uncertainty, when compared to other 
Authorities.

Page 119



12

This can be analysed further into the following categories:

 Average Balance Invested
Average Annual Return 

Received
 £m %

Category

Tamworth 
Borough 
Council

CIPFA 
Benchmarking 

Club

Tamworth 
Borough 
Council

CIPFA 
Benchmarking 

Club

Fixed Investments 
(up to 30 days) - 1.5 - 0.7

Fixed Investments 
(between 31 and 90 
days)

- 5.1 - 0.5

Fixed Investments 
(between 91 and 364 
days)

30.9 69.2 0.5 0.6

Fixed Investments 
(between 1 year and 
3 years)

0.8 37.8 0.9 1.0

Fixed Investments 
(over 3 years) - 1.7 - 3.5

Callable and 
Structured Deposits - 24.5 - 1.7

Notice Accounts 14.4 31.1 0.7 0.4

Money Market Funds 
(Constant Net Asset 
Value)

8.5 33.1 0.3 0.3

Money Market Funds 
(Variable Net Asset 
Value)

- 21.6 - 0.7

DMADF - 1.4 - 0.2

CDs, Gilts and 
Bonds 6.7 53.0 0.6 1.8

Average of all 
investments 
(Managed in 
House)

61.3 173.4 0.5 0.6

Page 120



13

The data above and graphs below display that despite the Council being a small 
investor in the markets, in the main performance is only marginally lower in those 
areas where both the Council and other member authorities invest.

The main variances arise from longer term fixed investments (in excess of 1 year) 
and instruments that the council do not currently get involved with i.e. Callable and 
Structured Deposits which are longer term deposits which (in line with our use of the 
Link Asset Services methodology and our approved specified limits in our Treasury 
Management strategy) are currently prohibited for Tamworth Borough Council and 
affirms our ‘low appetite for risk’ in the continuing unsettled markets. 

Investment Counterparty Criteria

The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the TMSS and as 
approved by Council on 27th February 2018 will meet the requirement of the 

Page 121



14

Treasury Management function.  

5. Borrowing

The Council’s estimated revised capital financing requirement (CFR) for 2018/19 is 
£77.233m. The CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital 
purposes. If the CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market 
(external borrowing) or from internal balances on a temporary basis (internal 
borrowing). The balance of external and internal borrowing is generally driven by 
market conditions. Table 3.4 shows the Council has estimated borrowings of 
£63.060m and has utilised £14.173m of cash flow funds in lieu of borrowing. This is a 
prudent and cost effective approach in the current economic climate but will require 
ongoing monitoring in the event that upside risk to gilt yields prevails.

It is not anticipated that any additional borrowing will be undertaken during 2018/19.

The table and graph below show the movement in PWLB (Certainty Rates) for the 
first six months of the year to date:

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year
3.4.18 1.48% 1.84% 2.22% 2.55% 2.27%
30.9.18 1.55% 1.93% 2.33% 2.74% 2.56%

Low 1.28% 1.67% 2.09% 2.50% 2.25%
Date 01/06/2018 29/05/2018 20/07/2018 20/07/2018 29/05/2018
High 1.57% 1.99% 2.43% 2.83% 2.64%
Date 17/04/2018 25/09/2018 25/04/2018 25/09/2018 25/09/2018

Average 1.46% 1.84% 2.25% 2.64% 2.41%

Page 122



15

6. Debt Rescheduling

Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic 
climate given the consequent structure of interest rates, and following the increase in 
the margin added to gilt yields which has impacted PWLB new borrowing rates since 
October 2010. No debt rescheduling has therefore been undertaken to date in the 
current financial year.

7. UK Banks – Ring Fencing

The largest UK banks, (those with more than £25bn of retail / Small and Medium-
sized Enterprise (SME) deposits), are required, by UK law, to separate core retail 
banking services from their investment and international banking activities by 1st 
January 2019. This is known as “ring-fencing”. Whilst smaller banks with less than 
£25bn in deposits are exempt, they can choose to opt up. Several banks are very 
close to the threshold already and so may come into scope in the future regardless.

Ring-fencing is a regulatory initiative created in response to the global financial crisis. 
It mandates the separation of retail and SME deposits from investment banking, in 
order to improve the resilience and resolvability of banks by changing their structure. 
In general, simpler activities offered from within a ring-fenced bank, (RFB), will be 
focused on lower risk, day-to-day core transactions, whilst more complex and “riskier” 
activities are required to be housed in a separate entity, a non-ring-fenced bank, 
(NRFB). This is intended to ensure that an entity’s core activities are not adversely 
affected by the acts or omissions of other members of its group.

While the structure of the banks included within this process may have changed, the 
fundamentals of credit assessment have not. The Council will continue to assess the 
new-formed entities in the same way that it does others and those with sufficiently 
high ratings, (and any other metrics considered), will be considered for investment 
purposes.

8. IFRS9 accounting standard 

This accounting standard came into effect from 1st April 2018.  It means that the 
category of investments valued under the available for sale category will be removed 
and any potential fluctuations in market valuations may impact onto the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services, rather than being held on the balance sheet.  
This change is unlikely to materially affect the commonly used types of treasury 
management investments but more specialist types of investments, (e.g. pooled 
funds, third party loans, commercial investments), are likely to be impacted.  

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), have 
recently conducted a consultation on allowing a temporary override to enable English 
local authorities time to adjust their portfolio of investments. The Government’s 
response to the consultation was published in November, and this confirms that they 
will introduce a mandatory statutory override requiring local authorities to reverse out 
all unrealised fair value movements resulting from pooled investment funds. This will 
be effective from financial year commencing 1 April 2018, and will apply for five 
years.

Page 123



16

9. Changes in risk appetite

The 2018 CIPFA Codes and guidance notes have placed enhanced importance on 
risk management.  Where an authority changes its risk appetite e.g. for moving 
surplus cash into or out of certain types of investment funds or other types of 
investment instruments, this change in risk appetite and policy should be brought to 
members’ attention in treasury management update reports. The Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement 2018/19 reported to Council in February 2018 set 
out the Council’s approach to investing in property funds, as part of the development 
of the Commercial Investment Strategy, and utilizing the capital receipt proceeds 
from the sale of the Golf Course. This approach was endorsed by Members, and 
since then we have invested £2m in Threadneedle Property Unit Trust and £1.8m in 
Schroders UK Real Estate Fund. There are no other such changes to report to 
Members.

REPORT AUTHOR

Please contact Stefan Garner, Executive Director Finance, extension 242, or Jo 
Goodfellow, Management Accountant, extension 241.

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS

Background Papers  - Local Government Act 2003

 CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management in Public Services 2017

 
Annual Report on the Treasury Management 
Service and Actual Prudential Indicators 2017/18 
–Council 11th September 2018

 
Treasury Management Strategy & Prudential 
Indicators Report 2018/19 - Council 27th  
February 2018

 
Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2018/19 - Council 27th
 February 2018

 Financial Healthcheck Period 6, September 2018

 CIPFA Treasury Management Benchmarking 
Club Report Quarter 2, September 2018

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1 Current Investment List

Page 124



17

APPENDIX 1
Investments held as at 30th September 2018:

Borrower Deposit      
£

Rate           
%

From To Notice

Lloyds Bank 1,000,000 0.90% 30-Nov-17 30-Nov-18

Lloyds Bank 1,000,000 0.90% 01-Dec-17 30-Nov-18 -

Bank of Scotland 2,000,000 0.85% 03-Jan-18 03-Jan-19 -

Bank of Scotland 2,000,000 0.85% 05-Jan-18 04-Jan-19 -

Lloyds Bank 1,000,000 0.80% 09-Feb-18 08-Feb-19 -

Bank of Scotland 2,000,000 0.85% 12-Feb-18 11-Feb-19 -

Lloyds Bank 2,000,000 0.90% 03-Apr-18 03-Apr-19 -

Lloyds Bank 2,000,000 0.90% 03-Apr-18 03-Apr-19 -

Barclays Bank 2,000,000 0.75% 05-Apr-18 05-Oct-18 -

Royal Bank of Scotland 2,004,563 0.87% 10-Apr-18 27-Nov-18 -

Barclays Bank 2,000,000 0.76% 10-Apr-18 10-Oct-18 -

Coventry BS 2,000,000 0.67% 25-May-18 26-Nov-18 -
National Westminster 
Bank plc 2,000,593 0.94% 29-Jun-18 28-Jun-19 -

National Westminster 
Bank plc 4,001,189 0.95% 05-Jul-18 05-Jul-19 -

Barclays Bank 3,000,000 0.81% 12-Sep-18 12-Mar-19 -

Coventry BS 2,000,000 0.79% 12-Sep-18 12-Mar-19 -

Guildford Council 4,000,000 0.85% 13-Sep-18 13-Mar-19 -

Goldman Sachs 10,000,000 0.67% - - 180 day

Santander 10,000,000 0.70% - - 180 day

MMF - Ignis 508,000 0.62%* - - On call

MMF – PSDF 10,000,000 0.69%* - - On call

Total 66.51 0.77 
(avg)

* Interest rate fluctuates daily dependant on the funds investment portfolio, rate quoted is approximate 7 day average.

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



1

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

28th March 2019

Report of the Executive Director Finance 

FINAL ACCOUNTS 2018/19 – ACTION PLAN

Purpose

To provide an outline of the corporate requirements that will need to be 
achieved in order to produce the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts for 
2018/19 (including deadlines but not including detailed responsibilities) and to 
obtain corporate commitment to the action plan.

Recommendations

That:

1. the target of 24th May 2019 for closure of the final accounts and 
production of a the statement for 2018/19 be approved;

2. staffing resources be committed to the provision of appropriate 
information and support in order to meet the published timescales 
and the Committee receive progress updates (if required); 

3. CMT receive a fortnightly update until completion of the audit; and

4. the Statement be presented to the Audit & Governance Committee 
on 25th July 2019.

  

Executive Summary

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, requires that the 2018/19 
Statement of Accounts be produced by 31st May 2019, and for them to be 
audited and approved before 31st July 2019. 

The  annual plans for the production of the statutory accounts for recent years 
has been reviewed so that the draft accounts have been produced before the 
deadline  of 31st May each year. The 2017/18 Statement of Accounts were 
prepared by 25th May 2018, with the final audited accounts approved by the 
Audit and Governance Committee on 26th July 2018.

The key issues affecting the achievement of these deadlines are detailed in 
Appendix A. The action plan identifies key processes and milestones in 
achieving the statutory requirement.

The way the Council prepares and reports its accounts (including professional 
reporting standards and statutory timetables) is a key element within the 
Councils’ External Auditor’s, (Grant Thornton - GT) assessment of the 
Councils performance within the Annual Audit Letter.  

Page 127

Agenda Item 7



2

The action plan is a key element in the process to deliver the Council’s final 
accounts in compliance with legislation and maintain a high quality standard. 

Key milestone dates will be regularly reviewed / monitored to achieve 
deadlines with material variances reported to CMT and Members (with 
proposed remedial actions). It is proposed that CMT receive an update, by 
exception, every 2 weeks until completion of the audit.

The information provided (detailed in Appendix B), although not 
comprehensive, highlights information that will need to be supplied in order to 
meet the deadline.  

Key milestones – Provisional Dates:

o Completion of the draft accounts by 24t  May 2019;

o Detailed management quality assurance review by 31st May 2019;

o Submission to Grant Thornton (and to Members) on or before 1st June 
2019;

o Report to Audit & Governance Committee on 25th July  2019;

o Latest publish date 31st July  2019;

Consideration and approval of this report is a key control and evidence of the 
Council’s plans for the closedown and production of its accounts in 
compliance with statutory requirements.

Legal and Risk Implications

There is a risk that if the Council is not sufficiently pro-active, the Council’s 
Statement of Accounts may not remain compliant with both the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounts and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) which would result in a potential delay or criticism over the 
production of the Accounts and potentially a qualified audit opinion. 

The following top level risks have been identified. The full details are 
contained within the covalent risk register. 

Risk 
No

Description of Risk Likelihood 
Impact 

Action Required to Manage Risk 

1 Further research reveals 
the new requirements of 
either the Code of 
Practice or IFRS to be 
more complex and time 
consuming than initially 
thought.

M H An early start, adequate research, 
adequate initial resources, 
sufficient resource/budget provision 
for contingencies 

Page 128



3

Risk 
No

Description of Risk Likelihood 
Impact 

Action Required to Manage Risk 

2 Incorrect interpretation 
of changes in either the 
Code of Practice or 
IFRS

M H Adequate training, sufficient 
resources. Ensure all reasons for 
actions, inclusions and exclusions, 
are fully documented and agreed 
with External Audit. 

3 Guidance by CIPFA 
changing possibly 
causing delays 

M H Regular review and rescheduling of 
project timetable 

4 Delay in receiving 
information from 
external parties / 
contractors

M H Ensure regular contact with all 
concerned and continually monitor 
completeness of the information 
provided 

5 Inadequate training L M Research available training, ensure 
all relevant staff attend, training 
budget to be adequate 

6 Failure to identify all 
leases 

L M Ensure staff understand exactly 
what is involved / process to outline 
the requirements 

7 Key staff leaving L M Ensure there are sufficient skills 
within the team to cover 

Resource and Value for Money Implications

There are no financial implications arising from this report.  

A significant amount of work will need to be undertaken during the period 
February through to 24th May to ensure completion of the Financial 
Statements by 31st May.  There is a high risk of this deadline not being 
achieved should insufficient resources be directed towards the achievement 
of this goal – deadline / key milestones will be closely monitored.

Report Author

Please contact Lynne Pugh, Assistant Director Finance  extension 272.

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015Background 
papers Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 

United Kingdom (2017/18) based on IFRS

Page 129



4

Appendix A

Key Issues in the Production of the Statement of Accounts
One of the main ways a Local Authority communicates its financial 
performance to local stakeholders and the wider community is through its 
published financial statements.

Between completion of the statement in May and the conclusion of the on-site 
audit in July, a substantial amount of work will be required liaising with the 
external auditors to ensure an unqualified audit report.

Following the completion of the 2017/18 audit the only amendments to the 
Statement of Accounts were minor and were only to enhance the disclosure 
notes – no change to the primary statements. 

To meet the necessary deadlines, the closure process for 2017/18 has been 
reviewed to identify any lessons to be learned for future years. 

The main issues affecting the closure of accounts for 2017/18 included: 

 the need for corporate ownership of the process;
 reliance on staff in Services and third parties who have other priorities;
 the need for key officers (lead by Corporate Finance) to focus on the 

achievement of critical deadlines, in the face of and in preference to other 
competing priorities;

 the need to check/validate creditor accruals (and avoid large numbers of 
reversals where evidence cannot be provided) – it would aid timely 
completion of the process if accruals were processed by Managers in 
compliance with laid down parameters (i.e. receipt of goods/services 
before 31st March);

Commitment will be required to ensure that appropriate time and 
staffing resources will be focussed on the achievement of the key tasks 
within all Services.

A planning meeting has already been held with the Audit Lead from Grant 
Thornton to discuss the draft timetable of the year end process (Appendix C) 
with further meetings arranged prior to the commencement of the onsite audit 
of the accounts to discuss progress to date.

A detailed year end timetable has been prepared (attached at Appendix B) 
and communicated; ensuring tasks are allocated, in the right sequence, to 
named individuals. The timetable will include a firm cut-off date for accruals 
and practical details, such as publication and committee deadlines. 

It is essential that there is a review at the end of closedown to highlight any 
lessons to be learned for next year. Equally vital is clear supporting 
documentation and an audit trail.  These will not only help in the current year 
audit process but will be a sound base for future years.

A risk management approach is essential when resources are limited.  The 
focus will be on known areas of risk based on past experience. A summary of 
issues from the 2017/18 closedown with material delays are detailed below.  

Page 130



5

An escalation process will be in place if it is evident that critical tasks are 
slipping – together with fortnightly updates to CMT. There is still some room 
for development to ensure an efficient closedown for 2018/19.

2017/18 - Significant Issues
Item Issue Proposed Solution / Action Already 

taken
Action

Manual 
Accruals

A reduced number from previous 
years but still several manual 
accruals were received after the 
deadline and/or following 
identification by Accountant (i.e. not 
identified proactively by budget 
managers) – improvement needed as 
any late or missed accruals could 
delay the process and create 
additional work

By 31/03/19, Managers will be asked to 
ensure that where goods/services have 
been received the majority of orders are 
‘goods receipted’ within e-financials, 
thereby generating ‘auto-accruals’ on 
01/04/19

The minimum level for manual accruals 
will be £5k (as set by Executive Director 
Finance). However, should material 
accruals have been missed (i.e. over 
£5k) then the Service Accountant must 
be advised and appropriate action taken

ALL

Related Party 
Transactions

Again - Delayed return of some 
signed statements.

Requirements for any remaining 
Members to be contacted in person at 
Council/Committee meetings - for sign 
off by 30/04/19 at the latest.

Head of Paid 
Service

External 
Valuations

Delays / incomplete information from 
external valuers

Terms of engagement have be re 
defined with regular meetings arranged 
so that any issues can be quickly 
identified and solutions found at an 
earlier stage

Finance and 
Assets

A flexible `teamwork' approach to make the most of scarce staff resources will 
be implemented, if necessary.  Agreed variations to the flexible working policy 
or overtime pay (under the discretion of the Executive Director Finance) to 
speed up the closure of accounts would be considered as well as the need to 
bring in contract staff.

System weaknesses can cause delays and frustrations and appropriate 
contingency support will be essential, should problems arise.

Procedures have been in place for a number of years to ensure that key 
reconciliations are performed on a monthly basis during the year and centrally 
managed suspense or bank control accounts are cleared regularly. A full 
review of all working papers has been carried out with key staff during the 
year in preparation for the 2018/19 closedown.

The continued requirement to prepare accounts under IFRS will require a well 
thought-out approach to the use of estimates and de minimus levels for year-
end accruals.  

The aim should be to provide appropriate information to enable the efficient 
closedown without the need to re-open the accounts for late / omitted items 
i.e. a ‘get it right first time’ approach. Managers should make every 
endeavour to include appropriate accruals, temporary reserves and retained 
funds and provide the required information in a timely manner.

Page 131



6

Knowing the previous year's outturn position earlier will help inform not only 
the current year's financial performance monitoring but the forthcoming year's 
budget strategy. 

It could also further boost confidence in the Council's financial management - 
the timeliness and accuracy of the financial statements and the supporting 
records form part of the auditor’s assessment within the Annual Audit Letter.

Page 132



7

Appendix B

CORPORATE REQUIREMENTSRef
FINAL ACCOUNTS 2018/19

LEAD 
OFFICER DEADLINE

1 Temporary Reserve / Retained Fund 
information  ALL 05/04/2019

2 Review all outstanding orders and delete where 
necessary

ALL 01/03/2019

3

All “goods receipts” should be on e-financials by 
31/03/19, with evidence held by the Service 
Managers, in order to ensure ‘auto-accruals’ are 
generated.  (It is recommended as many as 
possible done by 01/03/19)

ALL 31/03/2019

4
Deadline for approved manual accruals. (ie 
goods need to be received by 31/03/19.)  Refer 
to year end guidance

ALL 05/04/2019

5 Staff Holiday and Flexi Leave entitlement as at 
31/03/19

ALL 05/04/2019

6

Manual accruals to be kept to a minimum, with 
EDF approval/authorisation only.  The minimum 
level for manual accruals will be £5,000. 
(However, should material accruals have been 
missed (i.e. over £5,000) then the Service 
Management Accountant must be advised and 
appropriate action taken)

ALL 05/04/2019

7
Notify all stock holders of the need for 
stocktakes to be carried out at 31/03/19 and 
information returned to accountancy

ALL 05/04/2019

8
Petty Cash imprest reconciliation. A reminder of 
the need to complete returns at 31/03/19 will be 
issued

ALL 05/04/2019

9 IT stock purchases and disposals (hardware 
and software) information

ADP 05/04/2019

Bad debt information:   
e-financials Sundry Debtors and overpayments ADF 05/04/201910
Homelessness and Housing Rents ADN 05/04/2019

Draft by:
01/03/2019

Final Certified 
by:

11

Completion of asset acquisitions / disposals / 
revaluations / impairment and production of the 
asset register certified by qualified valuer ADA

01/04/2019

12

All reconciliations to be complete and returned 
to accountancy; debtors, benefit, 
HAA/mortgages, rent, car loans, rent allowance 
etc.  (monthly reconciliations should be 
completed during the year)

ALL 05/04/2019

13 HAA SOCH Mortgage principal repayment 
information 

ADF 05/04/2019

S151 05/04/2019
14

Related Party Transaction information.  
Requirement to be sent by 21/03/18 - Approach 
at Committee if delayed

HoPS  05/04/2019

15 Managers confirmation of continued existence 
and responsibility for assets

ALL 05/04/2019

16 Information for completion of DWP and Subsidy 
estimated claims from benefits

Head of 
Benefits 05/04/2019

Page 133



8

Ref CORPORATE REQUIREMENTS LEAD 
OFFICER DEADLINE

FINAL ACCOUNTS 2018/19

17
Improvement grant reconciliation

ADA 05/04/2019

18 Collection fund information (NNDR3) ADF 18/04/2019

19 IAS19 Pension information from SCC Pension 
Fund

SCC 18/04/2019

20 Review Code of Corporate Governance and 
prepare Annual Governance Statement 

Head of 
Internal 
Audit

18/04/2019

21 Review grant estimates (Benefits) / comparison 
to actual submissions

Head of 
Benefits 18/04/2019

22 Review potential post balance sheet events / 
impact on accounts

ALL Up to 31/07/19

Page 134



9

APPENDIX C
 Audit Planning Timetable 2018/19

 

 Date / Deadline Completion of:  

 24/01/2019 1st Interim Visit (5 days) – walkthrough and early 
testing  

11/02/2019 2nd Interim Visit (5 days) – walkthrough and early 
testing

 14/02/2019
Audit Planning Meeting / requirements (following 
changes to code, financial analysis, working papers 
& format, use of estimates etc) 

 

 Feb 2019 GT Workshop  

 28/03/2019 Audit Planning Meeting / requirements  

 28/03/2019 Opinion  / Informing the Audit Risk Assessment and 
Audit Plan to Audit & Governance Cttee  

 24/05/2019 Draft Statement preparation  
 1 weeks Quality assurance  
 31/05/2019 Submission of Accounts (to GT / Members)  
  

  High Level Audit Plan for 2018/19 Audit confirmed 
(for planning / management purposes)  

 Early June Engagement Lead review  

 27/05/2019 Off Site Audit Commences (prepare working papers / 
reconciliations / quality assurance process) (LG). 

 

 Weekly Meetings with Audit Manager (including 
emerging Governance report issues) - issues to date 
documented in one logical list i.e. no repeated 
issues

 
28/06/2019 On Site Audit Concludes (the statement will be 

changed, as necessary, as the audit proceeds) - 
Weekly Meeting with Audit Manager (LG)

 
Weekly Draft list of audit amendments / issues received 

(subject to Engagement Lead review)

Accountants / 
Key Officers 
to be 
available for 
Auditor 
questions by 
appointment
 

 
28/06/2019 Final list of audit amendments / issues received 

(after Engagement Lead review)  

 
By 28/06/2019 Close out meeting (with Engagement Lead 

review)  

 11/07/2019 Amended Statement of Accounts prepared  
 11/07/2019 Audit Findings Report received  
 16/07/2019 Audit Report to be circulated via Modgov  

 25/07/2019 Audit Findings Report to Audit & Governance 
Committee / Sign Off  

 31/07/2019 Publish at latest  

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

THURSDAY, 28 MARCH 2019

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF AUDIT & GOVERNANCE

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER & PLAN 2019/20

EXEMPT INFORMATION

None

PURPOSE

To advise Members of the Internal Audit Charter and Plan for 2019-20, and to provide 
members with assurance on the appropriate operation of Internal Audit.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that:

1. The Committee endorses the attached Internal Audit and Plan 2019-20 and raises 
any issues it deems appropriate. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Internal Auditing is an independent, objective, assurance and consulting activity designed to 
add value and improve an organisation’s operations.  It helps an organisation accomplish its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes (IIA – UK & Ireland).

The consideration and approval of an appropriate Internal Audit Charter and Plan by 
Members is an important element in providing assurance to the organisation that adequate 
arrangements are in place to provide the expected independent, objective opinion.  The 
Charter complies with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) which came into 
effect on 1st April 2013.  

In accordance with good practice, the Head of Audit & Governance has consulted members 
of Corporate Management Team, to ensure current and proposed developments/projects 
and risks are identified, and have built these into an evaluation of the priority of the different 
potential areas for audit review.  This evaluation results in an Audit work plan for the financial 
year which constitutes the main operational delivery of the Internal Audit Service.  The Audit 
Plan is attached at Appendix B.   The Internal Audit Charter sets out how the service 
proposes to meet statutory and professional requirements and how the service will be 
delivered.  The Charter is attached at Appendix A.

Page 137

Agenda Item 8



Members will recall that the Committee’s Terms of Reference include the function “to receive, 
but not direct, internal audit’s plan”.  This report aims to provide members of the Committee 
with such an opportunity.  

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

None

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND

If a thorough risk-assessed, adequately-resourced audit plan is not in place the Authority will 
fail to comply with statutory requirements and will not be able to provide the appropriate 
assurance on the internal control environment.   Internal Audit has reviewed the risks to the 
effective delivery of its functions and has in place appropriate steps to ensure delivery. 

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

None

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

None

BACKGROUND INFORMATION  

None

REPORT AUTHOR

Angela Struthers ext 234

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
None

APPENDICES

Appendix A – Internal Audit Charter
Appendix B – Internal Audit Plan 2019-20

Page 138



Appendix A 

 

This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

 
 - 1 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 

 
 
 
 

Document Status: FinalDraft 

 

 
 

Originator: A Struthers 
 

Updated: A Struthers 
 

Owner: A Struthers 
 

Version: 01.01.087 
 

Date: 07/06/1805/03/19 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 139



Appendix A 

 

This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

 
 - 2 - 

 
Document Location 
 
This document is held by Tamworth Borough Council, and the document 
owner is Angela Struthers. 
 
Printed documents may be obsolete. An electronic copy will be available on 
Tamworth Borough Councils Intranet. Please check for current version before 
using.   
  
 

 
Revision History 
Revision Date Version Control Summary of changes 

25/01/13 1.01.01 1st draft 

05/03/14 1.01.02 Review 

04/03/15 1.01.03 Annual review 

20/11/15 1.01.04 Review 

08/03/17 1.01.05 Review 

13/03/18 1.01.06 Review 

7/6/18 1.01.07 Roles & responsibilities 
following management 
restructure 

05/03/19 1.01.08 Annual review 

 
 

 

Approvals 
Name Title  Date 

Audit & 
Governance 
Committee 

Committee Approval   

Andrew Barratt Chief Executive Yes  

Angela Struthers Head of Audit & 
Governance 

Yes  

 
 
 

Document Review Plans 
 
This document is subject to a scheduled annual review. Updates shall be 
made in accordance with business requirements and changes and will be with 
agreement with the document owner. 
 
 

Distribution 
 
The document will be available on the Intranet and the website. 

Page 140



Appendix A 

 

This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

 
 - 3 - 

 
 
 

 
 

CONTENTS PAGE 

 
 

               Page 

 

1 Definition of Internal Auditing        4 

2 Mission Statement of Internal Audit       4 

3 Purpose and Statutory requirements       4 

4 Objectives           5 

5 Role and Scope of Work         6 

6 Proficiency and Due Professional Care       7 

7 Authority           8 

8 Organisation           8 

9 Independence and Objectivity        8 

10 Internal Audit Plan          9 

11 Report and Monitoring       10 

12 Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme   10 

Page 141



Appendix A 

 

This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

 
 - 4 - 

 
1 Definition of Internal Auditing 
 
Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting 
activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations.  It 
helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, 
disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control and governance processes.  (IIA – UK & Ireland) 
 
The internal audit service will comply with the Public Sector Internal Auditing 
Standards (PSIAS) as adopted by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA).   The PSIAS encompass the mandatory elements 
of the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) International Professional Practices 
Framework (IPPF) as follows: 
 

 Definition of Internal Auditing; 

 Code of Ethics; and 

 International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing (including interpretations and glossary). 

 
The mandatory core principles for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing are: 

 Demonstrate integrity 
 Demonstrate competence and due professional care 
 Is objective and free from undue influence (independent) 
 Aligns with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the organisation 
 Is appropriately positioned and adequately resourced 
 Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement 
 Communicates effectively 
 Provides risk based assurance 
 Is insightful, proactive, and future-focused 
 Promotes organisational improvement 

 
This Charter will be periodically reviewed in consultation with Corporate 
Management Teamthe Chief Executive and the Audit & Governance 
Committee.  Changes to the International Professional Practice Framework 
will be incorporated as and when they occur.   
 
 
The Head of Audit & Governance will report conformance to the PSIAS in the 
annual report to the Audit & Governance Committee. 
 
2 Mission Statement of Internal Audit 
 
To enhance and protect the authority’s values by providing risk-based and 
objective assurance, advice and insight.   
 
3 Purpose and Statutory Requirements 
 

Page 142



Appendix A 

 

This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

 
 - 5 - 

The internal audit activity will evaluate and contribute to the improvement of 
governance, risk management and control processes using a systematic and 
disciplined approach.   
The internal audit activity must assess and make appropriate 
recommendations for improving the governance process in its 
accomplishment of the following objectives: 

 Promoting appropriate ethics and values within the organisation; 

 Ensuring effective organisational performance management and 
accountability; 

 Communicating risk and control information to appropriate areas of 
the organisation; and 

 Coordinating the activities of and communicating information 
amongst the Audit & Governance Committee, external and internal 
auditors and management.   

 
In addition, the other objectives of the function are to: 
 

 Support the Executive Director Finance to discharge their s151 
duties of the Local Government Finance Act 1972 by maintaining an 
adequate and effective Internal Audit service; 

 Contribute to and support the Authority’s objectives of ensuring the 
provision of and promoting the need for, sound financial systems; 
and  

 Investigate allegations of fraud or irregularity to help safeguard 
public funds. 

 
Internal Audit is a statutory service in the context of the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 which state in respect of Internal Audit that: 
 
“A relevant authority must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes, 
taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance.” 
 
The work of Internal Audit forms part of the assurance framework, however, 
the existence of Internal Audit does not diminish the responsibility of 
management to establish systems of internal control to ensure that activities 
are conducted in a secure, efficient and well-ordered manner.   
 
 
 
 
4 Objectives 
 
The Head of Audit & Governance’s responsibility is to report to the Audit & 
Governance Committee on its assessment of the adequacy of the entire 
control environment.  
 
It does this by: 
 

Page 143



Appendix A 

 

This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

 
 - 6 - 

 Providing assurance, which is risk based and objective and relevant 
(Internal Audit’s primary role) to the Council and its management on 
the quality of the Council’s operations, whether delivered internally or 
externally, with particular emphasis on systems of risk management, 
control and governance.  Assurance to third parties will be provided 
where specific internal audit resources are allocated to the area under 
review (e.g. pension contributions).   

 Providing consultancy services to internal and external delivered 
services. Consultancy services are advisory and insightful in nature 
and will be performed at the specific request of the organisation with 
the aim to improve governance, risk management and control. 

 
5 Role and Scope of Work 
 
The scope on internal auditing encompasses, but is not limited to, the 
examination and evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
organisation’s risk management, control and governance processes as well 
as the quality of performance in carrying out assigned responsibilities to 
achieve the organisation’s stated goals and objectives.  This includes: 
 

 Evaluating the reliability and integrity of management and financial 
information processes and the means used to identify, measure, 
classify, and report such information; 

 Evaluating the systems established to ensure compliance with those 
policies, plans, procedures, laws, and regulations which could have a 
significant impact on the organisation;   

 Evaluating the means of safeguarding assets and, as appropriate, 
verifying the existence of such assets; 

 Evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency with which resources are 
employed; 

 Evaluating operations or programs to ascertain whether results are 
consistent with established objectives and goals and whether the 
operations or programs are being carried out as planned; 

 Evaluating the potential occurrence for fraud as part of the audit 
engagements; 

 Monitoring and evaluating governance processes; 

 Monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of the organisation’s risk 
management processes; 

 Monitoring the degree of coordination of internal audit and external 
audit; 

 Performing consulting and advisory services related to governance, 
risk management and control as appropriate for the organisation; 

 Reporting periodically on the internal audit activity’s purpose, 
authority, responsibility, and performance relative to its plan; 

 Reporting significant risk exposures and control issues, including 
fraud risks, governance issues, and other matters to the Board;  

Page 144



Appendix A 

 

This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

 
 - 7 - 

 Evaluating specific operations at the request of management, as 
appropriate; 

 Support management upon the design of controls at appropriate 
points in the development of major change programmes. 

 
 
 
 
6 Proficiency and Due Professional Care 
 
The internal audit activity will govern itself by adherence to The Institute of 
Internal Auditors mandatory guidance including the Definition of Internal 
Auditing, the Code of Ethics, and the Core Principles of the Internal Standards 
for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.  This mandatory guidance 
constitutes principles of the fundamental requirements for the professional 
practice of internal auditing and for evaluating the effectiveness of the internal 
audit activity’s performance.   
 
The Institute of Internal Auditors’ Practice Advisories, Practice Guides, and 
Position Papers will also be adhered to as applicable to guide operations.  In 
addition, the internal audit activity will adhere to Tamworth Borough Council’s 
relevant policies and procedures and the internal audit activity’s standard 
operating procedures manual. 
 
Job descriptions and person specifications for each post within Internal Audit 
Services define the appropriate knowledge, skills and experience and are 
reviewed periodically.   
 
Personal Development Reviews will be completed in accordance with the 
Council’s policy.  Staff will be supported to fulfil training and development 
needs identified in order to support their continuous professional development 
programme. 
 
Internal Auditors will exercise due professional care by considering the: 

 Extent of work needed to achieve the engagement’s objectives with 
detailed Terms of Reference (including consultancy engagements); 

 Relative complexity, materiality or significance of matters to which 
assurance procedures are applied; 

 Adequacy and effectiveness of governance, risk management and 
control processes; 

 Probability of significant errors, fraud, or non-compliance; and 

 Cost of assurance in relation to potential benefits.   
 
Where gaps exist in knowledge and skills in the formation delivery of internal 
audit plans, the CAE Head of Audit & Governance can engage specialist 
providers of Internal Audit Services.   
 
Internal Audit staff will be suitably supervised and work will be reviewed by a 
senior member of staff.   

Page 145



Appendix A 

 

This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

 
 - 8 - 

 
7 Authority 
 
The Internal Audit service, with strict accountability for confidentiality and 
safeguarding records and information, is authorised full, free, and unrestricted 
access to any and all of Tamworth Borough Council’s records, physical 
properties, and personnel pertinent to carrying out any engagement.  All 
employees are requested to assist the internal audit service in fulfilling its 
roles and responsibilities.   
 
8 Organisation 
 
The Head of Audit & Governance will report functionally to the Audit & 
Governance Committee and administratively (i.e. day to day operations) to the 
Chief Executive.   
 
The Board Audit & Governance Committee will receive performance reports 
on the internal audit function on a quarterly basis.   
 
9 Independence and Objectivity 
 
The service is managed by the Head of Audit & Governance who is 
professionally qualified as required by the PSIAS.  The Head of Audit & 
Governance has a direct reporting line to the Chief Executive and also 
provides regular reports to the Audit & Governance Committee which has 
responsibility for overseeing audit arrangements.   
 
The Head of Audit & Governance is also the Authority’s Monitoring Officer and 
Deputy Returning Officer.  She also manages the Elections and Counter 
Fraud functions.  For any audits of these functions, the pre audit brief and the 
draft report will be issued to the Chief Executive at the same time as the Head 
of Audit & Governance to ensure independence and objectivity is maintained.   
 
The internal audit service will remain free from interference by any element in 
the organisation, including matters of audit selection, scope, procedures, 
frequency, timing, or reporting content to permit maintenance of a necessary 
independent and objective mental attitude.   
 
Internal auditors must exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in 
gathering, evaluating, and communicating information about the activity or 
process being examined.  Internal auditors must make a balanced 
assessment of all the relevant circumstances and not be unduly influenced by 
their own interests or by others in forming judgements. 
 
Regular review of the placement/location of IA team members will be 
completed to ensure independence, taking into account the consultancy work 
individual internal auditors have performed when completing assurance 
engagements. Internal auditors will not provide assurance in areas where they 
have been involved in advising management.  
 

Page 146



Appendix A 

 

This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

 
 - 9 - 

The internal audit service will also have free and unrestricted access to the 
Chief Executive and the Audit & Governance Committee.   
 
The Head of Audit & Governance will confirm to the Audit & Governance 
Committee, at least annually, the organisational independence of the internal 
audit activity.  
 
10 Internal Audit Plan 
 
At least annually, the Head of Audit & Governance will submit to Corporate 
Management TeamExecutive Leadership Team and the Audit & Governance 
Committee an internal audit plan for review and approval.   
 
The internal audit plan will be developed based on prioritisation of the audit 
universe using a risk-based methodology, which takes into account, results 
from previous audits, stakeholders expectations, feed back from Senior 
Managers, objectives in strategic plans and business plans, the risk maturity 
of the organisation (including managements response to risk), and legal & 
regulatory requirements.  The use of other sources of assurance and the work 
required to place reliance on them will be highlighted in the audit plan.   
 
Contingency time will be built in to the annual audit plan to allow for any 
unplanned work.  This will be reported on in accordance with the internal 
reporting process to the Audit & Governance Committee.   
 
Approval will be sought from the Audit & Governance Committee for any 
significant additional consulting services not already included in the audit plan, 
prior to accepting the engagement.  The Audit Plan balances the following 
requirements: 

 the need to ensure the Audit Plan is completed to a good practice 
level (currently at least 90% of planned audits required are 
deliverable in the year); 

 the need to ensure core financial systems are adequately reviewed to 
provide assurance that management has in place proper 
arrangements for financial control; 

 the need to appropriately review other strategic and operational 
arrangements, taking account of changes in the authority and its 
services and the risks requiring audit review; 

 the need to have uncommitted time available to deal with unplanned 
issues which may need to be investigated eg allegations of financial 
or other relevant irregularities, or indeed specific consultancy. (NB 
there are separate guidelines over circumstances in which Internal 
Audit may and may not get involved in such investigations or 
consultancy, and further reference to this is made within the 
corporate Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy and guidance); 

 to enable positive timely input to assist corporate and service 
developments. 

Page 147



Appendix A 

 

This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

 
 - 10 - 

 
A joint working arrangement with External Audit will be sought such that 
Internal Audit resources are used as effectively as possible. 
 
11 Reporting and Monitoring 
 
A written report will be prepared and issued by the Head of Audit & 
Governance following the conclusion of each internal audit engagement and 
will be distributed as appropriate with executive briefing reports issued to the 
Chief Executive and the, Chief Finance Officer, and Executive Director 
Organisation( for her areas of responsibility).  .  A summary of the internal 
audit results will be communicated to the Audit & Governance Committee.   
 
The final internal audit report will include management’s response and 
corrective actions in regard to the specific findings and recommendations.  It 
will also include a timetable for anticipated completion of action to be taken.   
 
The Internal Audit service will be responsible for following up the 
recommendations made to ensure that management have implemented them 
in the agreed timescales.  This will be completed within six months from the 
finalisation of the audit.  An additional implementation review will be carried 
out where high priority recommendations remain outstanding or a significant 
number of recommendations remain outstanding.  Internal Audit will not 
complete any additional implementation reviews on recommendations that 
remain outstanding at this stage.  It is management’s responsibility to ensure 
that the agreed actions are implemented.  All outstanding recommendations 
will remain open on the Pentana system for management to complete. 
 
Results of implementation reviews will be communicated as appropriate with 
copies to the Chief Executive and the, Chief Finance Officer, and Chief 
Executive.  A summary of the results will be reported to the Audit & 
Governance Committee.   
 
Where significant risk exposures and control issues, including fraud and 
governance issues, are identified, they will be reported to the Audit & 
Governance Committee.   
 
12 Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
 
The Internal Audit activity will maintain a quality assurance and improvement 
programme that covers all aspects on the Internal Audit activity.  The 
programme will include an evaluation of the internal audit activity’s 
conformance with the Definition of Internal Auditing and the International 
Standards and an evaluation of whether internal auditors apply the Code of 
Ethics.  The programme also assesses the efficiency and effectiveness of the 
internal audit activity and identifies opportunities for improvement.   
 
The Head of Audit & Governance will periodically report to the Audit & 
Governance Committee on the internal audit service purpose, authority, and 
responsibility, as well as performance relative to its plan.  Reporting will also 

Page 148



Appendix A 

 

This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

 
 - 11 - 

include significant risk exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, 
governance issues, and other matters needed or requested by Corporate 
Management TeamExecutive Leadership Team and the Audit & Governance 
Committee.   
 
In addition, the Head of Audit & Governance will communicate to Corporate 
ManagementExecutive Leadership Team and the Audit & Governance 
Committee on the internal audit service’s quality assurance and improvement 
programme, including results of ongoing internal assessments and 
improvement plans and external assessments.  External assessments will be 
conducted at least every five years by a professionally qualified and 
experienced assessor.   
 
The improvement plan resulting from the internal and external assessments 
will be reported to and monitored by the Audit & Governance Committee.   
 
 

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B

INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN - 2019/20

AREA OR SUBJECT OF REVIEW
Risk 
Rating Audit type days allocated

KEY FINANCIAL SYSTEMS

COUNCIL TAX Medium Key Financial System - full 12
NNDR Medium Key Financial System - full 12
PAYROLL Medium Key Financial System - full 12
BANK REC & CASH Medium Key Financial System - full 12
HOUSING RENTS Medium Key Financial System - full 12

CAPITAL CONTRACTS High
Key Financial System - annual 
testing 12

HOUSING RESPONSIVE REPAIRS High
Key Financial System - annual 
testing 20 92

STRATEGIC & OPERATIONAL RISKS

Organisation transformation Medium System based review 10

Community safety Medium Risk based review 10
Outdoor events Medium Risk based review 8
Community leisure Medium Risk based review 8
Business Continuity Medium Systems based review 12
Income Management Medium Systems based review 10
Project Management High Risk based review 10
Customer Services Risk based review 8
Corporate Policy Management Systems based review 10

86

P
age 151



Appendix B

ICT AUDIT REVIEWS
I Trent application review Medium IT Audit 7
Cyber Resilience High IT Audit 5
M3 application review Medium IT Audit 8

20

CONSULTANCY 5

5

IMPLEMENTATION REVIEWS 30

30

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE & ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT HIGH Assurance work 13
ANNUAL AUDIT OPINION HIGH Assurance work 3
ANNUAL AUDIT PLANNING & REVIEW HIGH Assurance work 6
INTERNAL AUDIT QUALITY ASSURANCE & IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAMME HIGH Assurance work 8
REVIEW OF FINANCIAL GUIDANCE HIGH Assurance work 2

32

REVIEW WORK COMPLETED ON BEHALF OF STAFFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS MEDIUM SUBSTANTIVE TESTING 7
DFG MEDIUM SUBSTANTIVE TESTING 5
MUNICIPAL CHARITIES MEDIUM PRODUCTION OF ACCOUNTS 2 14

P
age 152



Appendix B

CORPORATE SUPPORT

GOVERNANCE TRAINING 5
AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE SUPPORT 15
EXTERNAL AUDIT LIAISON 2
CONTINGENCY 17 39

TOTAL AUDIT DAYS 318

318

Approvals
Name  Signature Date
Audit & Governance Committee - Chair    
Chief Executive    
Head of Audit & Governance    

P
age 153



T
his page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

THURSDAY, 28 MARCH 2019

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF AUDIT & GOVERNANCE

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE SELF ASSESSMENT

EXEMPT INFORMATION
None

PURPOSE
To complete a self-assessment of good practice for the Audit & Governance Committee and 
produce an improvement action plan if required.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that:

1 Members of the Committee complete the self-assessment checklist at 
Appendix A in order to formulate an improvement plan if required.  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
CIPFA have published guidance on the function and operation of audit committees in local 
authorities and police bodies and this represents good practice for audit committees.  The 
guidance was updated in 2018 and incorporates CIPFA’s Position Statement: Audit 
Committees in Local Authorities and Police (2018) (the Position Statement), which sets out 
CIPFA’s views on the role and functions of an audit committee.  

The Position Statement emphasises the importance of audit committees being in place in all 
principal local authorities and it also recognises that audit committees are a key component 
of governance.  Audit Committees are an important source of assurance about an 
organisation’s arrangements for managing risk, maintaining an effective control environment 
and reporting on financial and other performance.  

Audit committees in local authorities are necessary to satisfy the wider requirements for 
sound financial management and internal control.  In England, the Accounts & Audit 
(England) Regulations 2015 state that a local authority is responsible “for a sound system on 
internal control which facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the achievement of 
its aims and objectives; ensures that the financial and operational management of the 
authority is effective and includes effective arrangement for the management of risk”.  In 
addition, Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires every local authority to 
“make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs”.  

Page 155

Agenda Item 9



The CIPFA guidance provides a template for a self-assessment of good practice for audit 
committees to complete.  The self-assessment can be found at Appendix A.  Where an audit 
committee has a high degree of performance against good practice principles, then it is an 
indicator that the committee is soundly based and has in place a knowledgeable 
membership.  This self-assessment can also be used to support the planning of the audit 
committee work programme and training programme.  The completion of the self-
assessment also feeds into the Annual Governance Statement as a source of assurance 
over the governance arrangements.  

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

None

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND

None

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

None

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

None

BACKGROUND INFORMATION  

None

REPORT AUTHOR

Angela Struthers ext 234

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS

None

APPENDICES

Appendix A – Self-assessment of good practice for audit committees

Page 156



Appendix A
Self-assessment of good practice for audit committees

Good Practice Questions Yes/No/Partly
Audit Committee purpose & governance

1. Does the authority have a dedicated audit committee?
2. Does the audit committee report directly to full council? 
3. Do the terms of reference clearly set out the purpose of the 

committee in accordance with CIPFA’s Position Statement?
4. Is the role and purpose of the audit committee understood 

and accepted across the authority?
5. Does the audit committee provide support to the authority in 

meeting the requirements of good governance?
6. Are the arrangements to hold the committee to account for 

its performance operating satisfactory?
Functions of the committee

7 Do the committee’s terms of reference explicitly address all 
the core areas identified in CIPFA’s Position Statement?
- Good governance
- assurance framework, include ng partnerships and 

collaboration arrangements
- internal audit
- external audit
- financial reporting
- risk management
- value for money or best value
- counter fraud & corruption
- supporting the ethical framework

8 Is an annual evaluation undertaken to assess whether the 
committee is fulfilling its terms of reference and that 
adequate consideration has been given to all core areas?

9 Has the audit committee considered the wider areas 
identified in CIPFA’s Position Statement and whether it would 
be appropriate for the committee to undertake them?
- Considering governance, risk & control matters at the 

request of other committees or statutory officers.
- Working with local standards & ethics committees to 

support ethical values.
- Reviewing and monitoring treasury management 

arrangements in accordance with the Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice & 
Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes (CIPFA 2017)

- Providing oversight of other public reports, such as the 
annual report.

10 Where coverage of core areas has been found to be limited, 
are plans in to address this?

11 Has the committee maintained its advisory role by not taking 

Page 157



on any decision-making powers that are not in line with its 
core purpose?

Membership and support
12 Has an effective audit committee structure and composition 

of the committee been selected?
This should include:
- Separation from the executive
- An appropriate mix of knowledge and skills among the 

membership
- A size of committee that is not unwieldy
- Consideration has been given to the inclusion of at least 

one independent member
13 Have independent members appointed to the committee 

been recruited in an open and transparent way and approved 
by the full council?

14 Does the chair of the committee have appropriate knowledge 
and skills?

15 Are arrangements in place to support the committee with 
briefings and training?

16 Has the membership of the committee been assessed against 
the core knowledge and skills framework and found to be 
satisfactory?

17 Does the committee have good working relations with key 
people and organisations, including external audit, internal 
audit and the Chief Finance Officer?

18 Is adequate secretariat and administrative support to the 
committee provided?

Effectiveness of the committee
19 Has the committee obtained feedback on its performance 

from those interacting with the committee or relying on its 
work?

20 Are meetings effective with a good level of discussion and 
engagement from all the members?

21 Does the committee engage with a wider range of leaders 
and managers, including discussion of audit findings, risk and 
action plans with the responsible officers?

22 Does the committee make recommendations for the 
improvement of governance, risk and control and are these 
acted on?

23 Has the committee evaluated whether and how it is adding 
value to the organisation?

24 Does the committee have an action plan to improve any 
areas of weakness?

25 Does the committee publish an annual report for its 
performance and explain its work?

Page 158



PLANNED REPORTS TO AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 2018 - 2019

Report Committee Date Report Of Comments

1 Role of the Audit Committee June Grant Thornton Presentation/training

2 Audit and Governance Committee Update June Grant Thornton

3 Fee Letter June Grant Thornton

4 Review of the Constitution and Scheme of 
Delegation for Officers

June  Head of Audit & 
Governance

5 RIPA Quarterly Report June  Assistant Director - 
Partnerships

6 Members/Standards x 2 June   Head of Audit & 
Governance

7 Internal Audit Customer Satisfaction Survey June Head of Audit & Governance

8 Internal Audit Annual and Quarterly Update June Head of Audit & Governance

9 Public Sector Internal Audit Standards/Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme

June Head of Audit & Governance

10 Financial Guidance June Head of Audit & Governance

P
age 159

A
genda Item

 10



11 Annual Governance Statement and Code of 
Corporate Governance

June Head of Audit & Governance

1 Audit Findings Report July Grant Thornton

2 Management Representation Letter July Grant Thornton

3 Annual Statement of Accounts July Executive Director Finance

4 RIPA Quarterly Report July Assistant Director - 
Partnerships

5 Risk Management Quarterly Update July Assistant Director – Finance 

6 Counter and Corruption Fraud Update July Head of Audit & Governance

7 Internal Audit Quarterly Update July Head of Audit & Governance 

8 Internal Audit Charter July Head of Audit & Governance

1 Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual 
Review and Report 2017/18

October  Assistant Director - People

2 RIPA Quarterly Update October Assistant Director - 
Partnerships

P
age 160



3 Internal Audit Quarterly Update October Head of Audit & Governance

4 Risk Management Quarterly Update October Assistant Director – Finance  

5 Annual Treasury Outturn October Executive Director Finance

6 Counter Fraud Update October
Head of Audit & Governance

1 Audit Report on Certification Work February Grant Thornton

2 Audit Plan February Grant Thornton

3 RIPA Quarterly Report February Assistant Director – 
Partnerships 

4 Internal Audit Quarterly Update February Head of Audit & Governance

5 Risk Management Quarterly Update February Assistant Director – Finance  

1 Audit Committee Update March Grant Thornton

2 Informing the Audit Risk Assessment March Grant Thornton

3 Review of the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 

March Executive Director Finance

P
age 161



The Portfolio Holder for Assets and Finance

Statement and Annual Investment Statement 
and the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 
Mid-Year Review Report

4 Final Accounts – Action Plan March Assistant Director of Finance

5 Risk Based Verification March Assistant Director of Finance

6 Internal Audit Charter and Audit Plan March Head of Audit & Governance

7 Audit and Governance Committee Self-
Assessment

March Head of Audit & Governance

P
age 162



Document is Restricted

Page 163

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 175

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 181

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update
	5 Informing the Audit Risk Assessment
	6 Review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Statement 2019/20 and the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-Year Review Report 2018/19
	Appendix A Review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Statement 2019/20 and the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-Year Review Report 2
	Appendix B Review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Statement 2019/20 and the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-Year Review Report 2

	7 Final Accounts 2018/19 - Action Plan
	8 Internal Audit Charter & Plan 2019/20
	Appendix 1 Internal Audit Charter & Plan 2019/20
	Appendix 2 Internal Audit Charter & Plan 2019/20

	9 Audit & Governance Committee Self Assessment
	Appendix 1 Audit & Governance Committee Self Assessment

	10 Audit and Governance Committee Timetable
	12 Risk Based Verification
	Annex 1 2019/20 Risk Based Verification Policy
	Annex 2 Subsidy Circular S11/2011
	Annex 3 Equalities Impact Assessment


